OCULAR MELANOMA

Insights into genetics, inheritance and testing

Natasha Maria van Poppelen

ISBN: 978-94-6458-803-3

Printing: Ridderprint, www.ridderprint.nl Cover design & lay out: Tara Schollema, persoonlijkproefschrift.nl

The research described in this thesis was conducted at the Department of Ophthalmology and the Department of Clinical Genetics, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands and was financially supported by KWF Dutch Cancer Society.

Financial support by the Erasmus University Rotterdam, Stichting Blindenhulp, Oculenti, Bayer, Ergra Low Vison/Revoir Academy, Laméris, Landelijke Stichting voor Blinden en Slechtzienden, Rockmed Pharma BV, Rotterdamse Blindenbelangen, Santen SA and Théa Pharma BV for publication of this thesis is gratefully acknowledged.

© N.M. van Poppelen, 2022

All rights reserved. No part of this thesis may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, without permission of the author or, when appropriate, of the publishers of the publication. Ocular Melanoma

Insights into genetics, inheritance and testing

Het oogmelanoom

Inzichten in genetica, erfelijkheid en testen

Proefschrift

Ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam op gezag van de rector magnificus

Prof.dr. A.L. Bredenoord

en volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties.

De openbare verdediging zal plaatsvinden op dinsdag 17 januari 2023 om 15.30 uur

door

Natasha van Poppelen

geboren te Woerden

Ezafung

Erasmus University Rotterdam

Promotiecommissie

Promotor:	Dr. J.E.M.M. de Klein
Overige leden:	Prof.dr. A.M. Joussen Prof.dr. J.R. Vingerling Dr. A. Wagner
Copromotoren:	Dr. E. Kiliç Dr. N.C. Naus

Voor mijn opa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cha	pter 1 Introduction	9
1.1	General introduction	11
1.2	Scope of this thesis	39
Cha	pter 2 Genetics of ocular melanoma	43
2.1	Genetic background of iris melanoma and iris melanocytic tumors of uncertain malignant potential	45
2.2	Molecular genetics of conjunctival melanoma and prognostic value of <i>TERT</i> promoter mutation analysis	67
2.3	Chromosomal rearrangements in uveal melanoma: chromothripsis	87
2.4	<i>SRSF2</i> mutations in uveal melanoma: a preference for in-frame deletions?	99
Cha	pter 3 Inheritance of uveal melanoma	111
3.1	Germline BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma	113
3.2	The pediatric choroidal and ciliary body melanoma genetical study	117
	A survey by the European Ophthalmic Oncology Group	
Cha	pter 4 Testing of uveal melanoma	133
4	Combined mutation and copy-number variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma	135
Cha	pter 5 General discussion and summary	155
5.1	General discussion	157
5.2	Summary	171
5.2	Samenvatting	175
Cha	pter 6 Epilogue	179
6.1	List of abbreviations	181
6.2	List of publications	185
6.3	About the author	189
6.4	PhD Portfolio	191
6.5	Acknowledgements	197

Chapter 1

Introduction

Chapter 1.1

General introduction

Genetics of ocular melanoma: insights into genetics, inheritance and testing

N.M. van Poppelen, D. P. de Bruyn, T. Bicer, R.M. Verdijk, N. Naus, H. Mensink, D. Paridaens, A. de Klein, E. Brosens and E. Kiliç Int J Mol Sci. 2020 Dec 30;22(1):336. doi: 10.3390/ijms22010336

ABSTRACT

Ocular melanoma consists of posterior uveal melanoma, iris melanoma and conjunctival melanoma. These malignancies derive from melanocytes in the uveal tract or conjunctiva. The genetic profiles of these different entities differ from each other. In uveal melanoma, GNAQ and GNA11 gene mutations are frequently found and prognosis is based on mutation status of BAP1, SF3B1 and EIF1AX genes. Iris melanoma, also originating from the uvea, has similarities to the genetic makeups of both posterior uveal melanoma (UM) and conjunctival melanoma since mutations in GNAO and GNA11 are less common and genes involved in conjunctival melanoma such as BRAF have been described. The genetic spectrum of conjunctival melanoma, however, includes frequent mutations in the BRAF, NRAS and TERT promoter genes, which are found in cutaneous melanoma as well. The BRAF status of the tumor is not correlated to prognosis, whereas the TERT promoter gene mutations are. Clinical presentation, histopathological characteristics and copy number alterations are associated with survival in ocular melanoma. Tissue material is needed to classify ocular melanoma in the different subgroups, which creates a need for the use of noninvasive techniques to prognosticate patients who underwent eye preserving treatment.

INTRODUCTION

The first known description of uveal melanoma (UM), a specific form of ocular melanoma, dates from 1868, described by the German ophthalmologist and otolaryngologist Hermann Knapp.¹ Various subtypes based on cell type and pigmentation among other characteristics were later described in 1882 by Austrian ophthalmologist Ernst Fuchs. He also stated that enucleation was the treatment of choice, a treatment that is still used currently.² UM was a rare disease in that century; it still is, but the incidence is rising.³⁻⁵

Currently, ocular melanoma is the second most common type of melanoma after cutaneous melanoma and comprises 3–4% of all melanomas in the United States followed by mucosal melanoma.^{3,4} Ocular melanoma can be divided into uveal and nonuveal ocular melanoma. Uveal melanoma (UM) is the largest group of ocular melanoma and consist of choroid, ciliary body, and iris melanoma. Nonuveal melanomas are all conjunctival melanomas (CM).³ In almost all cases, one eye is affected because bilateral ocular melanoma is only reported in 0.1%.^{4,5} Mean age of diagnosis in UM and CM is comparable (61.4 and 61.7 years old, respectively) in Caucasians,⁴ although the age of onset of UM is lower in Asian patients.⁶ The overall cancer-specific relative survival in UM is slightly higher compared to CM whereas the mean cancer-specific survival at 5 years is equal.⁴

Uveal Melanoma

UM is the most common primary intraocular malignancy in adults in the Western world with an incidence of 5–7:1,000,000 people.^{4,5} UM arises predominantly in the choroid followed by ciliary body and iris (Figure 1).^{7,8} The prognosis of iris melanoma is favorable compared to melanoma of the choroid and ciliary body.^{9,10} The 5-year overall survival of choroid and ciliary melanoma is 77–80% with a cancer specific 5-year survival rate of 76%. More than half of all patients develop metastases with a median survival of six months when metastatic disease is present in UM, whereas the melanoma related death in iris melanoma is 3–4%.^{4,11-13} One study even showed a 15-year melanoma specific survival up to 100%.¹⁰ Although both groups have resemblances in their genetic makeup, the involvement of certain genes is different as well as their clinical behaviour. Therefore, iris melanomas are considered a distinct subgroup within UM. UM used in the literature generally refers to posterior (choroid and ciliary body) UM.

UM can appear as (partly) amelanotic lesions as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 1. Section of an eye with a uveal melanoma in the choroid (**left**), schematic overview of the anatomy (**right**).



Figure 2. Partly amelanotic iris melanoma.

Treatment of primary UM consist of surgery, radiotherapy or a combination of these therapies.⁴ A large randomized trial has shown that treatment modality has no effect on long-term survival.¹⁴ However, in small UM, radiotherapy might have a beneficial effect over surgery regarding overall survival, although high-risk patients were not identified within this study.¹⁵ Unfortunately, there is no adequate treatment available for meta-static UM. First line treatment with immunotherapy, using an anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody named pembrolizumab, showed only positive results in a minority of patients.¹⁶ Since *GNAQ* and *GNA11* genes, in which mutations occur in UM,¹⁷ are related to the

MAPK-Erk Pathway, inhibitors of this pathway (MEK inhibitors) could have an effect of metastatic disease. However, clinical trials using MEK inhibitors in metastatic UM show contradictory results.^{18,19}

Mutations in certain genes as well as chromosomal aberrations correlate with patient prognosis.^{20,21} Not only are genetic and cytogenetic characteristics correlated to prognosis, but several clinical and histopathological characteristics are also associated with a higher risk of metastatic disease. Clinical and histopathological parameters correlated with a poor prognosis are larger tumor diameter, ciliary body involvement, mixed or epithelioid cell type, extracellular matrix patterns and high mitotic or Ki-67 proliferation index.²²

Pediatric Uveal Melanoma

UM in children and young adults are described in less than 1% of all UM.^{8,23-25} Like in adult UM, the tumor is most commonly primarily located in the choroid. Contrary to the frequency in adults, however, the frequency of iris melanoma is higher than melanoma originating from the ciliary body. A large cohort of 8033 UM patients described by Shields et al. showed in the age group of patients of 20 years or younger that 21% of developed UM are iris melanoma, whereas in adults, only 2–4% of UM consists of iris melanoma.⁸ Other studies describe iris melanoma in about 20–25% of all UM patients in children and young adults.^{24,26} It seems that females are at more risk to develop UM before the age of 25, although this was not statistically significant in cohort studies, probably due to the small size of the groups.²⁶⁻²⁸

Treatment of paediatric UM does not differ from the treatment in adults and includes enucleation, radiotherapy, resection and proton beam therapy.^{24,25,27} Few children are treated with laser photocoagulation, transpupillary thermotherapy, gamma knife and photodynamic therapy.^{26,27}

The prognosis of UM in children and young adults differs from adult patients. Children with UM have a favorable prognosis compared to young adults with UM (18 to 24 of age) with a 10-year survival rate of 92% and 80%, respectively.²⁷ With a 10-year survival rate of 93%, juvenile UM patients have a better prognosis compared to adults (65%).²⁴ Metastasis of UM (posterior and iris melanoma) in patients with age at diagnosis <21 years are described in 8–44%^{8,24,25,29,30} with congenital melanocytosis as a predictor of poor prognosis.²⁷ Patients with extraocular extension also have a significant higher risk of UM-related death, whereas ciliary body involvement or cell type had no effect on prognosis.²⁷ Although not statistically proven, it seems that females tended to have a worse survival compared to males.^{27,28}

Conjunctival Melanoma

Conjunctival melanoma (CM) arises from melanocytes in the epithelium of the conjunctival membrane and account for less than 10% of all ocular melanoma.^{4,5,9} The incidence of CM is 1–2 per 1,000,000 people in the Western world with an increasing trend. ^{31,32} Malignant lesions account for 6–30% of all conjunctival lesions, with squamous cell carcinoma and melanoma being the most frequent.^{31,33} CM most often arise from primary acquired melanosis (PAM) but CM originating from nevi or de novo also occurs (Figure 3).^{34,35} Conjunctival melanoma in children is rare, a systematic review of the literature from 2019 by Balzer et al. described 32 patients with conjunctival melanoma with an age of onset before 18 years.³⁶



Figure 3. Primary acquired melanosis (**left**), conjunctival melanoma (**right**) in the same patient.

Treatment consist of excision in most cases, preferably in combined with cryotherapy.^{4,33} Cryotherapy as single treatment is uncommon as well as enucleation Other less used treatments are topical or injection chemotherapy, exenteration, plaque radiotherapy, external beam radiotherapy and systemic chemotherapy.³³

Risk factors for metastasis (nodal and distance) are a higher tumor thickness, histologic ulceration and the presence of mitotic figures.³⁷ 12–26% of patients develop metastasis within 5 years after diagnosis.^{38,39} Distant metastases were found in the liver, lung, brain or elsewhere. Local recurrence occurs in almost one third of patients.³⁸ Like in uveal melanoma, no standardized therapy is available for disseminated disease. However, small case series show the potential use of target therapy and immunotherapy in advanced local and metastatic conjunctival melanoma.^{40,41}

GENETICS OF OCULAR MELANOMA

Chromosomal aberrations are a key feature of genomic instability of cancer cells and the observation of chromosome 3 loss in metastasizing UM by Prescher et al. in 1996 was a cytogenetic hallmark for UM.⁴² With the introduction of new high throughput DNA sequencing techniques, replacing traditional karyotyping, a number of genes mutated by the different types of ocular melanoma were discovered. Their role in initiation or progression of the disease was investigated and will be discussed in the next sections for some of these genes.

Uveal Melanoma

The most frequently mutated genes in UM are *GNAQ* and *GNA11*. Mutations in these genes occur in 71–93% of all UM tumors; we and others have shown that they have no predictive value.^{22,43-45} Mutations occur most often in the 209 residue of exon 5 although mutations in amino acid 183 in exon 4 are also described.⁴⁵ *GNAQ* and *GNA11* are involved in the Gα signaling pathway and are mutually exclusive in the vast majority of tumors. Other frequently mutated genes in UM are *BAP1*, *SF3B1* and *EIF1AX*.^{21,46}

Prognosis of UM patients can be predicted with the mutation status of secondary driver genes *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1* and *BAP1* which are almost always mutually exclusive. Patients with a *BAP1* mutation or absent BAP1 expression with immunohistochemistry (IHC) have a high metastatic risk while patients with an *EIF1AX* mutation have a low risk of metastatic disease.^{20,21,47} Mutations in *BAP1* are less frequently found in iris melanoma and not correlated with survival.⁴⁴ When looked at the chromosomal profile of UM, there is a decreased disease-free survival in tumors with loss of chromosome 3 (monosomy 3) which is associated with *BAP1* mutations.^{20,22,47} Gain of chromosome 8q is a poor predictor as well.⁴⁸ Other chromosomal aberrations found in UM include chromosome 1p loss and gain of chromosome 6.^{20,22} These chromosomal aberrations can be detected using karyotypes, fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) and single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array analysis.

In patients harboring a disomy 3 UM, two genes are mainly mutated: *EIF1AX* and *SF3B1*. In eukaryotes, *EIF1AX*, encoding for the X-linked Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor 1A protein, stimulates and stabilizes the ribosome and is involved in start codon recognition.⁴⁹⁻⁵² In UM, mutations in *EIF1AX* primarily occur as heterozygous amino acid substitutions in exon 1 and 2, causing an in-frame mutation affecting the proteins N-terminus.^{53,54} As EIF1AX acts as a regulator for translation initiation, mutations herein result in wrong selection of start sites, which might cause suppressed translation of canonical transcripts or upregulation of oncogenes.^{53,55} However, the precise biological function and its contribution to tumorigenesis is not fully understood. Although the

heterozygous mutation is located on the X-chromosome, in females, the wild-type allele is silenced through selective X-chromosome inactivation, resulting in mutant transcripts only.⁵³

Yavuzyigitoglu et al. have shown that patients harboring an *EIF1AX* tumor have a good prognosis, as these tumors harbor a low risk of metastasis.²³ *EIF1AX* mutations are reported to occur in 8% to 19%.⁵⁶

SF3B1 encodes for a part of the spliceosome, splicing factor 3 subunit 1. The spliceosome is responsible for splicing noncoding introns from precursor mRNA at specific splice sites, leaving only the exonic sequence.⁵⁷ As part of the spliceosome, the SF3b complex recognizes branch point sites on precursor mRNA at which U2 snRNP (small nuclear ribonucleoprotein) is recruited. SF3b facilitates the interaction between the branch point site and U2 snRNP by protein crosslinking, after which the spliceosome is catalyzed.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ The majority of recurrent hotspot mutations in SF3B1 occur at the edge of the C-terminal HEAT domains, near the precursor mRNA binding region and might be important for RNA or protein interactions.^{57,61}

Mutations in *SF3B1* lead to aberrant transcripts [58], primarily caused by alternative 3' splice site selection upstream of the canonical splice site, coincided by misregulated branch point usage.⁶² As a result, mutations in spliceosome components, such as *SF3B1* mutant tumors, can have alternative 3' acceptor splice sites, alternative cassette exons and intron retention in protein coding and noncoding genes as shown by Furney et al.⁶³

Yavuzyigitoglu et al. reported UM patients harboring an *SF3B1* mutation were diagnosed younger at 54.5 years than patients harboring an *EIF1AX* or *BAP1* mutated tumor, diagnosed at 64 years.²¹ They reported that these patients have an apparent risk of late onset metastases as 11 of 32 (34%) metastasized within 16 years (mean: 11.2 years after initial diagnosis).²³ Harbour et al. described that 18.6% of the UM mutations occur in *SF3B1*.⁶⁴

Because of the small number of iris melanoma, the genetic background is not as extensively explored as posterior uveal melanoma. Although genes involved in posterior uveal melanoma are mutated in iris melanoma as well, there are some differences. Iris melanoma harbor *GNAQ*, *GNA11* and *EIF1AX* mutations while *BAP1* mutations and mutations in *SF3B1* are less common or rare.^{43,44} A mutation in *BRAF*, a gene often mutated in cutaneous melanoma, was identified in iris melanoma.⁴⁴Loss of chromosome 3 is described in iris melanoma as well as loss of 9p.⁶⁵ Moreover, aberrations of chromosome 1, 6 and 8, chromosomes that are involved in posterior uveal melanoma as well, were described in iris melanoma.^{66,67} More sequencing and larger UM patient cohorts identified less prevalent recurring genes. Mutations in *PLCB4*, a downstream effector of Gαq signaling are described in <10% of uveal melanoma.⁶⁸ A study aimed at identifying gene mutations in 139 UM showed mutations in *GNAQ* and *GNA11* in 93% being mutually exclusive except for one UM harboring a *GNAQ* and *GNA11* mutation. Mutations in *PLCB4* (2%) were found in tumors with or without a *GNA11* mutation, whereas mutations in *CYSLTR2* (5%) were identified in UM with no mutation in one of the other genes. Deletions in spliceosome factors *RBM10*, in-frame deletions of *SRSF2* and homozygous deletion *SF3A1* were found in only a few tumors⁶⁹. Mutations in *SRSF2* were all heterozygous in-frame deletions and starting at residue 92 or 93, except for one case described in The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) starting at 174.⁷⁰

Conjunctival Melanoma

Mutations in BRAF are identified in 25%–35% of conjunctival melanoma of which the vast majority is the BRAF V600E mutation. This mutation can be identified using genetic testing, but immunohistochemistry is used as well.³⁴ The BRAF gene is involved in signal transduction and mutated in different types of cancer, most commonly in malignant melanoma. Amino acid valine (V) at residue 600 is mutated and replaced by a glutamic acid (E) in cutaneous melanoma.⁷¹ BRAF mutations were more often identified in conjunctival melanoma with a bulbar localization³⁴. Apparently, cutaneous melanoma and conjunctival melanoma have an overlap in their genetic background. Other genes involved in the development of conjunctival melanoma are TERT promoter, NRAS and NF1 in which pathogenic mutations are described.^{35,72,73} GNAQ and GNA11 mutations are identified, but not the activating hotspot mutations that occur in UM.³⁵ Amplification of chromosome 6 is found in more than half of the conjunctival melanoma. Moreover, alterations in chromosome 9q, 11q, 6p, 17p and 19 have also been detected.³⁹ TERT promoter mutations have recently been identified to correlate to metastatic disease.⁷⁴

INHERITANCE OF UVEAL MELANOMA

Mutations or variants in genetic information can be passed from one generation to the next (inheritance) and cause a specific phenotype or disease. This is only possible if the mutation is present in the gametes, which is in general a germline mutation (Figure 4). Somatic mutations occur during embryogenesis or throughout life and are not present in the gametes and therefore not heritable.



Figure 4. Schematic overview of germline and somatic mutations.

Only 2–4% of all uveal melanoma patients harbor a germline BAP1 mutation⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷ and although familial uveal melanoma is rare, BAP1 has been identified as a predisposition gene for UM as well as a variety of other cancers.⁷⁸ When focused on familial UM, the incidence of BAP1 germline mutations is higher and is reported up to 19%. Not only UM was described in these families but other cancers such as cutaneous melanoma and renal cell carcinoma were present in family members with this BAP1 tumor predisposition syndrome (BAP1-TPDS).⁷⁹ Almost all UM in patients with a germline BAP1 mutation have tumors that are located posteriorly, although one iris melanoma has been described.⁸⁰ In general, more cutaneous melanoma and ocular melanoma in the family history was reported in patients with uveal melanoma and a BAP1 germline mutation compared to patients without this germline mutation. Moreover, germline mutated *BAP1* carriers have a larger tumor diameter and more frequently reported ciliary body involvement. Multivariate analysis did not show that germline BAP1 mutations are an independent risk factor for the development of metastasis.⁷⁵ When metastasis-free survival of UM patients with a germline BAP1 mutation was compared to those with a somatic BAP1 mutation, it was shown that the germline *BAP1* mutated group has a more favorable prognosis.⁸¹ In contrast, another study showed that germline BAP1 mutations occur more often in metastatic ocular melanoma compared to non-metastatic ocular melanoma,

even though this difference was not significant and not adjusted for the greater risk of metastatic disease in *BAP1*-mutated UM in general.⁸² The median age of diagnosis does not differ between patients with a somatic or germline *BAP1* mutation.⁸¹

The four main tumor types strongly associated with the BAP1-tumor predisposition syndrome (BAP1-TPDS) are uveal melanoma, mesothelioma, cutaneous melanoma and renal cell carcinoma.83 The frequency of BAP1 germline mutations is higher in families with cutaneous and uveal melanoma compared to families without uveal melanoma.⁸² In families with a positive family history of UM, the frequency of BAP1 germline mutations was 22%.77 Accordingly, an accurate family history should be obtained when diagnosing new UM. In addition, it has been shown that germline null mutations in BAP1 are more frequently observed compared to controls and the BAP1-TPDS is probably underreported.⁸⁴ Therefore, *BAP1* germline testing might be useful in case of familial UM or the occurrence of other cancers in a patient's family history. Other germline mutations described in UM are mutations in the TP53 gene, although these are rare and the role of these mutations should be elucidated.⁸⁵ TP53 mutations associated with UM and breast cancer in a family are already described in 1905. This was probably in the context of the Li-Fraumeni syndrome.86

PROGNOSIS

Uveal Melanoma

Several clinical and histopathological characteristics of UM are used to predict patients' prognosis. Initially, it was found that histopathologic features as cell type, largest tumor diameter and the location of anterior margin were correlated to different risk class of melanoma-related survival.⁸⁷ Other predictors for poor outcome were scleral extension, mixed/epithelioid cell type, Ki-67 proliferation index, inflammatory phenotype, high mitotic figures and deeper scleral extension and the presence of extracellular matrix patterns.^{22,87,88} However, some of these characteristics are not independent of each other. For example, larger tumors are more commonly found in the anterior choroid or ciliary body and feature epithelioid cells.⁸⁹

Not only can clinical and histopathological characteristics of the tumor be used to predict patients' prognoses, but patient characteristics are also important factors. Patients who develop UM before the age of 21 have a better prognosis compared to middle-aged adults (until age 60) or older patients.^{8,30} It should, however, be mentioned that tumor thickness and diameter was not equally distributed between all age groups.⁸ Besides age at diagnosis, there are studies

showing male patients are at higher risk for the development of metastases than female patients.^{90,91} Moreover, metastatic disease developed earlier in men and the survival rate from diagnosis of metastatic disease was lower.⁹⁰ This difference in sex as a risk factor was not detected in Asian populations and the metastasis-free survival was higher compared to previous mentioned studies.⁶ Uveal melanoma does occur in pregnancy, although the survival rates are similar to non-pregnant women.⁹²

Later on, genetic factors such as chromosomal aberrations and genetic mutations were added to improve prediction of patients' survival. It was shown that patients with UM and loss of chromosome 3 (monosomy 3)⁹³⁻⁹⁵ and gain of chromosome 8g in the tumor had a significant poor prognostic influence.^{22,94,95} In addition, monosomy 3 was an independent risk factor for the development of metastasis, and thus poor prognosis, when corrected for tumor diameter and tumor site. Nevertheless, this study did not show a correlation of histological cell type, extrascleral extension and tumor thickness to prognosis.⁴² One of the methods used in cytogenetics to detect chromosomal aberrations is FISH. This technique is used in UM to confirm the use of chromosome 3 and 8 and their relation to prognosis.⁹⁶ Further research validates the fact that patients with a UM showing monosomy 3 have a significantly lower disease-free survival. In addition, a relation between concurrent loss of 1p and 3 and the risk of metastasis was shown. UM that harbor both chromosomal aberrations is at an even higher risk of developing metastasis than UM with solely loss of chromosome 3. There was also a relation between cell type and the existence of chromosome 3 loss or 6p gain.⁹³ Loss of 1p and 8 are significant prognostic factors independently.⁹¹ In order to display these chromosomal aberrations, SNP-array analysis can be used. SNP-array analysis is a technique which is frequently used in UM research (Figure 5). For example, greater tumor thickness or larger diameter correlates with partial or complete monosomy 3.⁹⁷ This implies that the histopathological risk factors previously described are not independent of the genetic background of the primary tumor. This study also showed that the patients with UM harboring partial monosomy have better prognoses compared to those with complete monosomy 3,⁹⁷ although later studies showed no significant difference in survival between patients with monosomy 3 or partial loss of chromosome 3 of the primary UM. In addition to these findings, loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 3 is even more important than monosomy 3 by itself.98

The role of BRCA1-associated protein (BAP1), located on chromosome 3, was proposed to have a role on the prognosis of UM about a decade ago. It was found that somatic mutations in *BAP1* were frequently present in metastasizing UM.⁹⁹ Immunohistochemistry (IHC) can be used to detect the presence of BAP1 protein expression (Figure 6). Nuclear BAP1 expression is strongly correlated



with patient survival and metastatic rate; lack of expression is a risk factor for the development of metastasis and poor prognosis.^{100,101} It was shown that *BAP1* mutations often results in the absence of BAP1 expression using IHC. Moreover, there is an association of BAP1 loss and monosomy 3 of the primary tumor.¹⁰²



Figure 6. Microscopic overview of uveal melanoma with BAP1 expression 400x (**left**) and absence of BAP1 expression 400x (**right**).

When looking at specific gene mutations, there are several other genes described which can be used for prognostication besides *BAP1*. It has been shown that patients with UM harboring an *EIF1AX* mutation have prolonged survival and low risk of metastasis.^{21,6} These somatic mutations mainly occur in UM with disomy 3.^{21,46,55} Another mutation frequently found in disomy 3 UM is a hotspot missense mutation in *SF3B1* at codon 625.^{21,55} Mutations in this gene, encoding subunit 1 of splicing factor 3b, are almost in all cases affecting codon 625, but mutations in K666 or K700 are also described.^{53,54,63,108} Mutations in *SF3B1* are associated with alternative splicing of a wide range of target genes.⁶³ These findings were also identified in RNA sequencing data.

The clinical relevance of these splicing events is not completely clear, but it has been shown that *SF3B1* mutated tumors are at risk to metastasize. Patients with UM harboring an *SF3B1* mutation can develop late onset metastases. Metastases develop in most patients after 5 years, and metastatic disease can occur even after 10 years. This is in contrast with BAP1-mutated UM, in which metastases are mainly diagnosed within 5 years after diagnosis.²¹

Not only have chromosomal aberrations and mutation status of the tumor have been used to classify uveal melanoma patients, but a classification can also be performed with gene expression profiling. Two profiles can be distinguished, with class 1 being tumors with a good overall survival and low metastatic risk, whereas class 2 tumors are more likely to metastasize.¹⁰³ The ability to differentiate two groups of UM based on gene expression profiling correlating with survival was also shown in other studies.^{104,105} This subgroups classification is not only based on gene expression profiling but corresponds with mutational status and micro-RNA expression as well. These different mi-RNA expression profiles are probably not caused by the copy number state of the primary tumor but act as an independent process.¹⁰⁶ This mi-RNA expression profile can contribute to the prediction of patient prognosis. When looked to overall survival, the upregulation or downregulation of certain mi-RNAs have a prognostic value in patients with UM.¹⁰⁷

Iris Melanoma

The prognosis of iris melanoma is favorable compared to posterior uveal melanoma. A large cohort of more than 1000 iris melanoma showed that 3% of iris melanoma metastasized.¹¹⁴ This finding is according to smaller cohort studies in which metastatic disease is present in 10% or less.^{11,44,109,110}

The American Joint Cancer Committee (AJCC) on Cancer classification can be used to describe and predict patient outcome. Most patients (75%) are scored following the AJCC Classification eighth edition as T1 (limited to the iris), whereas tumor confluent with or extending into the ciliary body and/or choroid (T2) including scleral extension (T3) or extra scleral extension (T4) are less common.¹¹ The 10-year risk of metastatic disease has been shown to be 5% in T1 tumors. Iris melanomas that are classified as T4 showed a 33% estimate of metastasis at 5 years, although only 5% of all iris melanomas were T4 tumors in this study.¹¹ Extraocular extension and high intraocular pressure are described as risk factors for metastasis.¹⁰⁹ Histological cell type is a risk factor as well; mortality was lower in spindle cell melanoma compared to mixed and epithelioid cell melanoma.^{108,110} Within different age groups, there is no significant difference in survival between children, middle-aged adults and older adults.¹⁰⁹ BAP1 status using immunohistochemistry was not found of predictive value.⁴⁴

Recurrent disease was higher in patients treated with iodine-125 radioactive plaque therapy in which there was reduced cornea surface coverage by the plaque and the presence of glaucoma after treatment. These risk factors were not correlated with the metastatic rate.¹¹¹

Regarding the good prognosis after treatment, it should be noted that overtreatment could be possible in patients with iris melanoma. A large cohort of suspicious melanocytic iris lesions showed the low potential for malignant transformation and good prognosis.¹¹² This indicates that an overestimation of favorable prognosis after treatment is possible in patients who could have underwent conservative treatment as well.

Conjunctival Melanoma

Local recurrence rates of conjunctival melanoma are described in 30%–58%.^{40,120} Treatment with excision alone has a higher risk of recurrent disease^{40,120} as

well as non-epibulbar location of the tumor.^{120,121} The 5-year overall survival is 72% (melanoma-related survival 90%).⁴⁰ Metastasis are reported in literature in about a quarter of conjunctival melanoma patients.^{39,113}

Metastasis of conjunctival melanoma occur to regional lymph nodes, but distant metastases are described as well.^{39,40} Distant metastases are found in patients following lymph node involvement, but are also described in patients without lymph node metastasis.⁴⁰ A correlation between tumor thickness (>2 mm), ulceration and mitotic figure count (>1/ mm²) and regional lymph node metastasis was found.^{37,74,115} Tumor diameter was also correlated with the risk of regional metastasis in a Dutch cohort.¹¹³ Cell type is an important risk factor since patients with mixed cell type tumors had a higher mortality compared to spindle cell CM.¹¹⁴ When lymphangiogenesis is present, a higher recurrence and risk of metastatic disease is present.^{114,116} However this might be a confounder since high lymphatic density was associated with risk factors that are described as independent factors previously such as greater tumor thickness and larger tumor diameter.¹¹⁶ In patients who underwent sentinel lymph node biopsy, a positive biopsy was related with a higher incidence of distant metastasis and a worse disease specific survival,³⁷ and local recurrence is associated with a higher risk of melanoma-related death.⁴⁰ Similar findings were reported using a large Chinese cohort: a higher T stage using the AJCC staging system, greater tumor thickness, more quadrants involved, local resection and the absence of adjuvant therapy were associated with worse survival.¹¹⁷

Chromosomal status is also correlated with survival, and it has been shown that deletions on chromosomal 10q are correlated with metastatic disease.³⁹ *BRAF* mutations occur frequently in conjunctival melanoma, especially in the sun-exposed area of the bulbar conjunctiva. However, no association of survival and gene mutation status regarding *BRAF* and *KIT* was identified.¹¹⁷ This was confirmed in another study in which no relation between *BRAF* mutation status and local recurrence, metastasis and death is observed.³⁴

The presence of *BRAF* mutations might be important in the future because BRAF/MEK inhibitors could possibly play a role in treatment of metastatic disease, as they is used in cutaneous melanoma where *BRAF* mutations at the same residue are present.¹¹⁸ *TERT* promotor mutations correlate with prognosis which could act as a therapeutic strategy in the future.⁷⁴ The survival in children appears favorable compared to adults.³⁶ However, the incidence in children and adolescents is low and the groups described in literature small.

NONINVASIVE TESTING

Tumor tissue is needed to predict patients' prognoses; prognostication of patients who undergo eye preserving treatment such as radiotherapy is not possible based on a genetic profile when no biopsy was taken. Biopsies of tumor tissue are invasive with an inherent risk. Therefore, there is a need for noninvasive tumor testing which can not only be used for diagnostic purposes, but also to monitor the disease with a biomarker in real time. For other cancer types, noninvasive testing is widely used for diagnostics and follow-up of patients and includes cell free DNA (cfDNA), circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA), circulating tumor cells (CTC), tumor-derived exosomes, tumor-educated platelets and micro-RNA. These so-called liquid biopsies can be withdrawn from plasma, urine and other body fluids. One of the advantages of liquid biopsies over tissue biopsy is that tumor heterogeneity is more represented and changes of the mutational landscape of the tumor over time could be detected.

In lung and breast cancer, cfDNA concentrations correlate with disease progression.^{119,120} Moreover, tumor-specific mutations could be detected in cfDNA from plasma, indicating that this technique can be used as a diagnostic as well as predictive tool.^{121,122} Methods to isolate CTCs are well investigated and it has been shown that the prevalence of CTCs in blood in patients of several metastatic cancer types was risen.¹²³

The use of CTCs in UM seems to have a predicted value on overall survival, although only small studies have been performed. Patients with CTCs detected in early-stage uveal melanoma have a less favorable prognosis compared to patients in which CTCs were not detected.¹²⁴ In patients with metastatic UM, the CTC cell count and ctDNA levels were also correlated with progressive free survival. There was also a relation with clinical characteristics of the tumor and the level of CTCs and ctDNA. More CTCs and higher levels of ctDNA in the blood were detected when the tumor volume was higher. In case of miliary hepatic metastases, resembling many small diffuse metastases in the liver, the ctDNA and CTC count was higher. This correlation was not found in patients with extrahepatic metastases.¹²⁵ When looked at chromosomal aberrations in the primary tumor, the CTC and cfDNA cells show an overlapping genetic profile. Moreover, GNAQ and GNA11 mutations were detected in ctDNA of UM patients. CYSLTR2 and PLCB4 mutations were detected in only two patients. The detection rate of ctDNA was much lower in patients with localized UM (27%, n = 30) compared to patients with metastatic disease (100%, n = 7).¹²⁶

When looked at mRNA expression in the blood of patients with UM using reverse transcription PCR, it has been shown that the detection of CTCs with this method can be used for prognostication as well. mRNA expression of tyrosinase

and MelanA/MART1 were correlated with disease-specific survival and overall survival.¹²⁷ Moreover, tyrosinase expression is significantly different when the primary tumor was classified regarding the tumor size. Tyrosine expression was the highest in large tumors, and there was a direct correlation between CTC values and tyrosine levels. The overall survival and disease-free survival were also better in patients without tyrosinase expression in their blood.¹²⁸

Another entity that can be used for non-invasive testing in patients with cancer are exosomes. Exosomes are nanosized extracellular vesicles containing proteins, RNA and DNA excreted by cells and have functional properties.¹²⁹ Although UM is a relatively small tumor, the concentration of circulating exosomes derived from plasma of patients with metastatic uveal melanoma is higher compared to healthy controls. These exosomes contain melan-A and melanoma-associated micro-RNAS which support the theory that these exosomes are of metastatic melanoma origin.¹³⁰ These findings emphasize the fact that there is an enrichment of exosomes derived from cancer cells.

These methods give promising results of new techniques that can be used in the prognostication of patients with UM in a noninvasive manner. However, challenges will be faced due to tumor size and the heterogeneity in affected genes, especially the non-hotspot mutations that occur in *BAP1*.

CONCLUSIONS

Although posterior uveal melanoma, iris melanoma and conjunctival melanoma are all ocular melanoma, they are distinct subtypes. The genetic profile of the type of ocular melanoma differs from one to the other. Mutations that are common in posterior UM such as *GNAQ* and *GNA11* are described in iris melanoma but in lower frequency.⁴⁴ Moreover, mutations in *BRAF* were detected in only one iris melanoma,⁴⁴ whereas *BRAF* mutations are common in conjunctival melanoma.³⁴ Germline mutations in *BAP1* are described in UM, but conjunctival melanoma is not part of the *BAP1* tumor predisposition syndrome. In familial UM as well as families in which UM is present and family members known with malignant mesothelioma, cutaneous melanoma, clear cell renal cell carcinoma and basal cell carcinoma, an underlying germline mutation in *BAP1*, can be present. Therefore, it is recommended to test for germline *BAP1* mutations when the family history is suspect.

Not only the genetic background of these melanomas is different. The overall survival of patients with ocular melanoma of the different subtypes differs broadly. The prognosis of posterior UM is poor compared to iris melanoma and the metastatic site differs between UM and conjunctival melanoma. In conjunctival melanoma, metastases to regional lymph nodes are described frequently, whereas UM primarily metastasize to the liver. The underlying pathogenesis of difference in survival is not yet clarified. It has been shown that *BAP1* mutations are correlated with poor prognosis in UM patients.¹⁰⁰ Since about half of all patients with posterior UM harbor a mutation in the *BAP1* gene, prognosis is poor. *SF3B1* mutations, correlated with late onset metastases, have been found more often in posterior UM compared to iris melanoma.^{21,44} Based on the genetic profile, the difference in survival could be explained.

The time of diagnosis of iris melanoma is probably in an earlier stage compared to posterior UM since patients can detect changes in the iris. Posterior UM, in contrast, can be detected without any clinical symptoms by routine clinical examination. Loss of vision can occur when the melanoma is present in the macular region or when retinal detachment is present. It seems that UM with retinal detachment at presentation carries a higher risk of metastases. However, this risk can be attributed to the larger tumor diameter and other tumor characteristics.¹³¹ Retinal detachment is therefore not a risk factor on its own. It is possible that these tumors are more aggressive, and therefore are detected at a larger tumor size. However, the time of diagnosis is probably earlier compared to tumors that do not give rise to any clinical symptoms. Therefore, it cannot be stated that iris melanoma has a better prognosis compared to posterior UM due to a probably earlier time of diagnosis.

Conjunctival melanoma and UM are both rare in children; however, the limited data suggest that survival in children seems better in both groups. Unfortunately, no current treatment is available for metastatic disease of ocular melanoma. In UM, liver resection is possible in only a few cases, but no validated systemic treatment is currently used. Targeted treatment for conjunctival melanoma harboring a *BRAF* mutation could be considered since the genetic profile is similar to that of cutaneous melanoma in which BRAF/MEK inhibitors are used. Further genetic and molecular testing is needed to gain more insight in ocular melanoma and hopefully lead to targets for therapeutic use.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kivela, T.T. The first description of the complete natural history of uveal melanoma by two Scottish surgeons, Allan Burns and James Wardrop. *Acta Ophthalmol.* **2018**, *96*, 203–214, doi:10.1111/aos.13535.
- Zozolou, M.; Tsoucalas, G.; Karamanou, M.; Laios, K.; Georgalas, I.; Douzenis, A.; Androutsos, G. The distinguished Austrian ophthalmologist Ernst Fuchs (1851–1930) and the "sarcom des uvealtractus". J. BUON 2018, 23, 1563–1568.
- McLaughlin, C.C.; Wu, X.C.; Jemal, A.; Martin, H.J.; Roche, L.M.; Chen, V.W. Incidence of noncutaneous melanomas in the U.S. *Cancer* 2005, *103*, 1000–1007, doi:10.1002/cncr.20866.
- Mahendraraj, K.; Shrestha, S.; Lau, C.S.; Chamberlain, R.S. Ocular melanoma-when you have seen one, you have not seen them all: A clinical outcome study from the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database (1973–2012). *Clin. Ophthalmol.* 2017, *11*, 153–160, doi:10.2147/OPTH.S120530.
- Isager, P.; Osterlind, A.; Engholm, G.; Heegaard, S.; Lindegaard, J.; Overgaard, J.; Storm, H.H. Uveal and conjunctival malignant melanoma in Denmark, 1943–1997: Incidence and validation study. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol.* 2005, *12*, 223–232, doi:10.1080/09286580591000836.
- Yue, H.; Qian, J.; Yuan, Y.; Zhang, R.; Bi, Y.; Meng, F.; Xuan, Y. Clinicopathological Characteristics and Prognosis for Survival after Enucleation of Uveal Melanoma in Chinese Patients: Long-term Follow-up. *Curr. Eye Res.* 2017, *42*, 759–765, doi:10.1080/02713683.201 6.1245422.
- Mahendraraj, K.; Lau, C.S.; Lee, I.; Chamberlain, R.S. Trends in incidence, survival, and management of uveal melanoma: A population-based study of 7516 patients from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database (1973–2012). *Clin. Ophthalmol.* 2016, 10, 2113–2119, doi:10.2147/OPTH.S113623.
- 8. Shields, C.L.; Kaliki, S.; Furuta, M.; Mashayekhi, A.; Shields, J.A. Clinical spectrum and prognosis of uveal melanoma based on age at presentation in 8033 cases. *Retina* **2012**, *32*, 1363–1372, doi:10.1097/IAE.0b013e31824d09a8.
- 9. Isager, P.; Engholm, G.; Overgaard, J.; Storm, H. Uveal and conjunctival malignant melanoma in denmark 1943-97: Observed and relative survival of patients followed through 2002. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol.* **2006**, *13*, 85–96, doi:10.1080/09286580600553330.
- Jamison, A.; Bhatti, L.A.; Sobti, M.M.; Chadha, V.; Cauchi, P.; Kemp, E.G. Uveal melanomaassociated survival in Scotland. *Eye (London)* **2019**, *33*, 1699–1706, doi:10.1038/s41433-019-0622-9.
- Shields, C.L.; Di Nicola, M.; Bekerman, V.P.; Kaliki, S.; Alarcon, C.; Fulco, E.; Shields, J.A. Iris Melanoma Outcomes Based on the American Joint Committee on Cancer Classification (Eighth Edition) in 432 Patients. *Ophthalmology* **2018**, *125*, 913–923, doi:10.1016/j. ophtha.2017.11.040.
- Lane, A.M.; Kim, I.K.; Gragoudas, E.S. Survival Rates in Patients After Treatment for Metastasis From Uveal Melanoma. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2018, 136, 981–986, doi:10.1001/ jamaophthalmol.2018.2466.
- Rao, Y.J.; Sein, J.; Badiyan, S.; Schwarz, J.K.; DeWees, T.; Grigsby, P.; Rao, P.K. Patterns of care and survival outcomes after treatment for uveal melanoma in the post-coms era (2004–2013): A surveillance, epidemiology, and end results analysis. *J. Contemp. Brachyther.* 2017, 9, 453–465, doi:10.5114/jcb.2017.70986.
- 14. Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study, G. The COMS randomized trial of iodine 125 brachytherapy for choroidal melanoma: V. Twelve-year mortality rates and prognostic factors: COMS report No. 28. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **2006**, *124*, 1684–1693, doi:10.1001/ archopht.124.12.1684.
- Jang, B.S.; Chang, J.H.; Oh, S.; Lim, Y.J.; Kim, I.H. Surgery vs. radiotherapy in patients with uveal melanoma: Analysis of the SEER database using propensity score matching and weighting Chirurgie vs. Strahlentherapie bei Patienten mit Uveamelanom: Analyse der SEER-Datenbank mithilfe von Propensity-Score-Matching und -Gewichtung. *Strahlenther. Onkol.* 2017, 193, 931–942, doi:10.1007/s00066-017-1203-0.

- Rossi, E.; Pagliara, M.M.; Orteschi, D.; Dosa, T.; Sammarco, M.G.; Caputo, C.G.; Petrone, G.; Rindi, G.; Zollino, M.; Blasi, M.A.; et al. Pembrolizumab as first-line treatment for metastatic uveal melanoma. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* **2019**, *68*, 1179–1185, doi:10.1007/s00262-019-02352-6.
- 17. Van Raamsdonk, C.D.; Griewank, K.G.; Crosby, M.B.; Garrido, M.C.; Vemula, S.; Wiesner, T.; Obenauf, A.C.; Wackernagel, W.; Green, G.; Bouvier, N.; et al. Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2010**, *363*, 2191–2199, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1000584.
- Luke, J.J.; Olson, D.J.; Allred, J.B.; Strand, C.A.; Bao, R.; Zha, Y.; Carll, T.; Labadie, B.W.; Bastos, B.R.; Butler, M.O.; et al. Randomized phase II trial and tumor mutational spectrum analysis from cabozantinib versus chemotherapy in metastatic uveal melanoma (Alliance A091201). *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2019**, *26*, 804–811, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-1223.
- Carvajal, R.D.; Piperno-Neumann, S.; Kapiteijn, E.; Chapman, P.B.; Frank, S.; Joshua, A.M.; Piulats, J.M.; Wolter, P.; Cocquyt, V.; Chmielowski, B.; et al. Selumetinib in Combination With Dacarbazine in Patients With Metastatic Uveal Melanoma: A Phase III, Multicenter, Randomized Trial (SUMIT). *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2018**, *36*, 1232–1239, doi:10.1200/JCO.2017.74.1090.
- Patrone, S.; Maric, I.; Rutigliani, M.; Lanza, F.; Puntoni, M.; Banelli, B.; Rancati, S.; Angelini, G.; Amaro, A.; Ligorio, P.; et al. Prognostic value of chromosomal imbalances, gene mutations, and BAP1 expression in uveal melanoma. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **2018**, *57*, 387–400, doi:10.1002/gcc.22541.
- Yavuzyigitoglu, S.; Koopmans, A.E.; Verdijk, R.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Eussen, B.; van Bodegom, A.; Paridaens, D.; Kilic, E.; de Klein, A.; Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma Study, G. Uveal Melanomas with SF3B1 Mutations: A Distinct Subclass Associated with Late-Onset Metastases. *Ophthalmology* **2016**, *123*, 1118–1128, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2016.01.023.
- 22. Staby, K.M.; Gravdal, K.; Mork, S.J.; Heegaard, S.; Vintermyr, O.K.; Krohn, J. Prognostic impact of chromosomal aberrations and GNAQ, GNA11 and BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma. *Acta Ophthalmol.* **2018**, *96*, 31–38, doi:10.1111/aos.13452.
- 23. Vavvas, D.; Kim, I.; Lane, A.M.; Chaglassian, A.; Mukai, S.; Gragoudas, E. Posterior uveal melanoma in young patients treated with proton beam therapy. *Retina* **2010**, *30*, 1267–1271, doi:10.1097/IAE.0b013e3181cfdfad.
- 24. Petrovic, A.; Bergin, C.; Schalenbourg, A.; Goitein, G.; Zografos, L. Proton therapy for uveal melanoma in 43 juvenile patients: Long-term results. *Ophthalmology* **2014**, *121*, 898–904, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2013.10.032.
- 25. Fry, M.V.; Augsburger, J.J.; Correa, Z.M. Clinical Features, Metastasis, and Survival in Patients Younger Than 21 Years With Posterior Uveal Melanoma. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* **2019**, *137*, 75–81, doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2018.5132.
- Shields, C.L.; Kaliki, S.; Arepalli, S.; Atalay, H.T.; Manjandavida, F.P.; Pieretti, G.; Shields, J.A. Uveal melanoma in children and teenagers. *Saudi J. Ophthalmol.* 2013, *27*, 197–201, doi:10.1016/j.sjopt.2013.06.013.
- Al-Jamal, R.T.; Cassoux, N.; Desjardins, L.; Damato, B.; Konstantinidis, L.; Coupland, S.E.; Heimann, H.; Petrovic, A.; Zografos, L.; Schalenbourg, A.; et al. The Pediatric Choroidal and Ciliary Body Melanoma Study: A Survey by the European Ophthalmic Oncology Group. *Ophthalmology* **2016**, *123*, 898–907, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2015.12.024.
- 28. Al-Jamal, R.T.; Kivela, T. Uveal melanoma among Finnish children and young adults. *J. AAPOS* **2014**, *18*, 61–66, doi:10.1016/j.jaapos.2013.11.006.
- 29. Barr, C.C.; McLean, I.W.; Zimmerman, L.E. Uveal melanoma in children and adolescents. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **1981**, *99*, 2133–2136.
- 30. Kaliki, S.; Shields, C.L.; Mashayekhi, A.; Ganesh, A.; Furuta, M.; Shields, J.A. Influence of age on prognosis of young patients with uveal melanoma: A matched retrospective cohort study. *Eur J. Ophthalmol.* **2013**, *23*, 208–216, doi:10.5301/ejo.5000200.
- 31. Dalvin, L.A.; Salomao, D.R.; Patel, S.V. Population-based incidence of conjunctival tumours in Olmsted County, Minnesota. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2018**, *102*, 1728–1734.
- 32. Larsen, A.C. Conjunctival malignant melanoma in Denmark: Epidemiology, treatment and prognosis with special emphasis on tumorigenesis and genetic profile. *Acta Ophthalmol.* **2016**, *94*, 842, doi:10.1111/aos.13100.

- Shields, C.L.; Alset, A.E.; Boal, N.S.; Casey, M.G.; Knapp, A.N.; Sugarman, J.A.; Schoen, M.A.; Gordon, P.S.; Douglass, A.M.; Sioufi, K.; et al. Conjunctival Tumors in 5002 Cases. Comparative Analysis of Benign Versus Malignant Counterparts. The 2016 James D. Allen Lecture. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **2017**, *173*, 106–133, doi:S0002-9394(16)30497-4.
- Larsen, A.C.; Dahl, C.; Dahmcke, C.M.; Lade-Keller, J.; Siersma, V.D.; Toft, P.B.; Coupland, S.E.; Prause, J.U.; Guldberg, P.; Heegaard, S. BRAF mutations in conjunctival melanoma: Investigation of incidence, clinicopathological features, prognosis and paired premalignant lesions. *Acta Ophthalmol.* 2016, *94*, 463–470, doi:10.1111/aos.13007.
- Scholz, S.L.; Cosgarea, I.; Susskind, D.; Murali, R.; Moller, I.; Reis, H.; Leonardelli, S.; Schilling, B.; Schimming, T.; Hadaschik, E.; et al. NF1 mutations in conjunctival melanoma. *Br. J. Cancer* 2018, *118*, 1243–1247, doi:10.1038/s41416-018-0046-5.
- Balzer, B.W.R.; Cherepanoff, S.; Joshua, A.M.; Giblin, M.; Conway, R.M.; Anazodo, A.C. Conjunctival Melanoma in Childhood and Adolescence: A Systematic Review. *Ocul. Oncol. Pathol.* 2019, 5, 387–395, doi:10.1159/000497813.
- Esmaeli, B.; Rubin, M.L.; Xu, S.; Goepfert, R.P.; Curry, J.L.; Prieto, V.G.; Ning, J.; Tetzlaff, M.T. Greater Tumor Thickness, Ulceration, and Positive Sentinel Lymph Node Are Associated With Worse Prognosis in Patients With Conjunctival Melanoma: Implications for Future AJCC Classifications. Am. J. Surg. Pathol. 2019, 43, 1701–1710, doi:10.1097/PAS.00000000001344.
- Brouwer, N.J.; Marinkovic, M.; van Duinen, S.G.; Bleeker, J.C.; Jager, M.J.; Luyten, G.P.M. Treatment of conjunctival melanoma in a Dutch referral centre. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* 2018, 102, 1277–1282, doi:10.1136/bjophthalmol-2017-311082.
- Kenawy, N.; Kalirai, H.; Sacco, J.J.; Lake, S.L.; Heegaard, S.; Larsen, A.C.; Finger, P.T.; Milman, T.; Chin, K.; Mosci, C.; et al. Conjunctival melanoma copy number alterations and correlation with mutation status, tumor features, and clinical outcome. *Pigment. Cell Melanoma Res.* 2019, *32*, 564–575, doi:10.1111/pcmr.12767.
- 40. Finger, P.T.; Pavlick, A.C. Checkpoint inhibition immunotherapy for advanced local and systemic conjunctival melanoma: A clinical case series. *J. Immunother. Cancer* **2019**, *7*, 83, doi:10.1186/s40425-019-0555-7.
- Sagiv, O.; Thakar, S.D.; Kandl, T.J.; Ford, J.; Sniegowski, M.C.; Hwu, W.J.; Esmaeli, B. Immunotherapy With Programmed Cell Death 1 Inhibitors for 5 Patients With Conjunctival Melanoma. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* **2018**, *136*, 1236–1241, doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2018.3488.
- Prescher, G.; Bornfeld, N.; Hirche, H.; Horsthemke, B.; Jockel, K.H.; Becher, R. Prognostic implications of monosomy 3 in uveal melanoma. *Lancet* 1996, 347, 1222–1225, doi:10.1016/ s0140-6736(96)90736-9.
- Scholz, S.L.; Moller, I.; Reis, H.; Susskind, D.; van de Nes, J.A.P.; Leonardelli, S.; Schilling, B.; Livingstone, E.; Schimming, T.; Paschen, A.; et al. Frequent GNAQ, GNA11, and EIF1AX Mutations in Iris Melanoma. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci* 2017, *58*, 3464–3470, doi:10.1167/ iovs.17-21838.
- Van Poppelen, N.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Mudhar, H.S.; Sisley, K.; Rennie, I.G.; Rundle, P.; Brands, T.; van den Bosch, Q.C.C.; Mensink, H.W.; de Klein, A.; et al. Genetic Background of Iris Melanomas and Iris Melanocytic Tumors of Uncertain Malignant Potential. *Ophthalmology* 2018, *125*, 904–912, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2017.12.022.
- Koopmans, A.E.; Vaarwater, J.; Paridaens, D.; Naus, N.C.; Kilic, E.; de Klein, A. Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma Study, g. Patient survival in uveal melanoma is not affected by oncogenic mutations in GNAQ and GNA11. *Br. J. Cancer* **2013**, *109*, 493–496, doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.299.
- Ewens, K.G.; Kanetsky, P.A.; Richards-Yutz, J.; Purrazzella, J.; Shields, C.L.; Ganguly, T.; Ganguly, A. Chromosome 3 status combined with BAP1 and EIF1AX mutation profiles are associated with metastasis in uveal melanoma. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2014, 55, 5160– 5167, doi:10.1167/iovs.14-14550.
- Van de Nes, J.A.; Nelles, J.; Kreis, S.; Metz, C.H.; Hager, T.; Lohmann, D.R.; Zeschnigk, M. Comparing the Prognostic Value of BAP1 Mutation Pattern, Chromosome 3 Status, and BAP1 Immunohistochemistry in Uveal Melanoma. *Am. J. Surg. Pathol.* **2016**, *40*, 796–805, doi:10.1097/PAS.00000000000645.

- Van den Bosch, T.; van Beek, J.G.; Vaarwater, J.; Verdijk, R.M.; Naus, N.C.; Paridaens, D.; de Klein, A.; Kilic, E. Higher percentage of FISH-determined monosomy 3 and 8q amplification in uveal melanoma cells relate to poor patient prognosis. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2012, 53, 2668–2674, doi:10.1167/iovs.11-8697.
- 49. Hinnebusch, A.G. The scanning mechanism of eukaryotic translation initiation. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **2014**, *83*, 779–812.
- 50. Hinnebusch, A.G. Structural insights into the mechanism of scanning and start codon recognition in eukaryotic translation initiation. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **2017**, *42*, 589–611.
- Agrawal, N.; Akbani, R.; Aksoy, B.A.; Ally, A.; Arachchi, H.; Asa, S.L.; Auman, J.T.; Balasundaram, M.; Balu, S.; Baylin, S.B. Integrated genomic characterization of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Cell* **2014**, *159*, 676–690.
- Chaudhuri, J.; Si, K.; Maitra, U. Function of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1A (eIF1A) (formerly called eIF-4C) in initiation of protein synthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 7883–7891.
- Martin, M.; Maßhöfer, L.; Temming, P.; Rahmann, S.; Metz, C.; Bornfeld, N.; van de Nes, J.; Klein-Hitpass, L.; Hinnebusch, A.G.; Horsthemke, B. Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic mutations in EIF1AX and SF3B1 in uveal melanoma with disomy 3. *Nat. Genet.* 2013, 45, 933–936.
- Robertson, A.G.; Shih, J.; Yau, C.; Gibb, E.A.; Oba, J.; Mungall, K.L.; Hess, J.M.; Uzunangelov, V.; Walter, V.; Danilova, L. Integrative analysis identifies four molecular and clinical subsets in uveal melanoma. *Cancer Cell* **2017**, *32*, 204–220.e215.
- Lee, S.; Liu, B.; Lee, S.; Huang, S.-X.; Shen, B.; Qian, S.-B. Global mapping of translation initiation sites in mammalian cells at single-nucleotide resolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2012, 109, E2424–E2432.
- Violanti, S.S.; Bononi, I.; Gallenga, C.E.; Martini, F.; Tognon, M.; Perri, P. New insights into molecular oncogenesis and therapy of uveal melanoma. *Cancers* 2019, *11*, 694, doi:10.3390/ cancers11050694.
- Seiler, M.; Peng, S.; Agrawal, A.A.; Palacino, J.; Teng, T.; Zhu, P.; Smith, P.G.; Caesar-Johnson, S.J.; Demchok, J.A.; Felau, I. Somatic mutational landscape of splicing factor genes and their functional consequences across 33 cancer types. *Cell Rep.* **2018**, *23*, 282–296.e284.
- Cretu, C.; Schmitzová, J.; Ponce-Salvatierra, A.; Dybkov, O.; De Laurentiis, E.I.; Sharma, K.; Will, C.L.; Urlaub, H.; Lührmann, R.; Pena, V. Molecular architecture of SF3b and structural consequences of its cancer-related mutations. *Mol. Cell* **2016**, *64*, 307–319.
- 59. Gozani, O.; Potashkin, J.; Reed, R. A potential role for U2AF-SAP 155 interactions in recruiting U2 snRNP to the branch site. *Mol. Cell. biol.* **1998**, *18*, 4752–4760.
- Will, C.L.; Urlaub, H.; Achsel, T.; Gentzel, M.; Wilm, M.; Lührmann, R. Characterization of novel SF3b and 17S U2 snRNP proteins, including a human Prp5p homologue and an SF3b DEAD-box protein. *EMBO J.* 2002, *21*, 4978–4988.
- Darman, R.B.; Seiler, M.; Agrawal, A.A.; Lim, K.H.; Peng, S.; Aird, D.; Bailey, S.L.; Bhavsar, E.B.; Chan, B.; Colla, S. Cancer-associated SF3B1 hotspot mutations induce cryptic 3' splice site selection through use of a different branch point. *Cell Rep.* 2015, *13*, 1033–1045.
- Alsafadi, S.; Houy, A.; Battistella, A.; Popova, T.; Wassef, M.; Henry, E.; Tirode, F.; Constantinou, A.; Piperno-Neumann, S.; Roman-Roman, S. Cancer-associated SF3B1 mutations affect alternative splicing by promoting alternative branchpoint usage. *Nat. Commun.* 2016, 7, 10615, doi:10.1038/ncomms10615.
- 63. Furney, S.J.; Pedersen, M.; Gentien, D.; Dumont, A.G.; Rapinat, A.; Desjardins, L.; Turajlic, S.; Piperno-Neumann, S.; de la Grange, P.; Roman-Roman, S. SF3B1 mutations are associated with alternative splicing in uveal melanoma. *Cancer Discov.* **2013**, *3*, 1122–1129.
- 64. Harbour, J.W.; Roberson, E.D.; Anbunathan, H.; Onken, M.D.; Worley, L.A.; Bowcock, A.M. Recurrent mutations at codon 625 of the splicing factor SF3B1 in uveal melanoma. *Nat. Genet.* **2013**, *45*, 133–135.
- 65. Mensink, H.W.; Vaarwater, J.; de Keizer, R.J.; de Wolff-Rouendaal, D.; Mooy, C.M.; de Klein, A.; Paridaens, D. Chromosomal aberrations in iris melanomas. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2011**, *95*, 424–428, doi:10.1136/bjo.2010.181289.

- Fabian, I.D.; Thaung, C.; AlHarby, L.; Sisley, K.; Mudhar, H.S.; Doherty, R.E.; Stacey, A.W.; Arora, A.K.; Cohen, V.M.L.; Sagoo, M.S. Late Solitary Extraocular Recurrence From Previously Resected Iris Melanoma. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **2017**, *181*, 97–105, doi:10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.025.
- Yavuzyigitoglu, S.; Drabarek, W.; Smit, K.N.; van Poppelen, N.; Koopmans, A.E.; Vaarwater, J.; Brands, T.; Eussen, B.; Dubbink, H.J.; van Riet, J.; et al. Correlation of Gene Mutation Status with Copy Number Profile in Uveal Melanoma. *Ophthalmology* **2017**, *124*, 573–575, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2016.10.039.
- Johansson, P.; Aoude, L.G.; Wadt, K.; Glasson, W.J.; Warrier, S.K.; Hewitt, A.W.; Kiilgaard, J.F.; Heegaard, S.; Isaacs, T.; Franchina, M.; et al. Deep sequencing of uveal melanoma identifies a recurrent mutation in PLCB4. *Oncotarget* **2016**, *7*, 4624–4631, doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.6614.
- Field, M.G.; Durante, M.A.; Anbunathan, H.; Cai, L.Z.; Decatur, C.L.; Bowcock, A.M.; Kurtenbach, S.; Harbour, J.W. Punctuated evolution of canonical genomic aberrations in uveal melanoma. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 116, doi:10.1038/s41467-017-02428-w.
- Van Poppelen, N.M.; Drabarek, W.; Smit, K.N.; Vaarwater, J.; Brands, T.; Paridaens, D.; Kilic, E.; de Klein, A. SRSF2 Mutations in Uveal Melanoma: A Preference for In-Frame Deletions? *Cancers (Basel)* **2019**, *11*, 1200, doi:10.3390/cancers11081200.
- Davies, H.; Bignell, G.R.; Cox, C.; Stephens, P.; Edkins, S.; Clegg, S.; Teague, J.; Woffendin, H.; Garnett, M.J.; Bottomley, W.; et al. Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. *Nature* 2002, *417*, 949–954, doi:10.1038/nature00766.
- Swaminathan, S.S.; Field, M.G.; Sant, D.; Wang, G.; Galor, A.; Dubovy, S.R.; Harbour, J.W.; Karp, C.L. Molecular Characteristics of Conjunctival Melanoma Using Whole-Exome Sequencing. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2017, 135, 1434–1437, doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2017.4837.
- Koopmans, A.E.; Ober, K.; Dubbink, H.J.; Paridaens, D.; Naus, N.C.; Belunek, S.; Krist, B.; Post, E.; Zwarthoff, E.C.; de Klein, A.; et al. Prevalence and implications of TERT promoter mutation in uveal and conjunctival melanoma and in benign and premalignant conjunctival melanocytic lesions. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2014, *55*, 6024–6030, doi:10.1167/iovs.14-14901.
- Van Ipenburg, J.N.N.; Dubbink, H.J.; van Ginderdeuren, R.; Missotten, G.S.; Paridaens, D.; Verdijk, R.M. Prognostic value of TERT promoter mutations in conjunctival melanomas in addition to clinicopathological features. *Br. J. Ophthalmol. Epub Ahead Print* 2020, doi:10.1136/bjophthalmol-2020-317405.
- Gupta, M.P.; Lane, A.M.; DeAngelis, M.M.; Mayne, K.; Crabtree, M.; Gragoudas, E.S.; Kim, I.K. Clinical Characteristics of Uveal Melanoma in Patients With Germline BAP1 Mutations. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2015, *133*, 881–887, doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2015.1119.
- Aoude, L.G.; Vajdic, C.M.; Kricker, A.; Armstrong, B.; Hayward, N.K. Prevalence of germline BAP1 mutation in a population-based sample of uveal melanoma cases. *Pigment. Cell Melanoma Res.* 2013, 26, 278–279, doi:10.1111/pcmr.12046.
- Turunen, J.A.; Markkinen, S.; Wilska, R.; Saarinen, S.; Raivio, V.; Tall, M.; Lehesjoki, A.E.; Kivela, T.T. BAP1 Germline Mutations in Finnish Patients with Uveal Melanoma. *Ophthalmology* 2016, *123*, 1112–1117, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2016.01.008.
- Popova, T.; Hebert, L.; Jacquemin, V.; Gad, S.; Caux-Moncoutier, V.; Dubois-d'Enghien, C.; Richaudeau, B.; Renaudin, X.; Sellers, J.; Nicolas, A.; et al. Germline BAP1 mutations predispose to renal cell carcinomas. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **2013**, *92*, 974–980, doi:10.1016/j. ajhg.2013.04.012.
- Rai, K.; Pilarski, R.; Boru, G.; Rehman, M.; Saqr, A.H.; Massengill, J.B.; Singh, A.; Marino, M.J.; Davidorf, F.H.; Cebulla, C.M.; et al. Germline BAP1 alterations in familial uveal melanoma. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **2017**, *56*, 168–174, doi:10.1002/gcc.22424.
- Chau, C.; van Doorn, R.; van Poppelen, N.M.; van der Stoep, N.; Mensenkamp, A.R.; Sijmons, R.H.; van Paassen, B.W.; van den Ouweland, A.M.W.; Naus, N.C.; van der Hout, A.H.; et al. Families with BAP1-Tumor Predisposition Syndrome in The Netherlands: Path to Identification and a Proposal for Genetic Screening Guidelines. *Cancers (Basel)* 2019, *11*, 1114, doi:10.3390/cancers11081114.

- Ewens, K.G.; Lalonde, E.; Richards-Yutz, J.; Shields, C.L.; Ganguly, A. Comparison of Germline versus Somatic BAP1 Mutations for Risk of Metastasis in Uveal Melanoma. *BMC Cancer* 2018, 18, 1172, doi:10.1186/s12885-018-5079-x.
- Njauw, C.N.; Kim, I.; Piris, A.; Gabree, M.; Taylor, M.; Lane, A.M.; DeAngelis, M.M.; Gragoudas, E.; Duncan, L.M.; Tsao, H. Germline BAP1 inactivation is preferentially associated with metastatic ocular melanoma and cutaneous-ocular melanoma families. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7, e35295, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035295.
- 83. Walpole, S.; Pritchard, A.L.; Cebulla, C.M.; Pilarski, R.; Stautberg, M.; Davidorf, F.H.; de la Fouchardiere, A.; Cabaret, O.; Golmard, L.; Stoppa-Lyonnet, D.; et al. Comprehensive Study of the Clinical Phenotype of Germline BAP1 Variant-Carrying Families Worldwide. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **2018**, *110*, 1328–1341, doi:10.1093/jnci/djy171.
- 84. Massengill, J.B.; Sample, K.M.; Pilarski, R.; McElroy, J.; Davidorf, F.H.; Cebulla, C.M.; Abdel-Rahman, M.H. Analysis of the exome aggregation consortium (ExAC) database suggests that the BAP1-tumor predisposition syndrome is underreported in cancer patients. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **2018**, *57*, 478–481, doi:10.1002/gcc.7.
- Hajkova, N.; Hojny, J.; Nemejcova, K.; Dundr, P.; Ulrych, J.; Jirsova, K.; Glezgova, J.; Ticha, I. Germline mutation in the TP53 gene in uveal melanoma. *Sci Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 7618, doi:10.1038/ s41598-018-26040-0.
- 86. Jay, M.; McCartney, A.C. Familial malignant melanoma of the uvea and p53: A Victorian detective story. *Surv. Ophthalmol.* **1993**, *37*, 457–462, doi:0039-6257(93)90142-T.
- Seddon, J.M.; Albert, D.M.; Lavin, P.T.; Robinson, N. A prognostic factor study of disease-free interval and survival following enucleation for uveal melanoma. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* 1983, 101, 1894–1899, doi:10.1001/archopht.1983.01040020896012.
- Folberg, R.; Rummelt, V.; Parys-Van Ginderdeuren, R.; Hwang, T.; Woolson, R.F.; Pe'er, J.; Gruman, L.M. The prognostic value of tumor blood vessel morphology in primary uveal melanoma. *Ophthalmology* **1993**, *100*, 1389–1398, doi:10.1016/s0161-6420(93)31470-3.
- 89. Seregard, S.; Kock, E. Prognostic indicators following enucleation for posterior uveal melanoma. A multivariate analysis of long-term survival with minimized loss to follow-up. *Acta Ophthalmol. Scand.* **1995**, *73*, 340–344, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0420.1995.tb00039.x.
- Zloto, O.; Pe'er, J.; Frenkel, S. Gender differences in clinical presentation and prognosis of uveal melanoma. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2013, 54, 652–656, doi:10.1167/iovs.12-10365.
- Ewens, K.G.; Kanetsky, P.A.; Richards-Yutz, J.; Al-Dahmash, S.; De Luca, M.C.; Bianciotto, C.G.; Shields, C.L.; Ganguly, A. Genomic profile of 320 uveal melanoma cases: Chromosome 8ploss and metastatic outcome. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2013, *54*, 5721–5729, doi:10.1167/ iovs.13-12195.
- Shields, C.L.; Shields, J.A.; Eagle, R.C., Jr.; De Potter, P.; Menduke, H. Uveal melanoma and pregnancy. A report of 16 cases. *Ophthalmology* **1991**, *98*, 1667–1673, doi:10.1016/s0161-6420(91)32060-8.
- Kilic, E.; Naus, N.C.; van Gils, W.; Klaver, C.C.; van Til, M.E.; Verbiest, M.M.; Stijnen, T.; Mooy, C.M.; Paridaens, D.; Beverloo, H.B.; et al. Concurrent loss of chromosome arm 1p and chromosome 3 predicts a decreased disease-free survival in uveal melanoma patients. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2005, *46*, 2253–2257, doi:10.1167/iovs.04-1460.
- Prescher, G.; Bornfeld, N.; Horsthemke, B.; Becher, R. Chromosomal aberrations defining uveal melanoma of poor prognosis. *Lancet* 1992, 339, 691–692, doi:0140-6736(92)90861-V.
- Sisley, K.; Rennie, I.G.; Parsons, M.A.; Jacques, R.; Hammond, D.W.; Bell, S.M.; Potter, A.M.; Rees, R.C. Abnormalities of chromosomes 3 and 8 in posterior uveal melanoma correlate with prognosis. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **1997**, *19*, 22–28, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2264(199705)19:1<22::AID-GCC4>3.0.CO;2-2.
- Patel, K.A.; Edmondson, N.D.; Talbot, F.; Parsons, M.A.; Rennie, I.G.; Sisley, K. Prediction of prognosis in patients with uveal melanoma using fluorescence in situ hybridisation. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* 2001, *85*, 1440–1444, doi:10.1136/bjo.85.12.1440.
- 97. Shields, C.L.; Ganguly, A.; Bianciotto, C.G.; Turaka, K.; Tavallali, A.; Shields, J.A. Prognosis of uveal melanoma in 500 cases using genetic testing of fine-needle aspiration biopsy specimens. *Ophthalmology* **2011**, *118*, 396–401, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2010.05.023.

- Onken, M.D.; Worley, L.A.; Person, E.; Char, D.H.; Bowcock, A.M.; Harbour, J.W. Loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 3 detected with single nucleotide polymorphisms is superior to monosomy 3 for predicting metastasis in uveal melanoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2007, *13*, 2923–2927, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2383.
- Harbour, J.W.; Onken, M.D.; Roberson, E.D.; Duan, S.; Cao, L.; Worley, L.A.; Council, M.L.; Matatall, K.A.; Helms, C.; Bowcock, A.M. Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. *Science* 2010, *330*, 1410–1413, doi:10.1126/science.1194472.
- 100. Shah, A.A.; Bourne, T.D.; Murali, R. BAP1 protein loss by immunohistochemistry: A potentially useful tool for prognostic prediction in patients with uveal melanoma. *Pathology* **2013**, *45*, 651–656, doi:10.1097/PAT.0000000000002.
- 101. Kalirai, H.; Dodson, A.; Faqir, S.; Damato, B.E.; Coupland, S.E. Lack of BAP1 protein expression in uveal melanoma is associated with increased metastatic risk and has utility in routine prognostic testing. *Br. J. Cancer* **2014**, *111*, 1373–1380, doi:10.1038/bjc.2014.417.
- 102. Koopmans, A.E.; Verdijk, R.M.; Brouwer, R.W.; van den Bosch, T.P.; van den Berg, M.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Kockx, C.E.; Paridaens, D.; Naus, N.C.; Nellist, M.; et al. Clinical significance of immunohistochemistry for detection of BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma. *Mod. Pathol.* 2014, *27*, 1321–1330, doi:10.1038/modpathol.2014.43.
- 103. Worley, L.A.; Onken, M.D.; Person, E.; Robirds, D.; Branson, J.; Char, D.H.; Perry, A.; Harbour, J.W. Transcriptomic versus chromosomal prognostic markers and clinical outcome in uveal melanoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2007**, *13*, 1466–1471, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2401.
- 104. Petrausch, U.; Martus, P.; Tonnies, H.; Bechrakis, N.E.; Lenze, D.; Wansel, S.; Hummel, M.; Bornfeld, N.; Thiel, E.; Foerster, M.H.; et al. Significance of gene expression analysis in uveal melanoma in comparison to standard risk factors for risk assessment of subsequent metastases. *Eye (London)* **2008**, *22*, 997–1007, doi:10.1038/sj.eye.6702779.
- 105. Tschentscher, F.; Husing, J.; Holter, T.; Kruse, E.; Dresen, I.G.; Jockel, K.H.; Anastassiou, G.; Schilling, H.; Bornfeld, N.; Horsthemke, B.; et al. Tumor classification based on gene expression profiling shows that uveal melanomas with and without monosomy 3 represent two distinct entities. *Cancer Res.* **2003**, *63*, 2578–2584.
- 106. Worley, L.A.; Long, M.D.; Onken, M.D.; Harbour, J.W. Micro-RNAs associated with metastasis in uveal melanoma identified by multiplexed microarray profiling. *Melanoma Res.* 2008, 18, 184–190, doi:10.1097/CMR.0b013e3282feeac6.
- 107. Falzone, L.; Romano, G.L.; Salemi, R.; Bucolo, C.; Tomasello, B.; Lupo, G.; Anfuso, C.D.; Spandidos, D.A.; Libra, M.; Candido, S. Prognostic significance of deregulated microRNAs in uveal melanomas. *Mol. Med. Rep.* **2019**, *19*, 2599–2610, doi:10.3892/mmr.2019.9949.
- 108. Geisse, L.J.; Robertson, D.M. Iris melanomas. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **1985**, *99*, 638–648, doi:10.1016/s0002-9394(14)76028-3.
- 109. Shields, C.L.; Kaliki, S.; Shah, S.U.; Luo, W.; Furuta, M.; Shields, J.A. Iris melanoma: Features and prognosis in 317 children and adults. *J. AAPOS* **2012**, *16*, 10–16, doi:10.1016/j. jaapos.2011.10.012.
- 110. Khan, S.; Finger, P.T.; Yu, G.P.; Razzaq, L.; Jager, M.J.; de Keizer, R.J.; Sandkull, P.; Seregard, S.; Gologorsky, D.; Schefler, A.C.; et al. Clinical and pathologic characteristics of biopsy-proven iris melanoma: A multicenter international study. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **2012**, *130*, 57–64, doi:10.1001/archophthalmol.2011.286.
- 111. Shields, C.L.; Shah, S.U.; Bianciotto, C.G.; Emrich, J.; Komarnicky, L.; Shields, J.A. Iris melanoma management with iodine-125 plaque radiotherapy in 144 patients: Impact of melanoma-related glaucoma on outcomes. *Ophthalmology* **2013**, *120*, 55–61, doi:10.1016/j. ophtha.2012.06.053.
- 112. Oxenreiter, M.M.; Lane, A.M.; Jain, P.; Kim, I.K.; Gragoudas, E.S. Conservative management of suspicious melanocytic lesions of the iris. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* **2019**, *257*, 1319–1324, doi:10.1007/s00417-019-04296-0.
- 113. Missotten, G.S.; Keijser, S.; De Keizer, R.J.; De Wolff-Rouendaal, D. Conjunctival melanoma in the Netherlands: A nationwide study. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci* **2005**, *46*, 75–82, doi:10.1167/iovs.04-0344.
- 114. Paridaens, A.D.; Minassian, D.C.; McCartney, A.C.; Hungerford, J.L. Prognostic factors in primary malignant melanoma of the conjunctiva: A clinicopathological study of 256 cases. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **1994**, *78*, 252–259, doi:10.1136/bjo.78.4.252.
- 115. Esmaeli, B.; Roberts, D.; Ross, M.; Fellman, M.; Cruz, H.; Kim, S.K.; Prieto, V.G. Histologic features of conjunctival melanoma predictive of metastasis and death (an American Ophthalmological thesis). *Trans. Am. Ophthalmol. Soc.* **2012**, *110*, 64–73.
- 116. Heindl, L.M.; Hofmann-Rummelt, C.; Adler, W.; Bosch, J.J.; Holbach, L.M.; Naumann, G.O.; Kruse, F.E.; Cursiefen, C. Prognostic significance of tumor-associated lymphangiogenesis in malignant melanomas of the conjunctiva. *Ophthalmology* **2011**, *118*, 2351–2360, doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2011.05.025.
- 117. Sheng, X.; Li, S.; Chi, Z.; Si, L.; Cui, C.; Mao, L.; Lian, B.; Tang, B.; Wang, X.; Yan, X.; et al. Prognostic factors for conjunctival melanoma: A study in ethnic Chinese patients. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2015**, *99*, 990–996, doi:10.1136/bjophthalmol-2014-305730.
- 118. Mor, J.M.; Heindl, L.M. Systemic BRAF/MEK Inhibitors as a Potential Treatment Option in Metastatic Conjunctival Melanoma. *Ocul. Oncol. Pathol.* **2017**, *3*, 133–141, doi:10.1159/000452473.
- 119. Wei, L.; Wu, W.; Han, L.; Yu, W.; Du, Y. A quantitative analysis of the potential biomarkers of non-small cell lung cancer by circulating cell-free DNA. *Oncol. Lett.* **2018**, *16*, 4353–4360, doi:10.3892/ol.2018.9198.
- 120. Cheng, J.; Holland-Letz, T.; Wallwiener, M.; Surowy, H.; Cuk, K.; Schott, S.; Trumpp, A.; Pantel, K.; Sohn, C.; Schneeweiss, A.; et al. Circulating free DNA integrity and concentration as independent prognostic markers in metastatic breast cancer. *Breast. Cancer Res. Treat.* 2018, *169*, 69–82, doi:10.1007/s10549-018-4666-5.
- 121. Xiang, Z.; Wan, R.; Zou, B.; Qi, X.; Huang, Q.; Kumar, S.; Pitman, J.L.; Zhou, G.; Song, Q. Highly sensitive and specific real-time PCR by employing serial invasive reaction as a sequence identifier for quantifying EGFR mutation abundance in cfDNA. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2018**, *410*, 6751–6759, doi:10.1007/s00216-018-1316-z.
- 122. Takeshita, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Yamamoto-Ibusuki, M.; Tomiguchi, M.; Sueta, A.; Murakami, K.; Iwase, H. Clinical significance of plasma cell-free DNA mutations in PIK3CA, AKT1, and ESR1 gene according to treatment lines in ER-positive breast cancer. *Mol. Cancer* **2018**, *17*, 67, doi:10.1186/s12943-018-0808-y.
- 123. Allard, W.J.; Matera, J.; Miller, M.C.; Repollet, M.; Connelly, M.C.; Rao, C.; Tibbe, A.G.; Uhr, J.W.; Terstappen, L.W. Tumor cells circulate in the peripheral blood of all major carcinomas but not in healthy subjects or patients with nonmalignant diseases. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2004, 10, 6897–6904, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0378.
- 124. Anand, K.; Roszik, J.; Gombos, D.; Upshaw, J.; Sarli, V.; Meas, S.; Lucci, A.; Hall, C.; Patel, S. Pilot Study of Circulating Tumor Cells in Early-Stage and Metastatic Uveal Melanoma. *Cancers* (*Basel*) **2019**, *11*, 856, doi:10.3390/cancers11060856.
- 125. Bidard, F.C.; Madic, J.; Mariani, P.; Piperno-Neumann, S.; Rampanou, A.; Servois, V.; Cassoux, N.; Desjardins, L.; Milder, M.; Vaucher, I.; et al. Detection rate and prognostic value of circulating tumor cells and circulating tumor DNA in metastatic uveal melanoma. *Int. J. Cancer* **2014**, *134*, 1207–1213, doi:10.1002/ijc.28436.
- 126. Aaron, B.; Timothy, I.; Muhammad, A.K.; James, B.F.; Richard, A.; Fred, K.C.; Michelle, R.P.; Kyle, Y.; Jaqueline, B.; Tersia, V.; et al. Clinical Application of Circulating Tumor Cells and Circulating Tumor DNA in Uveal Melanoma. *JCO Precis. Oncol.* **2018**, *2*, 1–12, doi:10.1200/ po.17.00279.
- 127. Schuster, R.; Bechrakis, N.E.; Stroux, A.; Busse, A.; Schmittel, A.; Scheibenbogen, C.; Thiel, E.; Foerster, M.H.; Keilholz, U. Circulating tumor cells as prognostic factor for distant metastases and survival in patients with primary uveal melanoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2007**, *13*, 1171–1178, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2329.
- 128. Pinzani, P.; Mazzini, C.; Salvianti, F.; Massi, D.; Grifoni, R.; Paoletti, C.; Ucci, F.; Molinara, E.; Orlando, C.; Pazzagli, M.; et al. Tyrosinase mRNA levels in the blood of uveal melanoma patients: Correlation with the number of circulating tumor cells and tumor progression. *Melanoma Res.* **2010**, *20*, 303–310, doi:10.1097/CMR.0b013e32833906e3.

- 129. Bebelman, M.P.; Smit, M.J.; Pegtel, D.M.; Baglio, S.R. Biogenesis and function of extracellular vesicles in cancer. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **2018**, *188*, 1–11, doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.02.013.
- 130. Eldh, M.; Olofsson Bagge, R.; Lasser, C.; Svanvik, J.; Sjostrand, M.; Mattsson, J.; Lindner, P.; Choi, D.S.; Gho, Y.S.; Lotvall, J. MicroRNA in exosomes isolated directly from the liver circulation in patients with metastatic uveal melanoma. *BMC Cancer* **2014**, *14*, 962, doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-962.
- 131. Kivela, T.; Eskelin, S.; Makitie, T.; Summanen, P. Exudative retinal detachment from malignant uveal melanoma: Predictors and prognostic significance. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2001**, *42*, 2085–2093.

Chapter 1.2

Scope of this thesis

In this thesis the different types of ocular melanoma and their genetic backgrounds are described. The heredity of uveal melanoma (UM) is discussed and the possible use of targeted next-generation sequencing is shown.

An overview of the different types of ocular melanoma is given in **chapter 1**. Ocular melanoma can be divided in uveal melanoma and non-uveal melanoma such as conjunctival melanoma. The clinical characteristics of each entity are described as well as the different underlying genetic alterations. It has been shown that somatic mutations that occur in the primary tumours correlate with prognosis. In some patients a germline mutation in the *BAP1* gene underlies the development of UM. This *BAP1* tumour predisposition syndrome (*BAP1*-TPDS) is not only associated with UM but also other malignancies can develop in family members harbouring this germline *BAP1* mutation.

Primary tumour tissue is needed to evaluate the genetic risk profile. Since eye persevering treatment is common there is a need to develop alternative methods to detect tumour specific genetic changes using a non-invasive method. The use of cell free DNA and exosomes could play a role to determine genetic alterations in UM patients.

In **chapter 2.1** the gene mutations in iris melanoma and iris nevi are studied. The genetic profile of posterior UM and iris melanoma have similarities although there are other genes involved in iris melanoma such as NRAS, BRAF, PTEN, *c-KIT* and *TP53*. No correlation between survival and BAP1 status of the tumour was found whereas BAP1 mutations in posterior UM are associated with poor prognosis. **Chapter 2.2** focusses on conjunctival melanoma and their specific genetic profile. Mutations in the BRAF gene, involved in cutaneous melanoma as well, are common and exposure to ultraviolet light leads to specific genetic mutations in TERT. Moreover a correlation between TERT promotor mutations and metastatic disease was observed. In chapter 2.3 a phenomenon called chromothripsis, in which parts of chromosomes are re-arranged, is described in UM. Chromothripsis was detected in seven UM patients using SNP-array analysis. In one patient there was chromothripsis of two chromosomes. No statistical analysis regarding tumour characteristics and genetic mutations was performed due to the small number of cases. Chapter 2.4 continues with a gene that is involved in splicing of DNA. This SRSF2 gene is mutated in other cancers as well and the role of this gene in UM is described in this chapter. Patients were selected based on the chromosomal profile of the primary tumour since the chromosomal aberrations occurring in UM are correlated with genetic mutations in SF3B1, BAP1 and EIF1AX. Patients were selected based on a genetic profile correlating with SF3B1 mutations but a wildtype status of this gene. This specific profile was of interest since SF3B1 and SRSF2 are genes that are both involved in splicing.

Chapter 3 shed a light on UM in children and young adults. The role of germline mutations in *BAP1* in this specific group is discussed. This study tries to elucidate the underlying genetic predisposition in children and young adults who develop UM. No high incidence of *BAP1* germline mutations was found in this study suggesting that other factors are involved in the development of UM at a young age. Also the clinical characteristics of these young patients were studied and it was shown that the prognosis of boys is favourable compared to girls as described previously.

In **chapter 4** the use of formalin fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) tissue in the detection of copy number variation and mutation analysis is described. This material is often unsuitable for mutation analysis but the use of a targeted next-generation sequencing panel analysis is shown. The UM related genes are included in this study as well as SNP's on chromosomes of interest to evaluate copy number variations. This is a reliable technique to perform genetic analysis on both fresh tumour material as well as FFPE.

Chapter 5 contains the general discussion of this thesis. The differences and similarities between posterior UM, irismelanoma and conjunctival melanoma on a genetic level are explained. Not only somatic mutations in ocular melanoma are described, but the role of germline *BAP1* mutations is discussed as well. To evaluate the genetic profile of ocular melanoma primary tumour tissue is needed but recent developments in the use of non-invasive testing are promising. Cell-free DNA and exosomes contain features of their originating cells and could be used to elucidate the genetic background of primary ocular melanoma in a non-invasive matter.

Chapter 2

Genetics of ocular melanoma

Chapter 2.1

Genetic background of iris melanomas and iris melanocytic tumors of uncertain malignant potential

Natasha M van Poppelen, Jolanda Vaarwater, Hardeep S Mudhar, Karen Sisley, Ian G Rennie, Paul Rundle, Tom Brands, Quincy C C van den Bosch, Hanneke W Mensink, Annelies de Klein, Emine Kiliç[,] Robert M Verdijk

Ophthalmology. 2018 Jun;125(6):904-912. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2017.12.022

ABSTRACT

Purpose

Uveal melanoma (UM) is the most common primary intraocular malignancy in adults. Iris melanoma comprises 4% to 10% of all UMs and has a lower mortality rate. The genetic changes in iris melanoma are not as well characterized as ciliary body or choroidal melanoma. The aim of this study was to gain more insight into the genetic background of iris melanoma and iris nevi.

Design

Multicenter, retrospective case series.

Participants

Patients diagnosed with iris melanoma or iris nevi who underwent surgical intervention as primary or secondary treatment. Methods: Next-generation sequencing of *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1*, *BAP1*, *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-Kit*, *TP53*, and *TERT* was performed on 30 iris melanomas and 7 iris nevi. Copy number status was detected using single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) included in the next-generation sequencing (NGS) panel, SNP array, or fluorescent in situ hybridization. BAP1 immunohistochemistry was performed on all samples.

Main Outcome Measures

Mutation and copy number status were analyzed. Results of BAP1 immunohistochemistry were used for survival analysis.

Results

In 26 of the 30 iris melanoma and all iris nevi, at least 1 mutation was identified. Multiple mutations were detected in 23 iris melanoma and 5 nevi, as well as mutations in *GNAQ* and *GNA11*. Furthermore, 13 of 30 *BAP1*, 5 of 30 *EIF1AX*, and 2 of 30 *SF3B1* mutations were identified in iris melanoma. No correlation between *BAP1* status and disease-free survival was found. The iris nevi showed 1 *EIF1AX* and 3 *BAP1* mutations. Two of the nevi, with a *BAP1* mutation, were histologically borderline malignant. Mutations in *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT*, and *TP53* were detected in 6 iris melanomas and 4 iris nevi.

Conclusions

Mutations that are often found in uveal and cutaneous melanoma were identified in this cohort of iris melanomas and iris nevi. Therefore, iris melanomas harbor a molecular profile comparable to both choroidal melanoma and cutaneous melanoma. These findings may offer adjuvant targeted therapies for iris melanoma. There was no prognostic significance of BAP1 expression as seen in choroidal melanoma. Consequently, iris melanoma is a distinct molecular subgroup of UM. Histologic borderline malignant iris nevi can harbor *BAP1* mutations and may be designated iris melanocytic tumors of uncertain malignant potential

Uveal melanoma (UM) is the most common primary intraocular malignancy in adults with an incidence of 7 in 1 000 000 people in the Western World.¹ Iris melanomas comprise 4% to 10% of all UM.¹⁻⁴ The observed and relative survival is higher compared with UM in general.⁵ There is no difference in incidence between men and women, but UMs occur more often in the white population.^{4,6} Treatment includes surgical resection, enucleation, brachytherapy, and proton beam irradiation.^{7,8} Currently, no studies on targeted adjuvant therapies in primary or metastatic iris melanoma exist. The choice of treatment depends on tumor size, localization, and patient preference. Diffuse iris melanomas are difficult to recognize, causing a delay in diagnosis. Moreover, they have a greater risk of metastasis than nodular iris melanoma.^{9,10} Other clinical risk factors for metastasis include elevated intraocular pressure, iris root or angle involvement, increased tumor thickness, older patient age, and extraocular tumor extension. The metastatic rate of iris melanoma is guoted as 1% to 10% at 5 years, 2% to 10% at 10 years, and 10% at 20 years of follow-up.^{6,10} A metastatic rate of 11% at 5 years was described in a series of biopsied iris melanoma.¹¹ However, gene expression profiling of iris melanoma showed that 67% of iris melanoma exhibit a class I (low metastatic risk) gene expression profile and 33% exhibit a class II profile (high metastatic risk).¹²

Chromosomal abnormalities of iris melanoma are poorly characterized. Partial and complete loss of chromosome 3 were found in 41% to 45% and 15% to 29%, respectively.^{7,13,14} Monosomy 3 was correlated with increasing patients' age.¹³ Although chromosome 3 loss is described in UM as a risk factor for metastatic disease,¹⁵ in iris melanoma this was only associated with a progressive disease in a univariate analysis. Chromosome 9p loss was reported in 35%.⁷ Furthermore, loss of 1p and 6q, and gain of 6p, 8, and 8q have been described.^{7,14} Abnormalities of chromosomes 5 and 18 have been reported.¹⁶ Mutations in genes encoding the guanine nucleotidebinding protein G subunit alpha q and 11 (GNAQ and GNA11) and the genes BAP1, SF3B1, and EIF1AX are typical for UM.^{17,18} GNAQ mutations are more common in ciliary body and choroid UM compared with iris melanoma.¹⁹ The aim of this study was to elucidate the genetic background of iris melanoma and iris nevi and to ascertain whether iris melanoma constitutes a distinct molecular group among UM. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) and immunohistochemistry were used to identify mutations in genes that are involved in both uveal and cutaneous melanoma.

METHODS

Inclusion

Tissue was collected from patients with iris melanoma or iris nevi from The Royal Hallamshire Hospital (Sheffield, UK) and the Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma

Study Group (ROMS) database. The ROMS is a collaboration between the Erasmus Medisch Centrum (Rotterdam, The Netherlands) and The Rotterdam Eye Hospital (Rotterdam, The Netherlands). Patients with an iris melanoma or suspect iris nevi who underwent biopsy or enucleation between 1992 and 2016 were included. The study conformed to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the respective local ethics committees. Informed consent was obtained before treatment. All samples were reviewed by 1 of 2 ophthalmic pathologists (H.S.M. and R.M.V.) to ensure that all tumors were primary iris lesions. Patient charts were reviewed to ascertain diagnosis as primary iris melanoma, clinical, and follow-up data.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical staining was performed with a BAP1-antibody (clone sc-28383, 1:50 dilution, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX) on 4-mm sections of formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue (FFPE). An automated staining system (VENTANA BenchMark ULTRA, Ventana Medical Systems, Tucson, AZ) was used following the protocol as described previously.²⁰ Only nuclear expression was scored because nuclear expression is prognostic relevant in UM.^{20,21} Loss of expression was defined as absent BAP1 expression in the nucleus. DNA Isolation DNA was extracted from fresh and FFPE tumor tissue. DNA isolation from fresh material was performed using the QIAmp DNA mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions. DNA extraction from FFPE tissue was performed using lysis buffer (Promega, Madison, WI) and 5% Chelex (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) following the protocol as described previously (Smit KN, Combined mutation and CNV detection by targeted NGS in UM, Modern Pathology, in press). Tumor tissue was confirmed with flanking hematoxylineeosin slides. DNA samples were stored at 20°C.

Targeted Next-Generation Sequencing

Targeted NGS was performed using the Ion Personal Genome Machine and the Torrent Server (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. A panel including amplicons covering *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *BAP1*, *SF3B1*, and *EIF1AX* was used. Moreover, *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-Kit*, *TP53*, and *TERT*, genes that harbor mutations in cutaneous melanoma, were included. On chromosome 1, 3, and 8, amplicons that cover highly polymorphic regions were used to identify allelic imbalances (Smit KN, van Poppelen NM, Vaarwater J, et al. Combined mutation and copy number variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma. *Mod Pathol*. 2018 Jan 12. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2017.187. [Epub ahead of print]).

Mutation Analysis

Results from Ion Torrent NGS were analyzed using Torrent Suite Software Version 4.4.3 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) and Integrative Genomics

Viewer Version 2.3.68 (97) (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA). All data were manually analyzed using Integrative Genomics Viewer for the selected 10 genes by 2 individuals. Mutations that occurred in more than 20% of the reads and with a minimal read count of 50 reads were called. When there was a low DNA concentration or when 1 of the hotspot mutations was present in less than 20% of the total read count, mutations with a percentage between 10% and 20% were called. Intronic, noncoding regions and synonymous mutations were excluded. These results were compared with the mutations from the Variant Call Format files. Mutations were validated using Sanger sequencing following a standardized protocol for FFPE material if material was available.

Copy Number Variation

Allelic imbalances were detected using the highly polymorphic regions on chromosome 3. This data was used to estimate the copy number variation. Furthermore, Nexus Copy Number software (BioDiscovery Incorporated, El Segundo, CA) was used to display copy number variations. Additional single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array or fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) data were used when available. Single nucleotide polymorphism array and FISH results were obtained as described previously.^{22,23} If there was loss of chromosome 3p, this was defined as loss of chromosome 3.

Statistical Analysis

For statistical analysis, IBM SPSS Statistics Version 21 (SPSS for Windows, International Business Machines Corporation, North Castle, NY) was used. Kaplan-Meier analysis with log rank test was used for survival analysis. A P value < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

Iris melanomas

Between 1992 and 2016, from 31 patients who were treated for iris melanoma at Erasmus MC, The Rotterdam Eye Hospital and by the Ocular Oncology Service at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital, tissue material was available. From the Royal Hallamshire Hospital Sheffield, 20 patients were included and 11 patients from the Erasmus MC and The Rotterdam Eye Hospital. One patient who developed liver metastasis after 34.3 months was excluded because of low tumor DNA concentrations, which made genetic analysis unreliable. There were 17 men (57%) and 13 women (43%) with a mean age at diagnosis of 47.1 years (range, 16.7-70.4 years). Fourteen patients were treated with iridocyclectomy (47%). All 10 patients from Erasmus MC and The Rotterdam Eye Hospital and 1 patient from

the Royal Hallamshire Hospital underwent enucleation (37%). Three patients were treated with local iris resection (10%), 1 with iridectomy (3%) and 1 with proton beam therapy (3%). This latter patient was treated with cryotherapy for increased intraocular pressure 47.8 months after primary treatment, followed by enucleation because of a blind painful eye.

Two patients (7%) received additional treatment with ruthenium plaque and proton beam therapy because of incomplete excision of iris melanoma. One patient received additional treatment (stereotactic radiotherapy), although the resection was histologically complete. In 2 patients (7%), recurrent iris melanoma developed after 28.6 and 15.5 months after the primary treatment, necessitating proton beam therapy and enucleation, respectively. In 1 patient, 37.0 months after additional treatment, diffuse recurrent iris melanoma with increased intraocular pressure developed and the eye was enucleated.

Three patients (10%) underwent trabeculectomy because of glaucoma (5, 5, and 11 years) before the diagnosis of iris melanoma. Two patients were clinically diagnosed to have an iris nevus at the time of trabeculectomy. In the third patient, pigment was seen preoperative. Biopsy of the iris 4 years later revealed a borderline malignant nevus, and iris melanoma was diagnosed after 7 years. In this patient, metastatic disease developed 21.3 months after primary treatment of iris melanoma. The other 2 patients who underwent trabeculectomy did not develop metastatic disease. One patient was clinically diagnosed with a nevus and received a Baerveldt Glaucoma Implant because of glaucoma approximately 1.5 years before the diagnosis iris melanoma was made. Because of the iris melanoma diagnosis, the Baerveldt Glaucoma Implant was surgically closed and the eye was enucleated 3 weeks later. Table 1 shows an overview of patient characteristics.

Clinical or histopathological feature	lris melanoma (n=30)	(Atypical) Iris nevi (n=7)
Gender		
Male	17 (57%)	2 (29%)
Female	13 (43%)	5 (71%)
Age at diagnosis (years), mean (range)	47.1 (16.7-70.4) (n=30)	58.5 (0.2-78.3) (n=7)
Primary treatment		
Enucleation	11 (37%)	1 (14%)
Iridocyclectomy	14 (47%)	0 (0%)
Iridectomy	1 (3%)	1 (14%)
Local iris resection	3 (10%)	0 (0%)

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of patients and histopathological tumor features

Table 1. Continued.

Clinical or histopathological feature	lris melanoma (n=30)	(Atypical) Iris nevi (n=7)
Excision	0 (0%)	2 (29%)
Proton beam therapy	1 (3%)	0 (0%)
Biopsy	0 (0%)	3 (43%)
Disease free survival (months), mean (range)	114.5 (13.8-239.3) (n=29)	67.7 (35.8-120.1) (n=7)
Metastasis		
No	26 (87%)	7 (100%)
Yes	2 (7%)	0 (0%)
Unknown	2 (7%)	
Tumor diameter (mm), mean (range)	4.0 (2.0-6.0) (n=21)	2.2 (2.2-2.3) (n=2)
Tumor thickness (mm), mean (range)	2.0 (1.0-4.0) (n=22)	1.7 (1.1-2.2) (n=2)
Diffuse iris melanoma	8 (26.7%)	1 (14%)
Cell type		
Spindle cell	12 (40%)	7 (100%)
Epithelioid	7 (23%)	0 (0%)
Mixed	11 (37%)	0 (0%)
Involvement corpus ciliare		
No	22 (73%)	6 (86%)
Yes	8 (27%)	0 (0%)
Not stated	0 (0%)	1 (14%)
Involvement anterior chamber		
No	21 (70%)	5 (71%)
Yes	9 (30%)	1 (14%)
Not stated	0 (0%)	1 (14%)
Involvement trabecular system		
No	16 (53%)	4 (57%)
Yes	14 (47%)	2 (29%)
Not stated	0 (0%)	1 (14%)
Extraocular extension		
No	30 (100%)	7 (100%)
Yes	0 (0%)	0 (0%)

The mean disease-free survival was 114.5 months, with a range from 13.8 to 239.3 months. Metastasis in the liver developed in 2 patients (7%) after 21.3 and 31.9 months. KaplaneMeier analysis showed no significant difference in disease-free survival between patients with a BAP1-positive tumor compared with a BAP1- negative tumor (P= 0.470) (Fig 1).



Figure 1. KaplanMeier curve showing disease-free survival for iris melanoma with a positive BAP1 expression compared with iris melanoma with a BAP1 negative expression. There is no significant difference between the 2 groups (P > 0.05).

Iris Nevi

The 7 patients with iris nevi from the ROMS database comprised 5 female patients (42%) and 2 male patients (29%) with a mean age at diagnosis of 58.5 years (range, 0.2-78.3 years). One patient underwent enucleation (14%), in 3 patients the nevi were excised in toto (43%), and 3 patients were biopsied (43%). None of these patients developed metastasis during follow-up (35.8-64.7 months). Six nevi were histologically classified as borderline malignant according to the Jakobiec and Silbert classification.²⁴

Genetic Analysis

Ion Torrent data (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) were analyzed for GNAQ, GNA11, BAP1, SF3B1, EIF1AX, NRAS, BRAF, PTEN, C-KIT, TP53, and TERT

promoter mutations. *TERT* promoter results were excluded for further analysis because of a read count T:p.Gln209Leu mutation (37%), 2 tumors harbored a c.626A>C:p.Gln209Pro mutation (7%), 1 tumor harbored a c.548G>A:pArg183Gln (3%), and 1 tumor harbored both a c.619G>A:pGly207Arg and a c.620G>A:p. Gly207Glu mutation (3%). *GNA11* was mutated in 9 iris melanomas (30%), which consisted of 6 c.626A>T:p.Gln209Leu (20%) and 3 c.547C>T:p.Arg183Cys mutations (10%). An *EIF1AX* mutation was identified in 5 tumors (17%): 3 c.5_6TT:p.Pro2Leu mutations (10%), 1 c.22G>A:p.Gly8Arg mutation (3%) and 1 c.44G>A:pGly15Asp mutation (3%). A c.1873C>T:p.Arg625Cys mutation in *SF3B1* was seen in 1 iris melanoma (3%), and a c.1858A>G:p.Met620Val mutation was seen in another tumor (3%). One or more *BAP1* mutations were found in 13 iris melanomas (43%).

For 3 iris melanomas, no mutation status of *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT*, and *TP53* was available. A *TP53* mutation was detected in 4 (13%), an *NRAS* mutation was detected in 3 (10%), a *PTEN* mutation was detected in 3 (10%), a *c-KIT* mutation was detected in 2 (7%), and a c.1781A>G:p.D594G *BRAF* mutation was detected in 1 iris melanoma (3%). The exact mutations are described in Table S1 (available at www.aaojournal.org). Four iris melanomas did not have a mutation in any of the tested genes. BAP1 immunohistochemistry was positive for all 4 of these samples.

In the iris nevi (n = 7), 4 *GNAQ* c.626A>T:p.Gln209Leu mutations (57%) and 1 *GNA11* c.626A>T:p.Gln209Leu (14%) were found. Three nevi, of which 2 borderline malignant, harbored 1 or more *BAP1* mutations (43%) and 1 had an *EIF1AX* c.16G>A:pGly6Ser mutation (14%). Mutations in *NRAS* were found in 4 nevi (57%), c-KIT was found in 3 nevi (43%), *PTEN* was found in 1 nevus (14%), and *TP53* was found in 1 nevus (14%). An overview of the mutations in iris melanoma and nevi are shown in Figure 2. Table S1 shows a detailed overview of the mutations that were detected.

Reliable Sanger sequencing results were obtained from 3 patients with a mutation in *PTEN*, *BRAF*, and *NRAS*. The mutations in *BRAF* and *PTEN* were confirmed. Surprisingly, besides the known *PTEN* mutation, another mutation in *PTEN* was detected with Sanger sequencing, a. c.703G>A:p.Glu235Lys mutation.





Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical staining for BAP1 was performed on all iris melanoma and iris nevus sections. None of the iris nevi showed loss of BAP1 expression (Fig 3). BAP1 expression was positive in 21 iris melanoma samples (70%) and negative in 9 samples (30%). Six iris melanomas showed no BAP1 expression in >90% of the tumor cells, and in 2 cases loss of BAP1 expression was observed in 80% and 50% of the tumor cells, respectively. In the remaining BAP1 negative iris melanoma, part of the tumor (40%) consisted of epithelioid cells that lacked BAP1 expression and the spindle tumor cells showed BAP1 expression (Fig 4).



Figure 3. Histopathologic features of 2 iris nevi. A and C, B and D are the same nevus. Left nevus: monosomy 3, no BAP1 mutation was detected. Right nevus: disomy 3, a c.2146G>A mutation in BAP1 was identified. **A)** Hematoxylineeosin staining of an iris nevus (400x). **B)** Hematoxyline-eosin staining of an iris nevus (400x). This is an iris melanocytic tumor of uncertain malignant potential. **C)** BAP1 staining of an iris nevus, there is nuclear expression (400x). **D)** Positive nuclear BAP1 expression in an iris melanocytic tumor of uncertain malignant potential (400x).



Figure 4. Histopathologic features and next-generation sequencing (NGS) results displayed in Integrative Genomics Viewer of 3 iris melanoma samples. **A)** Hematoxylineeosin staining of spindle tumor cells (200). **B)** Hematoxylineeosin staining of mixed spindle and epithelioid tumor cells (100). **C)** The tumor shows mixed spindle and epithelioid cells in a hematoxylineeosin staining (200). **D)** Positive nuclear BAP1 immunohistochemical expression in the tumor cells (400). **E)** Immunohistochemistry revealed no BAP1 expression (100) **F)** Positive BAP1 expression (immunohistochemistry) in spindle cells, absent BAP1 expression in epithelioid cells (400). **G)** The NGS results shows a c.548G>A:p.R183Q mutation in *GNAQ*. **H)** BAP1 c.312_319del:p.S104fs displayed in Integrative Genomics Viewer. **I)** Mutation in BAP1 c.1165C>T:p.R389.

Copy Number Status

Copy number loss of chromosome 3 was detected in 13 samples consisting of 12 iris melanoma and 1 borderline nevus. SNP-array data were available for 4 samples, and FISH was performed in 10 samples. The results from copy number detection using the SNPs from the NGS panel, SNP array, and FISH were consistent whenever more than 1 technique was available for analysis. The copy number status of cases 21 to 29 and 31 were evaluated by more than 1 technique. An overview of the copy number status, BAP1 immunohistochemistry, and BAP1 mutations is given in Figure 2.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the largest study of genetic mutation analysis in iris melanoma and iris nevi for genes that are involved in uveal or cutaneous melanoma. Iris melanoma and nevi harbor mutations that are found in primary choroidal and cutaneous melanoma. In UM, prognosis is related to nuclear BAP1 expression,^{20,21} whereas in this study, no significant association was found between nuclear BAP1 expression and disease-free survival in iris melanoma. Knowledge of the molecular profile is fundamental because potential therapies targeting the cutaneous melanoma signature could have clinical implications in iris melanoma.

Thirty iris melanomas and 7 iris nevi were analyzed for mutations in GNAQ, GNA11, EIF1AX, SF3B1, BAP1, NRAS, BRAF, PTEN, c-KIT, and TP53 using NGS and BAP1 immunohistochemistry. In this cohort, more GNAQ mutations were detected compared with GNA11 mutations, which is in line with previous reported mutations in iris melanoma.²⁵ A hotspot GNAQ or GNA11 mutation was found in 23 iris melanomas (77%) and 5 iris nevi (72%). These mutations are the same hotspot mutations as described in UM. However, the mutation rate is lower compared with UM, in which a rate up to 93% is described.¹⁸ Other genes that have been described in 3% to 7% of UM involving the Gas activating or Gai inhibitory adenylyl cyclase pathway, such as CYSLTR2 and PLCB4,^{26,27} could be involved in iris melanoma as well. It would be interesting to investigate whether CYSLTR2 and PLCB4 are mutated in iris melanoma with a GNAQ or GNA11 wild-type profile, although no mutations in CYSLTR2 have been found in an earlier study of 19 iris melanomas.²¹ GNAQ and GNA11 up-regulate the mitogen activated protein kinase pathway, as well as activating BRAF and NRAS mutations.²⁸ However, the mutation in BRAF (D594G) in our cohort did coexist with a GNA11 mutation. Mutations in BRAF have been described in 9 of 19 iris melanomas, but these mutations were located at a different position than in our cohort.²⁹

NRAS mutations were detected both with and without mutations in *GNAQ* and *GNA11*. Inhibition of MEK, a kinase in the mitogen-activated protein kinase, is an accepted treatment in specific metastatic cutaneous melanoma cases.^{30,31} In contrast, response rates are lower in patients with metastatic UM.³¹ Because iris melanomas harbor mutations in genes that are present in cutaneous melanoma, unlike UM, a study to elucidate the effect of MEK-inhibitors in this specific patient group may be warranted.

Mutations in *SF3B1* and *EIF1AX* were detected in 7% and 17% of cases, respectively. Considering the sample size, this is comparable to UM in which mutations in *SF3B1* vary between 10% and 24%, and *EIF1AX* mutated tumors are reported at approximately 20%.^{32,33} A recent study of 19 iris melanomas showed

mutations in *EIF1AX*, but no mutations in *SF3B1*, *BRAF*, *NRAS*, and *c-KIT*.²⁵ However, mutations in *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT*, and *TP53* were found in both iris melanoma and nevi in our series. In The Cancer Genome Atlas, only 1 deletion in *c-KIT* has been described before. This supports our hypothesis that iris melanoma should be treated as a distinct subgroup of UM. An extra mutation in 50% of the alleles of *PTEN* was detected at confirmation testing with Sanger sequencing. Possibly, only 1 allele was covered with NGS, so that this mutation was not detected. In 4 iris melanoma as a distinct subgroup. Other driver genes may be involved in the development of iris melanoma. These samples are subject for additional investigations.

Some studies suggest that mutations in uveal and iris melanoma might be associated with ultraviolet exposure.^{25,34} However, in a whole-genome sequencing study of UM, no ultraviolet induced mutation signature was found.³⁵ In the current study, it is doubtful whether the mutations that we identified in *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT*, and *TP53* are related to ultraviolet light exposure because the primary tumors were located in different quadrants of the eye. Furthermore, the mutations that were found in the cutaneous melanoma associated genes were not predominantly C>T or CC>TT mutations, which are known to be caused by ultraviolet light damage.³⁶ Neither relations between the mutations and geographic differences nor regional effects were observed. Future studies are needed to validate the prevalence of mutations in *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT*, and *TP53* and their clinical relevance in iris melanoma.

It is known that chromosome 3 loss is correlated with BAP1 mutations in UM.17 Therefore, copy number status was compared with BAP1 mutations detected with NGS and BAP1 immunohistochemistry. Loss of chromosome 3 was detected in 13 samples, including 1 iris nevus. Chromosome 3 loss is described in iris melanoma, as well as abnormalities in chromosomes 1, 5, 6, 8, 9, and 18.^{7,16} Loss of expression of BAP1 using immunohistochemistry is described in 43% to 50% of UMs^{20,37} and in 1 of 3 iris melanomas.²⁵ In our study, immunohistochemistry for BAP1 was negative in 30% of iris melanomas, but a BAP1 mutation was found in 43% using Ion Torrent next generation sequencing (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). In 4 tumors with BAP1 expression, a mutation was detected with the sequencing results. Two of these iris melanomas had 2 copies of chromosome 3, which means that the wild-type allele can produce the BAP1 protein. For the other 2 cases with monosomy 3, it is possible that the mRNA is not degraded by nonsense-mediated mRNA decay. A non-functional BAP1 protein probably is expressed in these tumors. In all tumors with loss of BAP1 expression, mutations were detected with NGS.

In general, iris melanomas have a favorable prognosis compared with posterior UM.⁵ BAP1 mutations and chromosome 3 loss are correlated with a poor prognosis in posterior UM.^{15,20} Metastatic disease to the liver developed in 2 patients with iris melanoma (6.7%); 1 of them underwent trabeculectomy before the diagnosis. Both tumors harbored a *BAP1* mutation and had no BAP1 expression in the tumor cells. Nevertheless, this study demonstrates that there is no relation between BAP1 and prognostic outcome in iris melanoma (Fig 1). Therefore, the prognostic value of chromosome 3 and BAP1 status for iris melanoma is equivocal.

In the iris nevi, mutations in *GNAQ* and *GNA11* were identified. This is in line with the concept that mutations in these genes are an early event in tumorigenesis.¹⁸ Moreover, a *GNAQ* mutation in an iris nevus has been described.²⁵ Mutations in *BAP1* were detected in 3 nevi, 2 of which were classified histologically as borderline malignant before knowing the *BAP1* status. One of these borderline malignant nevi was from an enucleated eye, and the other 2 were excised because they were also clinically suspect. Because these borderline malignant nevi were completely removed, it is uncertain if they would have developed into iris melanoma. Because most nevi showed borderline characteristics, the mutation status of typical nevi might be different. All borderline malignant iris nevi showed retained BAP1 expression. It is possible that the BAP1 expressing nevus cells obscured the small number of malignant subclones to confidently identify loss of BAP1 expression in these lesions. Further single cell analysis is warranted to resolve this issue. In case of a heterozygous mutation, the other allele can produce BAP1.

In conclusion, our study identified mutations in *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *BAP1*, *SF3B1*, *EIF1AX*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT*, and *TP53* in iris melanoma and iris nevi. These mutations were found in a cohort composed of samples from different institutes, with an even distribution. Borderline malignant iris nevi harbor mutations that confirm their clinical and histopathologic borderline malignant status. We think it would be better to designate such cases as iris melanocytic tumors of uncertain malignant potential, in line with the terminology used for uncertain cutaneous melanocytic lesions (e.g., melanocytic tumor of uncertain malignant potential).³⁸ This would be justified by a combination of histologic and molecular findings presented in this study. Because *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT*, and *TP53* mutations are not typical for UM, iris melanoma and iris nevi should be considered a distinct subgroup not only on the basis of clinical and histopathologic criteria but also on the basis of molecular grounds.

REFERENCES

- 1. Isager P, Osterlind A, Engholm G, et al. Uveal and conjunctival malignant melanoma in Denmark, 1943-97: incidence and validation study. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2005;12: 223e232.
- 2. McGalliard JN, Johnston PB. A study of iris melanoma in Northern Ireland. Br J Ophthalmol. 1989;73:591e595.
- 3. Damato BE, Coupland SE. Differences in uveal melanomas between men and women from the British Isles. Eye (Lond). 2012;26:292e299.
- 4. Krohn J, Dahl O. Incidence of iris melanoma in western Norway. Acta Ophthalmol. 2008;86:116e117.
- Isager P, Engholm G, Overgaard J, Storm H. Uveal and conjunctival malignant melanoma in Denmark 1943-97: observed and relative survival of patients followed through 2002. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2006;13:85e96.
- 6. Shields CL, Kaliki S, Shah SU, et al. Iris melanoma: features and prognosis in 317 children and adults. J AAPOS. 2012;16: 10e16.
- 7. Mensink HW, Vaarwater J, de Keizer RJ, et al. Chromosomal aberrations in iris melanomas. Br J Ophthalmol. 2011;95: 424e428.
- 8. Sandinha MT, Kacperek A, Errington RD, et al. Recurrence of iris melanoma after proton beam therapy. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98:484e487.
- 9. Demirci H, Shields CL, Shields JA, et al. Diffuse iris melanoma: a report of 25 cases. Ophthalmology. 2002;109: 1553e1560.
- 10. Shields CL, Shields JA, Materin M, et al. Iris melanoma: risk factors for metastasis in 169 consecutive patients. Ophthalmology. 2001;108:172e178.
- 11. Khan S, Finger PT, Yu GP, et al. Clinical and pathologic characteristics of biopsy-proven iris melanoma: a multicenter international study. Arch Ophthalmol. 2012;130: 57e64.
- 12. Harbour JW, Wilson D, Finger PT, et al. Gene expressing profiling of iris melanomas. Ophthalmology. 2013;120: 213.e1e213.e3.
- 13. Shields CL, Ramasubramanian A, Ganguly A, et al. Cytogenetic testing of iris melanoma using fine needle aspiration biopsy in 17 patients. Retina. 2011;31:574e580.
- 14. Krishna Y, Kalirai H, Thornton S, et al. Genetic findings in treatment-naive and proton-beamradiated iris melanomas. Br J Ophthalmol. 2016;100:1012e1016.
- 15. Prescher G, Bornfeld N, Hirche H, et al. Prognostic implications of monosomy 3 in uveal melanoma. Lancet. 1996;347: 1222e1225.
- 16. Sisley K, Brand C, Parsons MA, et al. Cytogenetics of iris melanomas: disparity with other uveal tract melanomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1998;101:128e133.
- 17. Yavuzyigitoglu S, Drabarek W, Smit KN, et al. Correlation of gene mutation status with copy number profile in uveal melanoma. Ophthalmology. 2017;124:573e575.
- 18. Koopmans AE, Vaarwater J, Paridaens D, et al. Patient survival in uveal melanoma is not affected by oncogenic mutations in GNAQ and GNA11. Br J Cancer. 2013;109: 493e496.
- 19. Onken MD, Worley LA, Long MD, et al. Oncogenic mutations in GNAQ occur early in uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2008;49:5230e5234.
- 20. Koopmans AE, Verdijk RM, Brouwer RW, et al. Clinical significance of immunohistochemistry for detection of BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma. Mod Pathol. 2014;27: 1321e1330.
- 21. van de Nes JA, Nelles J, Kreis S, et al. Comparing the prognostic value of BAP1 mutation pattern, chromosome 3 status, and BAP1 immunohistochemistry in uveal melanoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40:796e805.
- 22. Naus NC, van Drunen E, de Klein A, et al. Characterization of complex chromosomal abnormalities in uveal melanoma by fluorescence in situ hybridization, spectral karyotyping, and comparative genomic hybridization. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2001;30:267e273.
- 23. van den Bosch T, Koopmans AE, Vaarwater J, et al. Chemokine receptor CCR7 expression predicts poor outcome in uveal melanoma and relates to liver metastasis whereas expression of CXCR4 is not of clinical relevance. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2013;54:7354e7361.

- 24. Jakobiec FA, Silbert G. Are most iris "melanomas' really nevi? A clinicopathologic study of 189 lesions. Arch Ophthalmol. 1981;99:2117e2132.
- 25. Scholz SL, Moller I, Reis H, et al. Frequent GNAQ, GNA11, and EIF1AX Mutations in Iris Melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2017;58:3464e3470.
- 26. Moore AR, Ceraudo E, Sher JJ, et al. Recurrent activating mutations of G-protein-coupled receptor CYSLTR2 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet. 2016;48:675e680.
- 27. Johansson P, Aoude LG, Wadt K, et al. Deep sequencing of uveal melanoma identifies a recurrent mutation in PLCB4. Oncotarget. 2016;7:4624e4631.
- 28. Van Raamsdonk CD, Griewank KG, Crosby MB, et al. Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:2191e2199.
- 29. Henriquez F, Janssen C, Kemp EG, Roberts F. The T1799A BRAF mutation is present in iris melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2007;48:4897e4900.
- 30. Flaherty KT, Robert C, Hersey P, et al. Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAFmutated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:107e114.
- 31. Falchook GS, Lewis KD, Infante JR, et al. Activity of the oral MEK inhibitor trametinib in patients with advanced melanoma: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13: 782e789.
- 32. Dono M, Angelini G, Cecconi M, et al. Mutation frequencies of GNAQ, GNA11, BAP1, SF3B1, EIF1AX and TERT in uveal melanoma: detection of an activating mutation in the TERT gene promoter in a single case of uveal melanoma. Br J Cancer. 2014;110:1058e1065.
- Yavuzyigitoglu S, Koopmans AE, Verdijk RM, et al. Uveal Melanomas with SF3B1 Mutations: A Distinct Subclass Associated with Late-Onset Metastases. Ophthalmology. 2016;123:1118e1128.
- 34. de Lange MJ, Razzaq L, Versluis M, et al. Distribution of GNAQ and GNA11 mutation signatures in uveal melanoma points to a light dependent mutation mechanism. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0138002.
- 35. Royer-Bertrand B, Torsello M, Rimoldi D, et al. Comprehensive genetic landscape of uveal melanoma by whole-genome sequencing. Am J Hum Genet. 2016;99: 1190e1198.
- 36. Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013;500: 415e421.
- 37. van Essen TH, van Pelt SI, Versluis M, et al. Prognostic parameters in uveal melanoma and their association with BAP1 expression. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98:1738e1743.
- 38. Barnhill RL, Cerroni L, Cook M, et al. State of the art, nomenclature, and points of consensus and controversy concerning benign melanocytic lesions: outcome of an international workshop. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17:73e90.

			D							
	GNAQ	GNA11	SF3B1	BAP1	EIF1AX	PTEN	NRAS	BRAF	КІТ	TP53
-	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
7	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
m	wt	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
4	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
ъ	c.626A>C: p.Q209P	wt	wt	wt	c.5_6TT: p.P2L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
9	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
~	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	c.1165C>T:p.R389C	wt	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
00	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
6	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	c.22G>A: p.G8R	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
10	wt	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	c.1781A>G: p.D594G	wt	wt
11	c.626A>C: p.Q209P	wt	wt	c.406G>T:p.E136*	wt	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
12	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
13	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt

Supplementary Table 1. Overview of genetic mutations in iris melanoma and nevi

63

Genetic background of iris melanoma

2

Sup	plementary T	able 1. Continu	ed.							
	GNAQ	GNA11	SF3B1	BAP1	EIF1AX	PTEN	NRAS	BRAF	КІТ	TP53
14	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	c.1084G>A:p.D362N, c.1280G>A:p.G427E	wt	c.653G>A:p. C218Y, c.703G>A:p. E235K	wt	wt	wt	wt
15	wt	c.546_547TT: p.R183C	wt	c.373G>T:p.E125*	c.5_6TT: p.P2L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
16	c.619G>A: p.G207R, c.620G>A: p.G207E	c.626A>T: p.Q209L, c.638G>A: p.R213Q	c.1858A>G: p.M620V	c.1970G>A:p.R657K, c.61G>A:p.D21N, c.110G>A:p.S37N, c.454C>T:p.L152F	wt	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
17	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	c.1873C>T: p.R625C	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
18	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
19	c.548G>A:p. R183Q	wt	wt	c.1963G>A:p.E655K, c.673G>A:p.D225N	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	c.758C>T:p. T253l, c.899C>T:p. P300L
20	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
21	wt	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	c.53T>G:p.L18R,	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt

Chapter 2.1

Suppleme	ntary Table 1	. Continu	led.							
GNA	2 GNA1	11	SF3B1	BAP1	EIF1AX	PTEN	NRAS	BRAF	KIT	TP53
22 wt	с. 626 р.Q2(A>T: 09L	wt	c.620G>A:p.R207Q, c.588G>A:p.W196*, c.76G>A:p.G26R, c.1258G>A:p.G420R	c.44G>A: p.G15D	c.124C>T:p. L42F, c.343G>A:p. D115N	с.52G>А:р. А18Т	wt	c.2399T>C:p. L800P, c.1716C>G:p. D572E, c.1757G>A:p. c.1757G>A:p. R586K, c.2434G>A:p. G812S, c.1352C>T:p. S451F	c.289G>A:p. V97I
23 wt	wt		wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
24 wt	c.626 p.Q20	A>T: 39L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
25 wt	c.546 p.R18	547TT: 3C	wt	c.661G>T:p.E221*	c.5_6TT: p.P2L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
26 wt	wt		wt	c.1411G>A:p.A471T, c.1873G>A:p.E625K, c.2017_2019del:p. E673del, c.1060G>A:p.V354l, c.2183G>A:p.R728H	wt	c.385G>A: p.G129R	c.88G>A:p. D30N, c.196G>A:p. A66T	wt	wt	c.587G>A:p. R196Q, c.676G>A:p. G226S
27 wt	wt		wt	c.1430C>T:p.A477V, c.889G>A:p.E297K	wt	wt	c.226G>A:p. E76K	wt	c.1232C>T:p. T4111, c.1489G>A:p. V497M	c.46C>T:p.Q16*
28 wt	c.546 p.R18	_547A: 3C	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
29 c.626 p.Q20	A>T: wt)9L		wt	c.312_319del:p. S104Rfs*19	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt

2

65 |

Genetic background of iris melanoma

	GNAQ	GNA11	SF3B1	BAP1	EIF1AX	PTEN	NRAS	BRAF	KIT	TP53
30	wt	wt	wt	c.1000C>A:p.L334I	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
31	wt	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	c.659+3_659+16del, c.91_93del:p.E31del	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
32	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	c.413G>A:p. G138E	wt	c.1735G>A:p. D579N, c.1439C>T:p. S480F	c.91G>A:p.V31l, c.704A>G:p. N235S
33	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	c.388G>A:p. A130T	wt	c.1990G>A:p. G664R	wt
34	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
35	wt	wt	wt	c.466C>T;p.Q156*, c.670C>T;p.H224Y, c.2185C>T;p.H224Y, c.2185C>T;p.Q729*, c.2039C>T;p.H193Y, c.1930G>A:p.A644T, c.1243G>A:p.A644T, c.1243G>A:p.A415T, c.1166G>A:p.R389H	c.16G>A: p.G6S	c.686C>T; p.S229L	c.407G>A:p. S136N	wt	с.1423C>T:р. Q475*	wt
36	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	c.2146G>A:p.D716N	wt	wt	c.427G>A:p. E143K	wt	wt	wt
37	c.626A>T: p.Q209L	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
Mut	ations were ic	Jentified in iris	s melanoma	and nevi with next-gener	ation and	Sanger seduc	Purcing huild H	inan Gen	me version 19 w	as used Number

1-30 are iris melanoma samples, 31-17 iris nevi. Abbreviations: wt = wildtype; n.a. = data not available.

Chapter 2.2

Molecular genetics of conjunctival melanoma and prognostic value of *TERT* promoter mutation analysis

N.M. van Poppelen*, J.A. van Ipenburg*, Q. van den Bosch, J. Vaarwater, T. Brands, B. Eussen, F. Magielsen, H.J. Dubbink, D. Paridaens, E. Brosens, N. Naus, A. de Klein, E. Kiliç and R.M. Verdijk

*These authors contributed equally to this work

Int J Mol Sci. 2021 May 28;22(11):5784. doi: 10.3390/ijms22115784

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was exploration of the genetic background of conjunctival melanoma (CM) and correlation with recurrent and metastatic disease. Twentyeight CM from the Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma Study group were collected and DNA was isolated from the formalin-fixed paraffin embedded tissue. Targeted next-generation sequencing was performed using a panel covering GNAO, GNA11, EIF1AX, BAP1, BRAF, NRAS, c-KIT, PTEN, SF3B1, and TERT genes. Recurrences and metastasis were present in eight (29%) and nine (32%) CM cases, respectively. TERT promoter mutations were most common (54%), but BRAF (46%), NRAS (21%), BAP1 (18%), PTEN (14%), c-KIT (7%), and SF3B1 (4%) mutations were also observed. No mutations in GNAQ, GNA11, and EIF1AX were found. None of the mutations was significantly associated with recurrent disease. Presence of a TERT promoter mutation was associated with metastatic disease (p-value = 0.008). Based on our molecular findings, CM comprises a separate entity within melanoma, although there are overlapping molecular features with uveal melanoma, such as the presence of BAP1 and SF3B1 mutations. This warrants careful interpretation of molecular data, in the light of clinical findings. About three quarter of CM contain drug-targetable mutations, and TERT promoter mutations are correlated to metastatic disease in CM.

INTRODUCTION

Conjunctival melanoma (CM) comprises 5–10% of all ocular melanoma.¹⁻³ The majority derives from primary acquired melanosis with atypia (PAM), but infrequently, CM develops from a pre-existing nevus or de novo.^{1,3-6} CM has an incidence of 0.2–0.8 per million^{3,6,7} with an increasing trend.^{3,8} The 5- and 10-years cumulative incidence of CM-related mortality is 17–31% and 22–59%. respectively.^{5,7,9-11} The prognosis of ocular melanoma, including CM and uveal melanoma (UM), depends on clinical and histopathological features, as well as the molecular genetic make-up.^{3,12,13} During the past decade, the molecular make-up of UM has been well-characterized, with UM harboring recurrent mutations in guanine-nucleotide-binding protein-Q (GNAQ), guanine-nucleotidebinding protein-alpha 11 (GNA11), BRCA-associated protein 1 (BAP1), splicing factor 3 subunit 1 (SF3B1), and eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1A (EIF1AX). BAP1 and SF3B1 mutations are associated with the development of metastasis in UM. After the diagnosis of metastatic disease, patients with UM have a survival between 2–9 months.¹² When CM has metastasized, there are also very limited treatment options.^{1,13} Yet, although CM as well as UM are ocular melanoma, CM certainly do show overlapping features, including molecular abnormalities with cutaneous melanoma.^{1,3,6,13,14} For example, in 25–40% of the CM driver v-raf murine sarcoma, viral oncogene homolog B1 (BRAF) V600E/K mutations are described.^{1,2,6,13,15} This incidence is higher as compared to other mucosal melanoma, which harbor a BRAF mutation in only 12% of cases. Although a correlation between BRAF mutations and poor prognostic factors has been described in cutaneous melanoma, no predictive value is yet reported for mucosal melanoma.^{16,17} Other genes in which mutations have been identified in CM are the neuroblastoma RAS viral oncogene homolog (NRAS), Kirsten RAS oncogene homolog (KRAS), neurofibromin 1 (NF1), telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), tyrosine protein kinase (c-KIT), TP53, and BAP1.^{3,6,15,18} Mutations in GNAQ/GNA11 have also been described, but these are not the known activating hotspot mutations at amino acid Q209 or R183, which occur in UM.^{15,19} The genetic background of the melanoma originating from these different locations, emphasizes the differences between UM and CM, and the similarities between CM and cutaneous melanoma. Furthermore, in contrast to UM, some of the mutations frequently found in CM are amenable to targeted therapies. However, the prognostic value of these molecular abnormalities in CM is largely unclear. The aim of this study was to further elucidate the genetic background of CM within the spectrum of melanoma and to correlate these findings with the development of recurrences and metastasis.

RESULTS

Clinical and Histopathological Characteristics

Clinical and histopathological characteristics are listed in Table 1. Based on the availability of sufficient formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue for DNA isolation, twenty-eight cases could be included. Gender was equally divided with 50% males and 50% females. The median age at the time of diagnosis was 64 years (range 16–89 years). Based on the clinical information, most tumors were (at least partly) located on the bulbar conjunctiva (16 cases, 57%) with involvement of the palpebral conjunctiva in 10 cases (36%), the fornix in 5 cases (18%), and the caruncle in 1 case (4%). The tumors had a median diameter of 0.7 cm (range 0.05–1.8 cm), with a median tumor thickness of 3.0 mm (range 0.18–7.70 mm). According to the Eighth Edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) Cancer Staging,²⁰ twelve cases (43%) were pathological tumor (pT) stage pT1, including six pT1a cases (21%) and five pT1b cases (18%), and thirteen cases were pT2 cases (46%), comprising one pT2a case (4%), eleven pT2b cases (39%), and two cases (7%) with unknown tumor thickness. In three cases (11%), the pT status was unknown. In eighteen cases (64%), the melanoma were derived from PAM, four melanoma (14%) developed from a nevus, and three melanoma (11%) were de novo lesions. In three cases (11%), the origin could not be reliably determined, based on the pathology reports and the available clinical information.

Local recurrent disease occurred in eight patients (29%), between 6.8–156.8 months (median 29.3 months) after treatment. Nine patients (32%) developed metastatic disease between 1.7–49.2 months (median 14.3 months). Metastatic sites included lymph nodes (solitary or within the parotid gland) in all patients (n = 9), with metastatic disease in the orbit (n = 1), thyroid (n = 1), breast (n = 1), lung (n = 1), brain (n = 1), and spleen (n = 1). The thyroid and breast metastases were present in one patient, and the orbit and brain metastases were identified in one patient as well. The spleen and brain metastases were not histologically confirmed. The mean overall survival was 77.4 months (range 3.85–257.2 months), with a median of 62.8 months.

Clinical characteristics	
Median age at diagnosis (years)	63 (16-89)
Gender	
Male	14 (50%)
Female	14 (50%)
Location	
Bulbar	16 (57%)
Palpebral	10 (36%)
Fornix	5 (18%)
Caruncle	1 (4%)
Metastasis	
No	19 (68%)
Yes	9 (32%)
Local recurrence	
No	20 (71%)
Yes	8 (29%)
Histopathological characteristics	
Median diameter (cm)	0.7 (0.05 -1.8)
Median tumor thickness (mm)	3.0 (0.18-7.70)
pT status	
pT1a	6 (21%)
pT1b	5 (18%)
pT2a	1 (4%)
pT2b	11 (39%)
рТх	5 (18%)
Origin	
PAM	18 (64%)
Nevus	4 (14%)
De novo	3 (11%)
Unknown	3 (11%)

Table 1. Clinical and histopathological characteristics of the included conjunctival melanoma (CM)

Mutation Analysis

The specific mutations found per case are listed in Supplementary Table S1, with a summary of the mutations including correlation with metastatic and recurrent disease in Table 2. Fifteen CM cases (54%) showed a *TERT* promoter mutation. A mutation in the *BRAF* gene was identified in thirteen CM (46%), mostly affecting amino acid V600. *NRAS* mutations were seen in six cases (21%) and mutations in *BAP1* were identified in five CM (18%). A *PTEN* mutation was found in four CM (14%), and in two CM (7%), a mutation in *c-KIT* was identified. Interestingly, a p.Arg625His mutation in *SF3B1* was detected in one CM (4%). The diagnosis was unequivocally a CM in terms of both clinical and pathological reports. It was located in the nasal superior in the bulbar conjunctiva (Figure 1). None of the CM cases carried a mutation of *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, or *EIF1AX*.



Figure 1. Clinical pictures and molecular data concerning the conjunctival melanoma harboring a *SF3B1* mutation. **A)** Macroscopic view of the melanoma located on the bulbar conjunctiva. **B)** Primary acquired melanosis with atypia component (white arrow). **C)** Depicted in the red box is the molecular data concerning a p.Arg625His mutation in *SF3B1*, with an allele frequency of 42%, using the Integrative Genomics Viewer.

The metastasis-free survival (MFS) of patients with a *TERT* promoter mutation was significantly shorter as compared to patients without a *TERT* promoter mutation in the tumor (p = 0.008, Table 2, Figure 2). No correlation between metastasis-free survival and mutation status of *BRAF*, *BAP1*, *SF3B1*, *NRAS*, *c-KIT*, and *PTEN* could be observed.
Gene	Presence of a mutation	n (%)	Metastasis n (%)	MFS p-value	Recurrences n (%)	RFS p-value
SF3B1				0.45		0.45
	Yes	1 (4)	0 (0)		0 (0)	
	No	27 (96)	9 (33)		8 (30)	
BAP1				0.46		0.69
	Yes	5 (18)	1 (20)		2 (40)	
	No	23 (82)	8 (35)		6 (26)	
TERT				0.008		0.20
	Yes	15 (54)	7 (47)		2 (13)	
	No	13 (46)	2 (15)		6 (46)	
NRAS				0.17		0.82
	Yes	6 (21)	4 (67)		2 (33)	
	No	22 (79)	5 (23)		6 (27)	
KIT				0.26		0.88
	Yes	2 (7)	0 (0)		1 (50)	
	No	26 (93)	9 (35)		7 (28)	
PTEN				0.53		0.25
	Yes	4 (14)	1 (25)		2 (50)	
	No	24 (86)	8 (33)		6 (25)	
BRAF				0.052		0.76
	Yes	13 (46)	5 (38)		2 (15)	
	No	15 (54)	4 (27)		6 (40)	

Table 2. Pres	sence of a mu	utations versus	metastasis-free	survival (MFS) and	recurrence-free
survival (RFS))					

The total number of included conjunctival melanoma cases was twenty-eight. This table depicts the percentages of the specific mutations in the cohort, as well as the development of metastatic disease and recurrent disease within the group of a specific mutation. The statistically significant p-value is depicted in bold. MFS = metastasis –free survival; RFS = recurrence-free survival.



Figure 2. Kaplan–Meier survival estimate for the presence of a TERT promoter mutation in conjunctival melanoma. Kaplan– Meier survival estimate for the time to metastasis of conjunctival melanoma (CM), showing that patients with a CM with a TERT promoter mutation are more likely to develop metastatic disease

No correlation was found between the presence of any mutations and the development of recurrences (Table 2). We also analyzed whether the mutations were correlated with sex, age, location (bulbar only versus involvement of the palpebral/caruncular/forniceal conjunctiva), pT status (pT1 versus pT2), tumor thickness, origin (PAM-derived melanoma versus non-PAM-derived melanoma). We did find an association between the presence of a *TERT* promoter mutation and the origin of the lesion (*p*-value = 0.005), with most cases (54%) developing either de novo or from a melanocytic nevus (Table 3).

Immunohistochemistry

In five CM cases that revealed a *BAP1* mutation using molecular testing, there was enough material available for testing the presence of a *BAP1* mutation using immunohistochemistry. Four of these cases did not show loss of expression of *BAP1* using immunohistochemistry, while one CM case did show loss of expression using *BAP1* immunohistochemistry, with presence of positive (internal) control tissue.

Table 3. Mutations	versus clini	cal and	histopatho	logical p	arameters									
	<i>TERT</i> n=15 (%)	ď	<i>BRAF</i> n=13 (%)	۵.	<i>BAP1</i> n=5 (%)	۵.	<i>NRAS</i> n=6 (%)	ď	<i>PTEN</i> n=4 (%)	٩	c- <i>KIT</i> n= 2 (%)	ط	<i>SF3B1</i> n=1 (%)	۹.
Gender		0.26		0.71		1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00
Male	6 (40)		6 (46)		3 (60)		3 (50)		3 (75)		1 (50)		1 (100)	
Female	6(0) (09)		7 (54)		2 (40)		3 (50)		1 (25)		1 (50)		(0) 0	
Age		0.91		0.91		0.52		0.32		0.92		0.24		0.50
<50y	2 (13)		2 (15)		0 (0)		2 (33)		(0) 0		(0) 0		(0) 0	
50-65y	7 (47)		6 (46)		3 (60)		2 (33)		2 (50)		2 (100)		1 (100)	
>65y	6 (40)		5 (38)		2 (40)		2 (33)		2 (50)		(0) 0		(0) 0	
Location		0.16		0.85		1.00		1.00		0.59		1.00		0.48
Bulbar	8 (53)		6 (46)		2 (40)		2 (33)		1 (25)		1 (50)		1 (100)	
Forniceal/ palpebral/ caruncular involvement	5 (33)		6 (46)		2 (40)		2 (33)		2 (50)		1 (50)		(0) 0	
Tumor thickness		0.67		0.68		1.00		0.63		0.56		0.53		0.31
Tumor thickness ≤2 mm	5 (33)		3 (23)		1 (20)		2 (33)		2 (50)		1 (50)		1 (100)	
Tumor thickness >2mm	8 (53)		66) 6		4 (80)		3 (50)		2 (50)		1 (50)		(0) 0	
pT status		0.16		0.85		1.00		1.00		0.59		1.00		0.48
pT1	8 (53)		6 (46)		2 (40)		2 (33)		1 (25)		1 (50)		1 (100)	
pT2	5 (33)		6 (46)		2 (40)		2 (33)		2 (50)		1 (50)		(0) 0	
Origin		0.01		1.00		1.00		0.30		1.00		1.00		1.00
PAM	6 (40)		7 (54)		3 (60)		3 (50)		3 (80)		2 (100)		1 (100)	
Non PAM (nevus/ de novo)	7 (47)		3 (23)		1 (20)		3 (50)		1 (25)		(0) 0		(0) 0	

Molecular genetics of conjunctival melanoma

2

DISCUSSION

Pathways involved in the pathogenesis of CM included the MAPK/ERK pathway and the PI3K/AKT pathways, and these pathways overlap with the pathways involved in cutaneous melanoma.⁶ The mutation that we found most frequent in CM is a TERT promoter mutation, congruent with other studies concerning ocular melanoma^{6,13,14} and cancer originating from other sites. These mutations result in a new consensus binding site for E-twenty-six (ETS) transcription factors and this may contribute to increased TERT. The ETS transcription factors are downstream targets of the RAS-RAF-MAPK pathways, and TERT promoter mutations are suggested to have synergistic effects with activating BRAF or NRAS mutations to promote tumor cell proliferation.²¹ TERT is involved in the AKT pathway, and plays an important role in cellular immortality.⁶ TERT mRNA overexpression does not completely explain all effects of the TERT promoter mutations in tumorigenesis, and the role of immunohistochemistry in determining the TERT status is still a topic of debate.²² Consequently, other undefined or epigenetic mechanisms of TERT-upregulating are expected to exist.^{21,23,24} While a TERT promoter mutation is not found in conjunctival nevi, it is found in both PAM¹⁴ and CM^{6,14} with increased TERT expression leading to tumor progression.⁶ In this context, the C>T or CC>TT nucleotide changes in these mutations are of interest, since this is the typical UV signature, in line with the UV-exposed location of most CM, as seen in our study and as compared to the molecular make up of cutaneous melanoma.⁶ UM usually do not harbor mutations in or near the TERT gene.^{14,18,25} It indicates that different pathways are involved in the development of CM and UM, as is also suggested by the differences in the presence of mutations in BRAF, NRAS, and GNAO/GNA11.

Since TERT promoter mutations are relatively common in CM, these mutations are of special interest with respect to clinical consequences. We did not find a correlation between the presence of any of the investigated mutations in this study and the well-known adverse histopathological parameters, as has been described for cutaneous melanoma, such as increasing tumor thickness and more advanced pT stage.²⁶ Previous studies reported an association between PAM with atypia and PAM-derived melanoma, with the presence of a TERT promoter mutation.^{13,14} Remarkably, in the current study, we found a significant association with the presence of a TERT promoter mutation and non PAM-derived melanoma. This difference needs to be clarified by testing larger cohorts. The presence of a TERT promoter mutation in the tumor could have important clinical consequences, including the correlation of mutation status of this gene and follow-up. We found a correlation between the presence of a TERT promoter mutation and MFS, with a lower MFS in patients with a CM with a TERT promoter mutation, congruent with the findings in our previous study.¹³ TERT promoter mutations have also been described as an independent prognostic

factor in cutaneous melanoma. From this perspective, it is important to mention that most lesions in our cohort concerned relatively large tumors located at prognostic adverse locations (palpebra, fornix, or caruncle),⁶ suggesting a bias. Patients with a *TERT*-promoter-mutated CM might benefit from an intensified follow-up program.

In addition to *TERT* promoter mutations, CM frequently harbors *BRAF* mutations, which are known to activate the downstream kinases MEK1/2 and ERK1/2, resulting in tumor proliferation.^{1,6} In this study, we identified *BRAF* mutations in almost half the cases, almost all resulting in V600E mutations. This is in line with the literature in which 30–40% of all CM harbor mutations in *BRAF*, almost all being V600E mutations.^{3,6,13,27,28} These mutations, and specifically the V600E mutation, are also present in about half of all patients with cutaneous melanoma,²⁹ whereas this mutation is not frequently involved in other mucosal melanoma or UM.⁶

In cutaneous melanoma, the presence of a *TERT* promoter mutation in addition to a *BRAF* mutation is associated with unfavorable clinicopathological characteristics, such as large tumor thickness and a high mitotic rate.²⁶ Unfortunately, the number of cases in the current cohort was too small to render any conclusions concerning these correlations in CM.

Determining the mutation status of the tumor could be useful with regards to therapeutic consequences, since several studies have shown an improved progression-free survival and overall survival, in patients with metastasized cutaneous melanoma harboring a *BRAF* mutation, using BRAF inhibitors.³⁰ *BRAF* mutations are also attractive as a target for adjuvant therapy in CM.^{6,31-33}

NRAS mutations are described in 27% of cutaneous melanoma, with a Q61K mutation as the most common mutation followed by Q61R.³⁴ *NRAS*-mutated cutaneous melanoma have an unfavorable prognosis as compared to *BRAF* mutated or wild-type melanoma.³⁴ We identified *NRAS* mutations in 21% of all CM in our cohort, which is in line with the 17% previously reported¹⁵ and is somewhat lower compared to other literature.⁶ Due to the small numbers of *NRAS*-mutated cases in our cohort, no correlations to prognosis could be determined. *NRAS* mutations are mutually exclusive with *BRAF* mutations.⁶ *NRAS* mutations are amenable to *MEK* inhibitor therapy, as has been shown for cutaneous melanoma.³⁵ *MEK* inhibitors reduce the growth of *NRAS* mutant CM cell lines.¹ As yet, no cases of *NRAS*-mutated metastatic melanoma treated with *MEK* inhibitors have been published.

Interestingly, we detected an *SF3B1* mutation at the hotspot R625, which is well-known in UM,^{3,28} and was reported in one CM case. The presence of a *SF3B1*

mutation was reported previously in CM, however, this concerned a p.C1123Y mutation and not a hotspot mutation,³⁶ and another study reported a missense mutation.¹⁵ Although R625 *SF3B1* mutations are very rare in most melanoma, they have been identified in UM, including iris melanoma,¹⁹ and are less frequent in cutaneous melanoma as well as in vulvovaginal mucosal melanoma.³⁶⁻³⁹ The occurrence of *SF3B1* mutations in mucosal melanoma other than CM is higher, with a prevalence of 42% and hotspot mutations in 30–37%.^{39,40} The clinical significance of this mutation in CM is unknown, whereas in UM, *SF3B1* mutation is correlated to late metastatic disease.⁴¹ The CM with this mutation was treated with excision. This case also included PAM and showed local recurrence, three and eight years after primary treatment. No metastasis developed in the follow-up period of 6.8 years. However, metastasis in *SF3B1*-mutated UM was described even after 10 years.⁴¹

The CM cases in our cohort also harbored mutations in c-*KIT*, *PTEN*, and *BAP1*. These findings of mutations in c-*KIT*, *NRAS*, and *PTEN* are congruent with other literature,^{1.6} with c-*KIT* mutations reported in 39% of mucosal melanoma and being feasible for targeted therapy.⁴² Of interest is the finding of mutations in *BAP1*, which is a common hemizygous mutation in UM.^{12,43} *BAP1* is a tumor suppressor gene and individuals with cutaneous melanocytic neoplasm with a germline *BAP1* mutation, often have *BRAF* mutations, with these lesions reported to have a benign clinical course.⁴³ However, UM with somatic *BAP1* mutations are correlated to loss of chromosome 3 and early metastatic disease. CM has also been described in a patient with the *BAP1* tumor predisposition syndrome.⁴⁴ We identified heterozygous *BAP1* mutations that can be explained as passenger mutations without consequences, due to expression of the remaining non-affected allele.

The genetic profile of CM differs from UM, another subtype of ocular melanoma, in which mutations in *GNAQ/GNA11* are frequently described.⁴⁵ In this study, none of the CM harbored an activating hotspot mutation in *GNAQ* or *GNA11*. These findings are congruent with other studies analyzing mutations in CM.^{15,46} *BRAF* and *NRAS* mutations are extremely rare in UM.³⁷ Therefore, these mutations can be useful in distinguishing CM from UM. This may be of interest in the identification of the primary tumor site in the case of metastatic melanoma with unknown primary. It also warrants the need for exploration of the genetic background of metastatic melanocytic lesions. However, such molecular results need to be interpreted with care, since we describe *BAP1* and *SF3B1* mutations in CM in the current cohort.

We did not find a correlation concerning the presence of any of the mutations and the development of recurrent disease. Cases with recurrent disease harbored the most frequently found mutations only in a (very) low number of cases. This may imply that recurrence and metastasis relate to different molecular or physical processes.

In conclusion, based on our molecular findings, CM comprises a separate entity within the ocular melanoma group, although there certainly are overlapping molecular features with UM, such as the presence of *BAP1* and *SF3B1* mutations. This warrants careful interpretation of molecular data in the light of clinical findings. About three-quarter of CM contain drug-targetable mutations in *BRAF, NRAS,* or *c-KIT,* supporting the relevance of molecular genetic testing in CM for therapeutic reasons. Within this study, we confirmed that *TERT* promoter mutations are frequently found in CM and are correlated to metastatic disease, supporting the relevance of molecular for prognostic reasons.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Material Selection

We collected twenty-eight CM, diagnosed between 1987 and 2016 at the Erasmus MC University Medical Center (Rotterdam, The Netherlands) and The Rotterdam Eye Hospital (Rotterdam, The Netherlands). Ethics Committee approval was obtained by the Medical Ethics Committee, Erasmus MC-University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands (4 Oct 2018) and was registered with reference 67865. The study was performed according to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki. Samples were included when sufficient FFPE material was available for testing. Data regarding gender, age at the time of diagnosis, location, tumor thickness, the origin of the lesion, and information of development of recurrences and metastasis were collected from the patient records and information was obtained from the pathology reports and the nationwide-pathology network and registry system (Pathologisch-Anatomisch Landelijk Geautomatiseerd Archief). Recurrence was defined as histopathological proven CM at the same location, either after complete excision of the primary lesion or a tumor-free mapping biopsy, after a first incomplete excision of the primary tumor. Recurrence-free survival was defined as the time from the primary treatment to the date of recurrence or last date of follow-up. Metastasis-free survival was defined as time from the primary treatment to the date of metastatic disease or last date of follow-up.

DNA Isolation

DNA from FFPE tissue was isolated using lysis buffer (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) and 5% Chelex (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), as described previously²⁷ and stored at −20 °C. DNA concentrations were measured with the Quant-iT[™] PicoGreen[™] ds DNA Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA).

Targeted Next-Generation Sequencing

The lon Personal Genome Machine and Torrent Server (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was used for targeted next-generation sequencing (NGS), according to the manufacturer's protocol. An input of DNA was used depending on the available amount of DNA. An extended gene panel covering *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1*, *BAP1*, *BRAF*, *NRAS*, *c-KIT*, *PTEN*, and *TERT* was used, as described previously.²⁷

Mutation Analysis

Mutation analysis was performed independently by an ophthalmology resident (NvP) and a fellow in ophthalmic pathology (JvI), trained in the evaluation of NGS data. All data were analyzed manually using Integrative Genomics Viewer (IGV) Version 2.3.68 (97) (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA). Furthermore, an automatic filtering of the variant calling files (vcf) was done according to the following criteria: inclusion of the hotspots at *GNAQ/GNA11* (R183 and Q209) and *SF3B1* (R625), and other variants meeting the following criteria: coverage of at least 50 reads and an allele frequency of at least 10%. Single nucleotide pleomorphisms (SNP's), synonymous, intergenic, and intronic variants were excluded, but intronic variants with possible splice effects were scored. Subsequently, the filtered mutations were verified using IGV (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA), and compared to the mutations that were detected manually.

Immunohistochemistry

The presence of a mutation in the *BAP1* gene was also evaluated using *BAP1* immunohistochemistry, clone sc-28383, 1:50 dilution (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA). The samples were scored through masked screening, by an experienced ophthalmic pathologist (RVE).

Survival Analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 25 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Kaplan Meier estimates were used to compare survival between groups. Log-rank test was used to test the null hypothesis that there was no difference in survival. A *p*-value < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. For the purpose of analyzing age related to the mutation, age was categorized into three groups: <50 years, 50–65 years, >65 years, analogous to other literature [28]. Fisher's exact test was used to analyze whether a specific mutation was correlated with a specific clinical or histopathological parameter.

REFERENCES

- Cao, J.; Heijkants, R.C.; Jochemsen, A.G.; Dogrusöz, M.; De Lange, M.J.; Van Der Velden, P.A.; Van Der Burg, S.H.; Jager, M.J.; Verdijk, R.M. Targeting of the MAPK and AKT pathways in conjunctival melanoma shows potential synergy. *Oncotarget* 2017, *8*, 58021–58036, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10770.
- 2. Larsen, A.C.; Dahmcke, C.M.; Dahl, C.; Siersma, V.D.; Toft, P.B.; Coupland, S.E.; Prause, J.U.; Guldberg, P.; Heegaard, S. A retrospective review of conjunctival malignant melanoma presentation, treatment and outcome and an investigation of features associated with BRAF mutations. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* **2015**, *133*, 1295–1303.
- 3. Griewank, K.G.; Westekemper, H.; Murali, R.; Mach, M.; Schilling, B.; Wiesner, T.; Schimming, T.; Livingstone, E.; Sucker, A.; Grabellus, F.; et al. Conjunctival Melanomas Harbor BRAF and NRAS Mutations and Copy Number Changes Similar to Cutaneous and Mucosal Melanomas. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2013**, *19*, 3143–3152, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-13-0163.
- Dalvin, L.A.; Salomão, D.R.; Patel, S.V. Population-based incidence of conjunctival tumours in Olmsted County, Minnesota. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2018**, *102*, 1728–1734, doi:10.1136/ bjophthalmol-2017-311530.
- Missotten, G.S.; Keijser, S.; De Keizer, R.J.W.; De Wolff-Rouendaal, D. Conjunctival Melanoma in The Netherlands: A Nationwide Study. *Investig. Opthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2005, *46*, 75–82, doi:10.1167/iovs.04-0344.
- Rossi, E.; Schinzari, G.; Maiorano, B.A.; Pagliara, M.M.; Di Stefani, A.; Bria, E.; Peris, K.; Blasi, M.A.; Tortora, G. Conjunctival Melanoma: Genetic and Epigenetic Insights of a Distinct Type of Melanoma. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2019, *20*, 5447.
- Zhou, C.; Wang, Y.; Jia, R.; Fan, X. Conjunctival Melanoma in Chinese Patients: Local Recurrence, Metastasis, Mortality, and Comparisons With Caucasian Patients. *Investig. Opthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2017, *58*, 5452–5459, doi:10.1167/iovs.17-22376.
- 8. Wong, J.R.; Nanji, A.A.; Galor, A.; Karp, C.L. Management of conjunctival malignant melanoma: A review and update. *Expert Rev. Oph-thalmol.* **2014**, *9*, 185–204.
- 9. Kujala, E.; Tuomaala, S.; Eskelin, S.; Kivelä, T. Mortality after uveal and conjunctival melanoma: Which tumour is more deadly? *Acta Ophthalmol.* **2009**, *87*, 149–153, doi:10.1111/j.1755-3768.2008.01369.x.
- Esmaeli, B.; Wang, X.; Youssef, A.; Gershenwald, J.E. Patterns of regional and distant metastasis in patients with conjunctival melanoma: Experience at a cancer center over four decades. *Ophthalmology* **2001**, *108*, 2101–2105.
- 11. Paridaens, A.D.; Minassian, D.C.; McCartney, A.C.; Hungerford, J.L. Prognostic factors in primary malignant melanoma of the conjunctiva: A clinicopathological study of 256 cases. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **1994**, *78*, 252–259, doi:10.1136/bjo.78.4.252.
- Smit, K.N.; Van Poppelen, N.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Verdijk, R.; van Marion, R.; Kalirai, H.; Coupland, S.E.; Thornton, S.; Farquhar, N.; Dubbink, H.J.; et al. Combined mutation and copy-number variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma. *Mod. Pathol.* 2018, *31*, 763–771.
- van Ipenburg, J.A.; Naus, N.C.; Dubbink, H.J.; van Ginderdeuren, R.; Missotten, G.S.; Paridaens, D.; Verdijk, R.M. Prognostic value of TERT promoter mutations in conjunctival melanomas in addition to clinicopathological features. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* 2020, doi:10.1136/ bjophthalmol-2020-317405.
- Koopmans, A.E.; Ober, K.; Dubbink, H.J.; Paridaens, D.; Naus, N.C.; Belunek, S.; Krist, B.; Post, E.; Zwarthoff, E.C.; de Klein, A.; et al. Prevalence and Implications of TERT Promoter Mutation in Uveal and Conjunc-tival Melanoma and in Benign and Premalignant Conjunctival Melanocytic Lesions. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2014**, *55*, 6024–6030.
- Scholz, S.L.; Cosgarea, I.; Süßkind, D.; Murali, R.; Möller, I.; Reis, H.; Leonardelli, S.; Schilling, B.; Schimming, T.; Hadaschik, E.; et al. NF1 mutations in conjunctival melanoma. *Br. J. Cancer* 2018, *118*, 1243–1247, doi:10.1038/s41416-018-0046-5.

- Cui, C.; Lian, B.; Zhou, L.; Song, X.; Zhang, X.; Wu, D.; Chi, Z.; Si, L.; Sheng, X.; Kong, Y.; et al. Multifactorial Analysis of Prognostic Factors and Survival Rates Among 706 Mucosal Melanoma Patients. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* **2018**, *25*, 2184–2192, doi:10.1245/s10434-018-6503-9.
- Ellerhorst, J.A.; Greene, V.R.; Ekmekcioglu, S.; Warneke, C.L.; Johnson, M.M.; Cooke, C.P.; Wang, L.E.; Prieto, V.G.; Gershenwald, J.E.; Wei, Q.; et al. Clinical correlates of NRAS and BRAF mutations in primary human melanoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2011**, *17*, 229–235.
- Griewank, K.G.; Murali, R.; Schilling, B.E.; Scholz, S.; Sucker, A.; Song, M.; Susskind, D.; Grabellus, F.; Zimmer, L.O.; Hillen, U.; et al. TERT promoter mutations in ocular melanoma distinguish between conjunctival and uveal tumours. *Br. J. Cancer* **2013**, *109*, 497–501, doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.312.
- 19. Van Raamsdonk, C.D.; Griewank, K.G.; Crosby, M.B.; Garrido, M.C.; Vemula, S.; Wiesner, T.; Obenauf, A.C.; Wackernagel, W.; Green, G.; Bouvier, N.; et al. Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2010**, *363*, 2191–2199.
- Jain, P.; Finger, P.T.; Damato, B.; Coupland, S.E.; Heimann, H.; Kenawy, N.; Brouwer, N.J.; Marinkovic, M.; Van Duinen, S.G.; Caujolle, J.P.; et al. Multicenter, International Assessment of the Eighth Edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer Cancer Staging Manual for Conjunctival Melanoma. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* **2019**, *137*, 905–911, doi:10.1001/ jamaophthalmol.2019.1640.
- 21. Dratwa, M.; Wysoczańska, B.; Lacina, P.; Kubik, T.; Bogunia-Kubik, K. TERT-Regulation and Roles in Cancer Formation. *Front. Immunol.* **2020**, *11*, 589929.
- Torres-Cabala, C.; Li-Ning-Tapia, E.; Hwu, W.-J. Pathology-based Biomarkers Useful for Clinical Decisions in Melanoma. *Arch. Med Res.* 2020, *51*, 827–838, doi:10.1016/j. arcmed.2020.09.008.
- Akincilar, S.C.; Chan, C.H.T.; Ng, Q.F.; Fidan, K.; Tergaonkar, V. Non-canonical roles of canonical telomere binding proteins in cancers. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 2021, 1–23, doi:10.1007/ s00018-021-03783-0.
- 24. Colebatch, A.J.; Dobrovic, A.; Cooper, W.A. TERT gene: Its function and dysregulation in cancer. *J. Clin. Pathol.* **2019**, *72*, 281–284, doi:10.1136/jclinpath-2018-205653.
- 25. Dono, M.; Angelini, G.; Cecconi, M.; Amaro, A.; Esposito, A.I.; Mirisola, V.; Maric, I.; Lanza, F.; Nasciuti, F.; Viaggi, S.; et al. Mutation frequencies of GNAQ, GNA11, BAP1, SF3B1, EIF1AX and TERT in uveal melanoma: Detection of an activating mutation in the TERT gene promoter in a single case of uveal melanoma. *Br. J. Cancer* **2014**, *110*, 1058–1065, doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.804.
- Macerola, E.; Loggini, B.; Giannini, R.; Garavello, G.; Giordano, M.; Proietti, A.; Niccoli, C.; Basolo, F.; Fontanini, G. Coexistence of TERT promoter and BRAF mutations in cutaneous melanoma is associated with more clinicopathological features of aggressiveness. *Virchows Archiv.* 2015, 467, 177–184, doi:10.1007/s00428-015-1784-x.
- Triay, E.; Bergman, L.; Nilsson, B.; All-Ericsson, C.; Seregard, S. Time trends in the incidence of conjunctival melanoma in Sweden. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* 2009, *93*, 1524–1528, doi:10.1136/ bjo.2009.157933.
- Larsen, A.C.; Dahl, C.; Dahmcke, C.M.; Lade-Keller, J.; Siersma, V.D.; Toft, P.B.; Coupland, S.E.; Prause, J.U.; Guldberg, P.; Heegaard, S. BRAF mutations in conjunctival melanoma: Investigation of incidence, clinico-pathological features, prognosis and paired premalignant lesions. *Acta Ophthalmol.* 2016, *94*, 463–470.
- Ascierto, P.A.; Kirkwood, J.M.; Grob, J.-J.; Simeone, E.; Grimaldi, A.M.; Maio, M.; Palmieri, G.; Testori, A.; Marincola, F.M.; Mozzillo, N. The role of BRAF V600 mutation in melanoma. *J. Transl. Med.* 2012, *10*, 1–9, doi:10.1186/1479-5876-10-85.
- 30. Pasquali, S.; Hadjinicolaou, A.V.; Sileni, V.C.; Rossi, C.R.; Mocellin, S. Systemic treatments for metastatic cutaneous melanoma. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* **2018**, *2*, CD011123, doi:10.1002/14651858.cd011123.pub2.
- Kenawy, N.; Kalirai, H.; Sacco, J.J.; Lake, S.L.; Heegaard, S.; Larsen, A.-C.; Finger, P.T.; Milman, T.; Chin, K.; Mosci, C.; et al. Conjunctival melanoma copy number alterations and correlation with mutation status, tumor features, and clinical outcome. Pigment. *Cell Melanoma Res.* 2019, *32*, 564–575, doi:10.1111/pcmr.12767.

- 32. Mor, J.M.; Heindl, L.M. Systemic BRAF/MEK Inhibitors as a Potential Treatment Option in Metastatic Conjunctival Melanoma. *Ocul. Oncol. Pathol.* **2017**, *3*, 133–141.
- 33. Shields, C.L.; Chang, M.; Lally, S.E.; Dalvin, L.A.; Orloff, M.M. Conjunctival melanoma with orbital invasion and liver metastasis managed with systemic immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy. *Indian J. Ophthalmol.* **2019**, *67*, 2071–2073, doi:10.4103/ijo.ijo_663_19.
- Heppt, M.V.; Siepmann, T.; Engel, J.; Schubert-Fritschle, G.; Eckel, R.; Mirlach, L.; Kirchner, T.; Jung, A.; Gesierich, A.; Ruzicka, T.; et al. Prognostic significance of BRAF and NRAS mutations in melanoma: A German study from routine care. *BMC Cancer* 2017, *17*, 536, doi:10.1186/ s12885-017-3529-5.
- Adam, C.; Fusi, L.; Weiss, N.; Goller, S.G.; Meder, K.; Frings, V.G.; Kneitz, H.; Goebeler, M.; Houben, R.; Schrama, D.; et al. Efficient Suppression of NRAS-Driven Melanoma by Co-Inhibition of ERK1/2 and ERK5 MAPK Pathways. J. Investig. Dermatol. 2020, 140, 2455–2465.
- Quek, C.; Rawson, R.V.; Ferguson, P.M.; Shang, P.; Silva, I.; Saw, R.P.; Shannon, K.; Thompson, J.F.; Hayward, N.K.; Long, G.V.; et al. Recurrent hotspot SF3B1 mutations at codon 625 in vulvovaginal muco-sal melanoma identified in a study of 27 Australian mucosal melanomas. *Oncotarget* 2019, *10*, 930–941.
- Van Poppelen, N.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Mudhar, H.S.; Sisley, K.; Rennie, I.G.; Rundle, P.; Brands, T.; Van Den Bosch, Q.C.; Mensink, H.W.; de Klein, A.; et al. Genetic Background of Iris Melanomas and Iris Melanocytic Tumors of Uncertain Malignant Potential. *Ophthalmology* 2018, *125*, 904–912.
- 38. Kong, Y.; Krauthammer, M.; Halaban, R. Rare SF3B1 R625 mutations in cutaneous melanoma. *Melanoma Res.* **2014**, *24*, 332–334, doi:10.1097/cmr.000000000000071.
- Hintzsche, J.D.; Gorden, N.T.; Amato, C.M.; Kim, J.; Wuensch, K.E.; Robinson, S.E.; Applegate, A.J.; Couts, K.L.; Medina, T.M.; Wells, K.R.; et al. Whole-exome sequencing identifies recurrent SF3B1 R625 mutation and comutation of NF1 and KIT in mucosal melanoma. *Melanoma Res.* 2017, *27*, 189–199, doi:10.1097/cmr.00000000000345.
- 40. Yang, H.M.; Hsiao, S.J.; Schaeffer, D.F.; Lai, C.; Remotti, H.E.; Horst, D.; Mansukhani, M.M.; Horst, B.A. Identification of recurrent mutational events in anorectal melanoma. *Mod. Pathol.* **2016**, *30*, 286–296, doi:10.1038/modpathol.2016.179.
- Yavuzyigitoglu, S.; Koopmans, A.E.; Verdijk, R.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Eussen, B.; Van Bodegom, A.; Paridaens, D.; Kiliç, E.; de Klein, A. Uveal Melanomas with SF3B1 Mutations: A Distinct Subclass Associated with Late-Onset Metastases. *Ophthalmology* **2016**, *123*, 1118–1128.
- 42. Pham, D.M.; Guhan, S.; Tsao, H. KIT and Melanoma: Biological Insights and Clinical Implications. *Yonsei Med. J.* **2020**, *61*, 562–571, doi:10.3349/ymj.2020.61.7.562.
- 43. Piris, A.; Mihm, M.C., Jr.; Hoang, M.P. BAP1 and BRAFV600E expression in benign and malignant melanocytic proliferations. *Hum. Pathol.* **2015**, *46*, 239–245.
- 44. Chau, C.; van Doorn, R.; van Poppelen, N.M.; van der Stoep, N.; Mensenkamp, A.R.; Sijmons, R.H.; van Paassen, B.W.; van den Ouweland, A.M.; Naus, N.C.; van der Hout, A.H.; et al. Families with BAP1-Tumor Predisposition Syndrome in The Nether-lands: Path to Identification and a Proposal for Genetic Screening Guidelines. *Cancers* **2019**, *11*, 1114.
- 45. Koopmans, A.E.; Vaarwater, J.; Paridaens, D.; Naus, N.C.; Kiliç, E.; De Klein, A. Patient survival in uveal melanoma is not affected by oncogenic mutations in GNAQ and GNA11. *Br. J. Cancer* **2013**, *109*, 493–496, doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.299.
- Bol, K.F.; Donia, M.; Heegaard, S.; Kiilgaard, J.F.; Svane, I.M. Genetic Biomarkers in Melanoma of the Ocular Region: What the Medical Oncologist Should Know. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2020, *21*, 5231, doi:10.3390/ijms21155231.

Supp	olementary T	able 1. Overview of	genetic mutati	ons			
	SF3B1	BAP1	TERT	NRAS	KIT	PTEN	BRAF
1	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	c.675T>G: p.(Tyr225*)	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
2	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
ŝ	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
4	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
Ś	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
9	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
~	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
80	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
6	wt	wt	wt	c.181C>A: p.(Gln61Lys)	wt	wt	wt
10	wt	wt	c124C>T	wt	wt	c.47dup: p.(Tyr16*)	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
11	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
12	wt	wt	c146C>T	c.181C>A: p.(Gln61Lys)	wt	wt	wt
13	wt	c.1202_1203del: p.(Tyr401*)	c146C>T	c.182A>G: p.(Gln61Arg)	wt	wt	wt
14	wt	wt	с138С>Т с139С>Т	c.182A>G: p.(Gln61Arg)	wt	wt	wt
15	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
16	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	c.1798G>A + c.1799T>A :p.(Val600Lys)
17	wt	c.1144G>A: p.(Gly382Ser)	wt	wt	c.1144G>A: p.(Gly3825er) c.2435G>T: p.(Gly812Val)	c.133G>A: p.(Val45lle) c.701G>A: p.(Arg234Gln)	wt

	SF3B1	BAP1	TERT	NRAS	КІТ	PTEN	BRAF
18	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
19	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799t>a: p.(val600glu)
20	wt	wt	c113C>T c124C>T	wt	wt	wt	wt
21	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt	wt
22	c.1874G>A:p. (Arg625His)	wt	wt	wt	c.1697_1720del:p.(Asn566_ Pro573del)	wt	wt
23	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu)
24	wt	wt	c146C>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1799T>A: p.(Val600Glu) c.1362T>A:p.(Asp454Glu)
25	wt	wt	c146C>T	c.183A>T:p. (Gln61His)	wt	wt	wt
26	wt	c.1729+2T>A	wt	c.34G>C:p. (Gly12Arg)	wt	wt	wt
27	wt	c.1208A>G:p. (Asp403Gly)	c146C28>T	wt	wt	wt	c.1796_1797insCAT:p. (Thr599_Val600insIle)
28	wt	c.935G>A:p. (Gly312Asp)	wt	wt	wt	c.634+1G>A	wt

Chapter 2.3

Chromosomal rearrangements in uveal melanoma: chromothripsis

N.M. van Poppelen, S. Yavuzyigitoglu, K.N. Smit, J. Vaarwater, B. Eussen, T. Brands, D. Paridaens D, E. Kiliç and A. de Klein *Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2018 Sep;57(9):452-458. doi: 10.1002/gcc.4*

ABSTRACT

Uveal melanoma (UM) is the most common primary intraocular malignancy in the Western world. Recurrent mutations in GNAO, GNA11, CYSLTR2, PLCB4, BAP1, EIF1AX, and SF3B1 are described as well as non-random chromosomal aberrations. Chromothripsis is a rare event in which chromosomes are shattered and rearranged and has been reported in a variety of cancers including UM. SNP arrays of 249 UM from patients who underwent enucleation, biopsy or endoresection were reviewed for the presence of chromothripsis. Chromothripsis was defined as ten or more breakpoints per chromosome involved. Genetic analysis of GNAQ, GNA11, BAP1, SF3B1, and EIF1AX was conducted using Sanger and next-generation sequencing. In addition, immunohistochemistry for BAP1 was performed. Chromothripsis was detected in 7 out of 249 tumors and the affected chromosomes were chromosomes 3, 5, 6, 8, 12, and 13. The mean total of fragments per chromosome was 39.8 (range 12-116). In 1 UM, chromothripsis was present in 2 different chromosomes. GNAQ, GNA11 or CYSLTR2 mutations were present in 6 of these tumors and 5 tumors harbored a *BAP1* mutation and/or lacked BAP1 protein expression by immunohistochemistry. Four of these tumors metastasized and for the fifth only short follow-up data are available. One of these metastatic tumors harbored an SF3B1 mutation. No EIF1AX mutations were detected in any of the tumors. To conclude, chromothripsis is a rare event in UM, occurring in 2.8% of samples and without significant association with mutations in any of the common UM driver genes.

INTRODUCTION

Uveal melanoma (UM) is a relative rare disease and has a high mortality rate due to metastasis in about half of all patients within 15 years after diagnosis.¹⁻³ It is the most common primary intra-ocular malignancy in adults in the Western world.⁴ UM specific mutations in the alpha subunit genes GNAQ and GNA11 are described as well as mutations in BAP1, SF3B1 and EIF1AX.⁵⁻⁷ Mutations in the latter three genes are found in approximately 75% of all UM and are useful for prognostication of patients.⁸⁻¹⁰ BAP1-mutated UM gives rise to early-onset metastasis whereas SF3B1-mutated UM gives rise to late-onset metastasis and EIF1AX-mutated UM hardly metastasizes.8 Mutations in PLCB4 and CYSLTR2 are described in UM in a mutually exclusive manner to GNAQ or GNA11 mutations but so far have not been associated with prognosis.^{11, 12} Copy number alterations in chromosomes 1, 3, 6 and 8 are correlated with prognosis of the UM patient.^{13,} ¹⁴ UM with *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1* and *BAP1* mutations are associated with unique chromosomal patterns, suggesting distinct UM subclasses. BAP1-mutated UM harbors entire chromosome copy number variations (CNVs) and entire chromosome arm CNV anomalies (isochromosomes). UM with an SF3B1 mutation is characterized by many structural variants, often affecting the terminal ends of chromosomes and thus not entire chromosomes or chromosome arms.¹⁵ Besides these recurrent CNVs, also other cytogenetic patterns are described such as polyploidy of the genome, which occurs in approximately 10-15% of all UM.¹⁶ Another chromosomal anomaly described in UM is chromothripsis.¹⁴ This is a phenomenon in which many genomic rearrangements occurs in a single chromosome or chromosome arm. It has been described in congenital abnormalities, UM and a variety of other cancers such as bone cancer, lung cancer, myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), colorectal cancer, breast cancer and neuroblastoma.^{14, 17-21} Chromothripsis predicts a poor outcome in skin melanoma and occur in high risk neuroblastoma, breast cancer and MDS.^{18, 20-22} A positive correlation between chromothripsis and progression free survival was observed in metastatic colorectal cancer.¹⁹ The clinical consequence of this phenomenon in UM remains unclear.¹⁴ In this case series we report on chromothripsis in 7/249 UM.

The mechanism of chromothripsis remains elusive but several hypotheses are described such as the formation of micronuclei, premature chromosome compaction (PCC), *TP53* mutations and breakage-fusion bridge cycles or irradiation.²³⁻²⁵ The formation of chromothripsis involving telomere regions and one chromosome arm is described and supports the hypothesis that events during the cell cycle are involved in the formation of these chromosomal rearrangements.²⁶ It is hypothesized that chromothripsis occurs through the formation of micronuclei that arise from lagging chromosomes or chromatid fragments during mitosis.^{17, 27-30} Moreover, these micronuclei are more prone

to DNA damage, with subsequently DNA nuclease repair by non-homologous end joining (NHEJ), which could explain the chromosome reshuffling.^{17, 27, 30, 31}

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Inclusion

Patients with UM that underwent enucleation, endoresection or tumor biopsy at the Erasmus University Medical Center (Rotterdam, The Netherlands) or The Rotterdam Eye Hospital (Rotterdam, The Netherlands) between 1992 and 2017 were selected. SNP (single nucleotide polymorphism) array data of the tumor were available from 249 patients. Chromothripsis was defined as ten or more breakpoints per chromosome detected with SNP array. A breakpoint is present between two fragments with different copy number states in a chromosome. This study was approved by the local ethics committee and followed the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki. Informed consent was obtained prior to treatment.

SNP array

DNA was extracted from fresh tumor samples using the Qlamp DNA-mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions. SNParray was performed using 200 ng of DNA as input for whole-genome analysis (Illumina, San Diego, CA). The data were analyzed with Nexus Copy Number 9.0 software (BioDiscovery Incorporated, El Segundo, CA). The amount of copy number gains and losses was used to determine the number of fragments. The total fragments were counted including copy number neutral fragments as separate fragments.

Mutation detection

Mutation analysis of *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1* and *BAP1* was performed with Sanger sequencing and Ion Torrent next-generation sequencing (NGS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) as described before.³² UM without a *GNAQ* or *GNA11* mutation were sequenced for *PLCB4* and *CYSLTR2*. If the tumor did not harbor a mutation in *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1* or *BAP1*, mutation analysis for *SRSF2* was performed. SeqScape Software 3 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and Integrative Genomics Viewer (IGV) Version 2.3.68 (97) (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA) was used to analyze the data. BAP1 immunohistochemistry (IHC) was scored for the presence of nuclear BAP1 expression and performed as described previously.⁹

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

Chromothripsis was detected in the UM of seven patients. These comprised five women and two men with a mean age at diagnosis of 57.4 years (range 46.2 -73.4 years). Six patients underwent enucleation as primary treatment. In one patient, primary treatment was followed by external beam radiotherapy because of unclear surgical margins. One patient underwent brachytherapy as primary treatment, followed by enucleation almost three years later due to tumor recurrence. Metastasis developed in five patients after 31.9 to 78.7 months. In one patient, a metastasis was located subcutaneously in abdominal skin followed by a local relapse in the orbit. Three years later metastases in the liver and bone were detected. One patient developed metastasis in the bone, lung and paramediastinal nodes. Metastases in the liver were present in two patients, together with cutaneous, muscular and retroperitoneal nodal metastases in one of them. In one patient the location of metastases is unknown. The mean disease free survival (DFS) was 51.5 months (range 15.5 – 99.0 months). In Table 1 an overview of patient characteristics is listed. For none of these patients was a family history including UM or other related cancers documented.

Patient	Sex	Age	DFS	Metastasis	Tumor diameter (mm)	Tumor thickness (mm)	Primary treatment
UM 1	F	46.3	42.7	Yes	14	10	Enucleation
UM 2	М	46.2	78.7	Yes	13	N.a.	Enucleation
UM 3	F	57.4	47.4	Yes	9.5	2	Brachytherapy
UM 4	F	64.1	31.9	Yes	14	12	Enucleation
UM 5	М	55.8	99.0	No	12	4	Enucleation
UM 6	F	73.4	15.5	No	13	7.5	Enucleation
UM 7	F	58.6	45.4	Yes	19	9.5	Enucleation

Table 1. Overview of clinical and tumor characteristics

UM = uveal melanoma; F = female; M = male; Age = age at diagnosis in years; DFS = disease free survival in months; N.a. = data not available.

Tumor characteristics

Six tumors were located in the posterior choroid whereas one UM originated from the ciliary body. Mean largest tumor diameter was 13.5 mm (range 9.5-19 mm) and mean tumor thickness 7.5 mm (range 2 – 12 mm) (Table 1). Three UM contained epithelioid cells and four were classified as spindle cell type. Closed vascular loops were present in two of the seven UM and extra-ocular extensions were found in two cases. Inflammatory infiltrate was insignificant in two tumors and present in three tumors, of which extensively in one. Correlations of

chromothripsis with patient and tumor characteristics were not performed due to the limited number of cases.

BAP1 expression was present in three cases and absent in four cases. Mutation analysis was performed in all seven tumors (Figure 1). A mutation in GNAQ,c.626A>C:p.(Gln209Pro), was detected in two tumors. A GNA11 c.626A>T:p. (Gln209Leu) mutation was detected in the UM of three patients. The two UM without a GNAQ or GNA11 mutation did not harbor a mutation in PLCB4 but in one tumor a c.386T>A:p(Leu129Gln) in CYSLTR2 was detected (UM 6). One c.1873C>T:p.(Arg625Cys) mutation in SF3B1 was found (UM 1) but all tumors were wildtype for *EIF1AX*. *BAP1* mutations were detected in four patients: a c.89A>G:p. (Glu31Gly) (UM 2), a c.172 173del:p.(Ser58Profs*10) (UM 6), a c.206 207insA:p. (Thr69Asnfs*5) (UM 7) and a mutation two base pairs after exon 5 (c.375+2T>C) (UM 4) resulting in alternative splicing with a premature stop before the next predicted splice site (prediction in Alamut Visual, Interactive Biosoftware, Rouen, France). Three of these four *BAP1*-mutated UM had an absent BAP1 expression. In one tumor a BAP1 mutation was not detected with NGS, although IHC revealed lack of BAP1 expression. The two UM without a mutation in EIF1AX, SF3B1 and BAP1 were wildtype for SRSF2 as well. Polyploidy occurred in two out of seven UM. See Figure 1 for an overview of mutation status and BAP1 IHC.



Figure 1. Overview of patient and tumor characteristics of uveal melanoma with chromothripsis. The first row of blocks represents the mutation status of *GNAQ* and *GNA11*. In UM 5 no mutation in *CYSLTR2* was detected and in UM 5 and UM 6 no mutations in *PLCB4* were found. In the second row of blocks the mutation status of *BAP1* and *SF3B1* is given. None of the UM harbor an *EIF1AX* mutation and UM 3 and UM 6 do not have a mutation in *SRSF2*. The third row of blocks represents the BAP1 IHC staining. Chromosome 3 status of the tumor, whether a patient developed metastasis, the overall survival in years, the chromosome(s) with chromothripsis and the number of fragments per chromosome with chromothripsis are given below. UM = uveal melanoma; D = disomy; M = monosomy; LOH = loss of heterozygosity. *Polyploid tumor.

Chromothripsis

Eight chromosomes showed chromothripsis (Figure 2). One tumor harbored chromothripsis in two separate chromosomes (UM 5; Figure 3). UM 7 (chromothripsis of chromosome 13) showed eight fragments in chromosome 16 as well. However, since this did not meet our criteria of ten fragments, this chromosome was not included for further analysis. Chromosome 3 and 6 were affected in two UM. Regarding chromosome 3, the breakpoints were not present in the *BAP1* gene. Other affected chromosomes were chromosome 5, 8, 12 and 13. The mean of the total fragments per chromosome was 39.8 (range 12-116, Figure 1). In four of the eight chromosomes, the B-allele frequencies indicates more than two copy number states of the separate chromosome fragments (Figure 2A and 3). In five cases (UM 2, UM 3, UM 4, UM 5 and UM 6) DNA from blood was available for germline analysis using SNP array. No chromothripsis was observed in these samples.

DISCUSSION

Recurrent chromosomal aberrations have been described in detail in UM, which are strongly correlated to the mutation status.^{15, 33, 34} In this paper, another chromosomal aberration, called chromothripsis, is described. Chromothripsis is characterized by ten to hundreds of chromosome fragments that are shattered and randomly rearranged.¹⁷ This is found in several malignancies with a mean pan-cancer prevalence of 1-2%.^{14, 31, 35} Similar to other malignancies, chromothripsis is also rare in UM. In one study chromothripsis was observed in 2/25 UM.¹⁴ We detected chromothripsis in 2.8% of the UM which is in line with the low frequency rate as previously described.

A relation between prognosis and chromothripsis has been reported in several studies on different malignancies. In high risk neuroblastoma, breast cancer and MDS, chromothripsis is correlated with a poor outcome while in metastatic colorectal cancer a better progression free-survival has been described.^{15,17-19} Probably metastases with chromothripsis respond better to therapy while the metastatic rate is higher in cancers harboring chromothripsis. This might be true in UM as well; however, no standardized treatment for metastatic UM is available yet. When such treatment is available it might be interesting to compare the response to therapy in UM with and without chromothripsis. Metastatic disease was present in five out of seven patients in this report. Four of the metastasizing tumors harbored a *BAP1* mutation and or lacked BAP1 expression and in one tumor an *SF3B1* mutation was present. One of the two patients without metastatic disease did not harbor a *BAP1* or *SF3B1* mutation in the tumor and the IHC showed a positive BAP1 expression while from the other patient (harboring a *BAP1* mutation in the tumor) only short

follow-up data were available (16 months). The overall poor prognosis of this cohort could be explained by the mutations in *BAP1* and *SF3B1* since it is known that mutations in these genes are correlated with a high risk of metastasis.^{8, 10} Therefore, there is no indication that chromothripsis itself causes metastatic disease, but it is possible that the rate of *SF3B1* and *BAP1* mutations is higher in UM with chromothripsis.



Figure 2. Two examples of chromothripsis. **A)** UM 1 showing chromothripsis of chromosome arm 6q with an additional gain of the terminal short arm of chromosome 6. Note the 3 different copy number states in the chromothriptic chromosome. **B)** UM 4 showing chromothripsis of chromosome 3.



Figure 3. A case with 2 chromothriptic chromosomes. UM 5 showing chromothripsis of **A**) chromosome 6 and **B**) chromosome 8. Note the 3 copy number states and a general gain of the entire chromosomes.

Other features of UM and the relation to chromothripsis could have a clinical impact. In this cohort there were no UM with a hyper mutable status, features of microsatellite instability or an indication of germline mutations causing UM. Consequently, the relation between chromothripsis and these tumor characteristics can not be determined. In about half of the UM, inflammation was present. The tumor with extensive inflammation was the UM with a *BAP1* mutation but without metastatic disease. No conclusions about the immunogenicity can be drawn because of the small numbers of UM with inflammation. Further studies are needed to elucidate these relations and the outcome of patients with chromothriptic UM.

There are several risk factors known for chromothripsis such as irradiation.²³ In one case, brachytherapy was followed by enucleation. Therefore, the chromothripsis in this UM could be an irradiation effect. Other factors correlated with chromothripsis formation are hyper- and polyploidization.^{36, 37} For a long time it was assumed that chromothriptic chromosomes only have two copy number states.^{17, 30, 31} However, an observation was made in a subtype of acute lymphoblastic leukemia, in which more copy number states were found in chromothriptic chromosomes.³⁸ In this study, two of the seven UM (29%) were polyploid. Since polyploidy occurs in only 11% of all large UM¹⁶ and chromothripsis is a rare event, this could explain the co-occurrence of polyploid UM with chromothripsis. In addition, in our cohort, seven out of eight chromothriptic chromosomes harbored more than two chromosomes. This observation was also made in the only other study that described two cases of UM with chromothripsis.¹⁴ This suggests that chromothripsis occurs in already duplicated chromosomes. Altered chromosomes might even be more susceptible to chromosome lagging, as 50% of the chromosomes with chromothripsis in this study have more than two copy number states.³⁸ Furthermore, chromothripsis can occur in more than one chromosome in the same tumor.17

In our cohort, more than one chromosome was affected in one tumor. It is noteworthy that the affected chromosomes in this study included chromosomes 3, 6 and 8, since copy number variations in these chromosomes are correlated with mutation status in UM.¹⁵ This is in line with other studies in which chromothripsis occur among known cancer driver genes.^{25, 39} Nevertheless, chromothripsis-like patterns across different tumor types showed a limited preference according to chromosome size. However, chromosome 17 was most frequently affected and to a lesser degree chromosomes 8,11 and 12 in another study.²⁶ This could be explained by the fact that chromosome 17 also harbors *TP53*, an important cancer associated gene, which is correlated to chromothripsis as well.²⁵

To conclude, chromothripsis is a complex event that occurs in a variety of cancers.^{14, 18, 20, 25, 26, 40} This study shows chromothripsis in almost 3% of UM affecting different chromosomes. Limitation of this study was the small number of cases with chromothripsis. Although a large patient cohort was investigated, the rare occurrence of chromothripsis prohibited proper statistical analyses. Further studies are needed to investigate the evolutionary advantage of this complex chromosomal aberration.

REFERENCES

- 1. Isager P, Østerlind A, Engholm G, Heegaard S, Lindegaard J, Overgaard J, Storm HH. 2005. Uveal and conjunctival malignant melanoma in Denmark, 1943-97: Incidence and validation study. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol.* 12:223–232.
- 2. Kujala E, Makitie T, Kivela T. 2003. Very long-term prognosis of patients with malignant uveal melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 44:4651–4659.
- 3. Cohen VM, Carter MJ, Kemeny A, Radatz M, Rennie IG. 2003. Metastasis-free survival following treatment for uveal melanoma with either stereotactic radiosurgery or enucleation. *Acta Ophthalmol Scand.* 81:383–388.
- 4. Singh AD, Turell ME, Topham AK. 2011. Uveal melanoma: Trends in incidence, treatment, and survival. *Ophthalmology*. 118:1881–1885.
- 5. Dono M, Angelini G, Cecconi M, et al. 2014. Mutation frequencies of GNAQ, GNA11, BAP1, SF3B1, EIF1AX and TERT in uveal melanoma: Detection of an activating mutation in the tert gene promoter in a single case of uveal melanoma. *Br J Cancer.* 110:1058–1065.
- 6. Onken MD, Worley LA, Long MD, et al. 2008. Oncogenic mutations in GNAQ occur early in uveal melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 49:5230–5234.
- 7. Van Raamsdonk CD, Griewank KG, Crosby MB, et al. 2010. Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. *N Engl J Med.* 363:2191–2199.
- 8. Yavuzyigitoglu S, Koopmans AE, Verdijk RM, et al. 2016. Uveal melanomas with SF3B1 mutations: A distinct subclass associated with late-onset metastases. *Ophthalmology.* 123:1118–1128.
- 9. Koopmans AE, Verdijk RM, Brouwer RWW, et al. 2014. Clinical significance of immunohistochemistry for detection of BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma. *Mod Pathol.* 27:1321– 1330.
- 10. Decatur CL, Ong E, Garg N, et al. 2016. Driver mutations in uveal melanoma: Associations with gene expression profile and patient outcomes. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 134:728–733.
- 11. Moore AR, Ceraudo E, Sher JJ, et al. 2016. Recurrent activating mutations of g-proteincoupled receptor CYSLTR2 in uveal melanoma. *Nat Genet.* 48:675–680.
- 12. Johansson P, Aoude LG, Wadt K, et al. 2016. Deep sequencing of uveal melanoma identifies a recurrent mutation in PLCB4. *Oncotarget.* 7:4624–4631.
- 13. Aalto Y, Eriksson L, Seregard S, Larsson O, Knuutila S. 2001. Concomitant loss of chromosome 3 and whole arm losses and gains of chromosome 1, 6, or 8 in metastasizing primary uveal melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 42:313–317.
- 14. van Engen-van Grunsven ACH, Baar MP, Pfundt R, et al. 2015. Whole-genome copy-number analysis identifies new leads for chromosomal aberrations involved in the oncogenesis and metastastic behavior of uveal melanomas. *Melanoma Res.* 25:200–209.
- 15. Yavuzyigitoglu S, Drabarek W, Smit KN, et al. 2017. Correlation of gene mutation status with copy number profile in uveal melanoma. *Ophthalmology*. 124:573–575.
- 16. Yavuzyigitoglu S, Mensink HW, Smit KN, et al. 2016. Metastatic disease in polyploid uveal melanoma patients is associated with BAP1 mutations. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 57:2232–2239.
- 17. Stephens PJ, Greenman CD, Fu B, et al. 2011. Massive genomic rearrangement acquired in a single catastrophic event during cancer development. *Cell*. 144:27–40.
- 18. Przybytkowski E, Lenkiewicz E, Barrett MT, et al. 2014. Chromosome-breakage genomic instability and chromothripsis in breast cancer. *BMC Genom.* 15:579.
- 19. Skuja E, Kalniete D, Nakazawa-Miklasevica M, et al. 2017. Chromothripsis and progressionfree survival in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Mol Clin Oncol.* 6:182–186.
- 20. Abáigar M, Robledo C, Benito R, et al. 2016. Chromothripsis is a recurrent genomic abnormality in high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. *PLoS One* 11:e0164370.
- 21. Molenaar JJ, Koster J, Zwijnenburg DA, et al. 2012. Sequencing of neuroblastoma identifies chromothripsis and defects in neuritogenesis genes. *Nature.* 483:589–593.
- 22. Hirsch D, Kemmerling R, Davis S, et al. 2013. Chromothripsis and focal copy number alterations determine poor outcome in malignant melanoma. *Cancer Res.* 73:1454–1460.

- 23. Morishita M, Muramatsu T, Suto Y, et al. 2016. Chromothripsis-like chromosomal rearrangements induced by ionizing radiation using proton microbeam irradiation system. *Oncotarget.* 7:10182–10192.
- 24. Crasta K, Ganem NJ, Dagher R, et al. 2012. DNA breaks and chromosome pulverization from error in mitosis. *Nature.* 482:53–58.
- 25. Rausch T, Jones DTW, Zapatka M, et al. 2012. Genome sequencing of pediatric medulloblastoma links catastrophic DNA rearrangements with TP53 mutations. *Cell.* 148:59–71.
- 26. Cai H, Kumar N, Bagheri HC, von Mering C, Robinson MD, Baudis M. 2014. Chromothripsislike patterns are recurring but heterogeneously distributed features in a survey of 22,347 cancer genome screens. *BMC Genom.* 15:82.
- 27. Ernst A, Jones DTW, Maass KK, et al. 2016. Telomere dysfunction and chromothripsis. *Int J Cancer.* 138:2905–2914.
- 28. Maciejowski J, de Lange T. 2017. Telomeres in cancer: Tumour suppression and genome instability. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 18:175–186.
- 29. Maciejowski J, Li Y, Bosco N, Campbell PJ, de Lange T. 2015. Chromothripsis and kataegis induced by telomere crisis. *Cell*. 163:1641–1654.
- 30. Storchova Z, Kloosterman WP. 2016. The genomic characteristics and cellular origin of chromothripsis. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 40:106–113.
- 31. Rode A, Maass KK, Willmund KV, Lichter P, Ernst A. 2016. Chromothripsis in cancer cells: An update. *Int J Cancer.* 138:2322–2333.
- 32. Smit KN, van Poppelen NM, Vaarwater J, et al. 2018. Combined mutation and copy-number variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma. *Mod Pathol.* [Epub ahead of print]
- 33. Dogrusoz M, Jager MJ, Damato B. 2017. Uveal melanoma treatment and prognostication. *Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila).* 6:186–196.
- 34. Höglund M, Gisselsson D, Hansen GB, et al. 2004. Dissecting karyotypic patterns in malignant melanomas: Temporal clustering of losses and gains in melanoma karyotypic evolution. *Int J Cancer.* 108:57–65.
- 35. Leibowitz ML, Zhang CZ, Pellman D. 2015. Chromothripsis: A new mechanism for rapid karyotype evolution. *Annu Rev Genet.* 49:183–211.
- 36. Mardin BR, Drainas AP, Waszak SM, et al. 2015. A cell-based model system links chromothripsis with hyperploidy. *Mol Syst Biol.* 11:828.
- 37. Notta F, Chan-Seng-Yue M, Lemire M, et al. 2016. A renewed model of pancreatic cancer evolution based on genomic rearrangement patterns. *Nature.* 538:378–382.
- 38. Li Y, Schwab C, Ryan S, et al. 2014. Constitutional and somatic rearrangement of chromosome 21 in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Nature.* 508:98–102.
- 39. Tang M-HE, Dahlgren M, Brueffer C, et al. 2015. Remarkable similarities of chromosomal rearrangements between primary human breast cancers and matched distant metastases as revealed by whole-genome sequencing. *Oncotarget*. 6:37169–37184.
- 40. van den Broek E, Dijkstra MJJ, Krijgsman O, et al. 2015. High prevalence and clinical relevance of genes affected by chromosomal breaks in colorectal cancer. *PLoS One.* 10:e0138141.

Chapter 2.4

SRSF2 mutations in uveal melanoma: a preference for in-frame deletions?

N.M. van Poppelen, W. Drabarek, K.N. Smit, J. Vaarwater, T. Brands, D. Paridaens, E. Kiliç and A. de Klein *Cancers (Basel). 2019 Aug 17;11(8):1200. doi: 10.3390/cancers11081200.*

ABSTRACT

Background

Uveal melanoma (UM) is the most common primary ocular malignancy in adults in the Western world. UM with a mutation in SF3B1, a spliceosome gene, is characterized by three or more structural changes of chromosome 1, 6, 8, 9, or 11. Also UM without a mutation in *SF3B1* harbors similar chromosomal aberrations. Since, in addition to *SF3B1*, mutations in *U2AF1* and *SRSF2* have also been observed in hematological malignancies, UM without a *SF3B1* mutation -but with the characteristic chromosomal pattern- might harbor mutations in one of these genes.

Methods

42 UMs were selected based on their chromosomal profile and wildtype *SF3B1* status. Sanger sequencing covering the *U2AF1* (exon 2 and 7) hotspots and *SRSF2* (exon 1 and 2) was performed on DNA extracted from tumor tissue. Data of three UM with an *SRSF2* mutation was extracted from the The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA).

Results

Heterozygous in-frame *SRSF2* deletions affecting amino acids 92–100 were detected in two UMs (5%) of 42 selected tumors and in three TGCA UM specimens. Both the UM with an SRSF2 mutation from our cohort and the UM samples from the TCGA showed more than four structural chromosomal aberrations including (partial) gain of chromosome 6 and 8, although in two TCGA UMs monosomy 3 was observed.

Conclusions

Whereas in myelodysplastic syndrome predominantly missense *SRSF2* mutations are described, the observed *SRSF2* mutations in UM are all in-frame deletions of 8–9 amino acids. This suggests that the R625 missense *SF3B1* mutations and *SRSF2* mutations in UM are different compared to the spliceosome gene mutations in hematological cancers, and probably target a different, as yet unknown, set of genes involved in uveal melanoma etiology.

INTRODUCTION

Uveal melanoma (UM) is a primary malignant ocular tumor arising from melanocytes in the uvea which consist of iris, ciliary body, and choroid. Symptoms are present in the majority of patients with the most common presenting symptom being change in vision. Other presenting symptoms include photopsia and floaters.¹ Metastatic disease with predominantly metastasis to the liver, develops in almost half of all UM patients causing a poor prognosis.^{1,2} Several prognostic factors are described with mutations in BAP1, SF3B1, and EIF1AX, with or without loss of chromosome 3, as important predictors of survival.^{3,4} Tumors of uveal melanoma (UM) patients with somatic BAP1, SF3B1, or EIF1AX mutations show a distinct chromosomal copy number variation (CNV) pattern. Whereas *EIF1AX*^{mut} tumors in general lack gross anomalies, *BAP1*^{mut} tumors display monosomy 3 and isochromosome formation. SF3B1^{mut} tumors are characterized by three or more structural variants, usually of chromosomes 1, 6, 8, 9, and 11.⁵ However, not all UMs with a typical SF3B1^{mut} CNV harbor a mutation in the SF3B1 component of the spliceosome complex. As in myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and MDS-related diseases (such as chronic myelomonocytic leukemia and acute myeloid leukemia) in which mutations in other genes of the spliceosome complex such as SRSF2 and U2AF1 are described,⁶⁻¹⁰ mutations in SRSF2 and other spliceosome factors are also observed in UM.¹¹ Typical MDS-related mutations in SRSF2 involve codon 95 and are missense mutations resulting in an amino acid change (in 74% of patients with an SRSF2 mutation) or in-frame deletions starting at this codon (26%).⁸ Missense mutations in U2AF1 in MDS are almost exclusively described in codon 34 (p.Ser34Phe and p.Ser34Tyr), 156 (Arg156His), or 157 (p.Gln157Arg and p.Gln157Pro).^{7,12} Therefore, mutation analysis of SRSF2 and U2AF1 covering these hotspots was performed on UM tumors with no SF3B1 mutation but with an SF3B1-like chromosomal CNV pattern.

RESULTS

Heterozygous in-frame deletions starting at codon 92 of *SRSF2* were identified in two of the selected 42 UM (p.(Tyr92_His99del); p.(Gly93_His100del)), (Figure 1). These mutations were mutually exclusive for *BAP1*, *SF3B1*, and *ElF1AX* but harbored a *GNAQ* p.(Gln209Leu) mutation (Table 1).



Figure 1. Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array profile with the B-allele frequency from two uveal melanoma samples with an *SRSF2* mutation. On the x-axes the chromosomes are displayed. **A)** Uveal melanoma 1 (UM1). **B)** Uveal melanoma 2 (UM2).

	UM 1	UM 2
Clinical characteris	stics	
Sex	Female	Male
Age at diagnosis (years)	63.0	57.3
Metastasis	No	No
Disease free survival (months)	76.8	128.8
Mutation status		
SRSF2	Chr17(GRCh37):g.74732946_ 74732969del c.274_297del:p.(Tyr92_His99del)	Chr17(GRCh37):g.74732943_ 74732966del c.277_300del:p.(Gly93_His100del)
U2AF1	Wildtype	Wildtype
GNAQ	Chr9(GRCh37):g.80409488T>A c.626A>T:p.(Gln209Leu)	Chr9(GRCh37):g.80409488T>A c.626A>T:p.(Gln209Leu)
GNA11	Wildtype	Wildtype
SF3B1	Wildtype	Wildtype
BAP1	Wildtype	Wildtype
EIF1AX	Wildtype	Wildtype
Canada and and a second		

Table 1. Overview of clinical characteristics, mutation status and copy number variation of uvealmelanoma (UM) patients with an SRSF2 mutation

UM1 originates from the ciliary body and consists of mixed cell type with the presence of closed vascular loops. Largest tumor diameter was 19 mm with a prominence of 8mm. The other UM, UM2, arose from the choroid and consist of spindle cells. No closed vascular loops were present and there was no involvement of the ciliary body. The largest tumor diameter was 13 mm with a prominence of 5 mm with no extraocular extension.

2q, 6p, 8, 11, 17, 20q

1p, 3, 4q, 12p

(Partial) gain of

chromosome (Partial) loss of

chromosome

6, 8, 21

9p, 15

Both UMs showed more than four chromosomal aberrations including gain of chromosome 6 and 8. The single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array profiles of these tumors are shown in Figure 2. Both patients did not develop metastatic disease and have a disease-free survival of 76.8 and 128.8 months, respectively. In none of the 42 samples a mutation in *U2AF1* was detected.



	SRSF2	U2AF1	GNAQ	GNA11	BAP1	EIF1AX
1. ROMS	c.274_297del:p.(Tyr92_His99del)	Wildtype	c.626A>T:p.(Gln209Leu)	Wildtype	Wildtype	Wildtype
2. ROMS	c.277_300del:p.(Gly93_His100del)	Wildtype	c.626A>T:p.(Gln209Leu)	Wildtype	Wildtype	Wildtype
3. TCGA	c.274_297del:p.(Tyr92_His99del)	Wildtype	c.626A>T:p.(Gln209Leu)	Wildtype	Wildtype	Wildtype
4. TCGA	c.274_300del:p.(Tyr92_His100del)	Wildtype	Wildtype	c.626A>T:p.(Gln209Leu)	Wildtype	Wildtype
5. TCGA	c.519_536del:p.(Ser174_Ser179del)	Wildtype	Wildtype	c.626A>T:p.(Gln209Leu)	c.518A>G:p.(Tyr173Cys)	Wildtype
ROMS = Roi	tterdam Ocular Melanoma Studygrou	up; TCGA = Th	e Cancer Genome Atlas.			

Table 2. Overview of mutations in uveal melanoma samples with an SRSF2 or U2AF1 mutation

Three previously described *SRSF2* mutations were found in the data from the The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database.¹¹ CNV analysis showed loss of chromosome 3 in two UMs and gain of chromosome 8(q) in all three UMs. Gain of chromosome 1p was also present in two UMs and gain of chromosome 6 in one sample. Two UMs have a p.(Gln209Leu) mutation in *GNAQ* and one harbors a *GNA11* mutation (p.(Gln209Leu)), (Table 2). No mutations in *EIF1AX* were detected, but one UM has *BAP1* mutation (c.518A > G:p.(Tyr173Cys)).

DISCUSSION

In this study we identified deletions in SRSF2 in two UM harboring an SF3B1 specific SNP array pattern albeit with no mutations of the SF3B1 hotspot regions. Studies have shown that in myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) SRSF2 was mutated in 12–14% of the cases and mutations in U2AF1 occur in 15% of the MDS cases.^{7,8} This is a higher frequency compared to UM, in which SRSF2 mutations are detected in less than 5% of the specimens and no U2AF1 mutations have been identified.¹¹ Three SRSF2 mutated UMs described in the literature are included in The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA, https://cancergenome.nih.gov/). Two out of these harbor similar deletions (Table 2) as we have identified in our cohort, and are mutually exclusive with BAP1 and EIF1AX, similar to our own observations. The third SRSF2 mutation from TCGA is a deletion of amino acid 174–179 and co-exists with a BAP1 mutation. Surprisingly, this tumor showed a BAP1 specific CNV profile, indicating that latter deletion of residues 174–179 has no or little pathogenic effect. However, other spliceosome gene mutations can underlie UM pathogenesis but might not display the same chromosomal anomalies as described in SF3B1.5 Furthermore, the low incidence of SRSF2 mutations in UM suggests that other genes of the splicing machinery, such as U2AF35 or ZRSR2, might be mutated. Mutations in other splicing genes than SF3B1 could be less frequently involved in the development of UM compared to MDS in which mutations in several splicing genes have been identified.^{6,9,10}

Since Sanger sequencing was used for mutation analysis, we have focused on the hotspot regions of *U2AF1* and *SRSF2* that are described in UM and other diseases. More extensive research about mutations in all coding regions of these genes could increase the incidence.

Compared to *SRSF2* mutations in MDS in which the vast majority are missense mutations,⁸ we observed a preference for in-frame deletions in UM. Also, for *SF3B1* in UM residue R625 is most commonly mutated residue, whereas in other tumors predominantly the K700 residue of *SF3B1* is affected.^{6,11} Thus, although the same gene is involved, mutations occur on different residues in distinct diseases. Furthermore, studying the RNA expression of *SRSF2* mutated UM from

TGCA, we did not observe the same splicing effect as observed in *SF3B1* mutated UM. These findings suggest that *SF3B1* mutations compared to mutations in *SRSF2* have, despite a similar chromosomal pattern, a different effect on splicing.

Since we observed *SRSF2* mutations in only two patients the clinical impact of this mutation remains unclear. However, both patients with an *SRSF2* mutation in our cohort did not develop metastasis within 6 and 10 years, neither did the patients from TCGA. In chronic myelomonocytic leukemia no difference in overall survival was observed, and not in MDS when corrected for age.^{8,10} Future studies are needed to evaluate the role of other splicing genes than *SF3B1* in UM.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients with an *SF3B1*-like chromosomal pattern were selected from the Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma Study group (ROMS) database. These UM patients underwent enucleation or biopsy of the tumor in the Erasmus Medical Center (Rotterdam, The Netherlands) or The Rotterdam Eye Hospital (Rotterdam, the Netherlands) between 1993 and 2017. Informed consent from all patients was obtained before collecting the tumor material. This study was performed according to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the local ethics committee (MEC-2009-375, 12th November 2009).

DNA was isolated from fresh tumor tissue using the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and concentrations measured using the Quant-iT PicoGreen dsDNA Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Two hundred nanograms of DNA input was used for SNP array analysis using an Illumina Human SNP array platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Copy number analysis was performed using Nexus Copy Number 8.0 (BioDiscovery, El Segundo, CA, USA). Moreover, karyotyping was used for CNV analysis when available. Patients were selected from the cohort described previously.⁵

In general, an *SF3B1*-like chromosomal pattern is defined as a combination of three structural variations in SNP array analysis of the tumor (usually this includes either partial gain of chromosome 8q or 9q or partial loss of chromosome 1p or 11q).⁵ In addition, UM with gain of chromosome 6p or loss of 6q in addition to one or two other anomalies were also included since these anomalies are also specific for *SF3B1* mutated tumors, whereas this is not seen in *EIF1AX* or *BAP1* mutated UM. Moreover, solely gain of chromosome 6p was only included when the tumor did not harbor an *EIF1AX* mutation, because gain of chromosome 6p is only representative for *SF3B1* and *EIF1AX* mutated UM.

The two coding exons of the *SRSF2* gene were sequenced using Sanger sequencing with primers for these regions (pxlence, Dendermonde, Belgium). The mutation hotspots in *U2AF1* were sequenced with primers covering codon 34, 156, and 157. Sanger sequence results were visualized with SeqScapeSoftware V3.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and SeqPilot V4.3.0 (JSI medical systems GmbH, Ettenheim, Germany).

Mutation analysis of *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *SF3B1*, *BAP1*, and *EIF1AX* was performed previously using Sanger sequencing and next-generation sequencing using the ION Torrent platform (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA).^{5,13} A *BAP1* mutation was defined as a mutation in the *BAP1* gene or lack of nuclear BAP1 expression (performed as described previously).¹⁴

The UM cohort from the National Institute of Health TCGA server (n = 80) was used for mutation analysis of *SRSF2* and *U2AF1* using Integrative Genomics Viewer (Version 2.3.68 (97) (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA). If a mutation in one of these genes was identified, copy number analysis was performed on the segmented SNP array data using Nexus Copy Number 8.0 (BioDiscovery, El Segundo, CA, USA).

CONCLUSIONS

UMs harbor chromosomal aberrations correlated with their mutation status.⁵ Mutations in SF3B1 and SRSF2, genes that are both involved in splicing, occur not only in UM but are described in MDS and MDS related diseases as well.^{8,11,15} However, the mutation type in these genes are different in both diseases. In UM, SF3B1 is almost exclusively a missense mutation at residue 625 whereas in other diseases residue 700 is mutated.^{6,11} In *SRSF2*, a different type of mutation is also observed in UM compared to MDS and MDS related diseases, but the same region is involved. We identified in-frame deletions of SRSF2 in UM in the same genetic region, whereas most mutations in the same gene in MDS are missense mutations.⁸ Therefore, we conclude that there might be a preference for inframe deletions in SRSF2 in UM when this gene is involved. We did not observe any mutation in U2AF1 in our selected cohort, and the incidence of mutations of SRSF2 is low. Although we have a selected cohort which might influence the incidence, this is in line with previous studies, in which no or few mutations in these genes are found in UM patients.^{11,16,17} The clinical relevance of CNV pattern and the relation to spliceosome mutations remains unclear. More research is needed to evaluate the significance of these findings.
REFERENCES

- 1. Delgado-Ramos, G.M.; Thomas, F.; VanderWalde, A.; King, B.; Wilson, M.; Pallera, A.M. Risk factors, clinical outcomes, and natural history of uveal melanoma: A single-institution analysis. *Med. Oncol.* **2019**, *36*, 17.
- 2. Vichitvejpaisal, P.; Dalvin, L.A.; Mazloumi, M.; Ewens, K.G.; Ganguly, A.; Shields, C.L. Genetic Analysis of Uveal Melanoma in 658 Patients using The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) Classification of Uveal Melanoma as A, B, C & D. *Ophthalmology* **2019**, *126*:1445-1453
- Yavuzyigitoglu, S.; Koopmans, A.E.; Verdijk, R.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Eussen, B.; Van Bodegom, A.; Paridaens, D.; Kiliç, E; de Klein, A.; Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma Study Group. Uveal Melanomas with *SF3B1* Mutations: A Distinct Subclass Associated with Late-Onset Metastases. *Ophthalmology* **2016**, *123*, 1118–1128.
- 4. Ewens, K.G.; Kanetsky, P.A.; Richards-Yutz, J.; Purrazzella, J.; Shields, C.L.; Ganguly, T.; Ganguly, A. Chromosome 3 status combined with *BAP1* and *EIF1AX* mutation profiles are associated with metastasis in uveal melanoma. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **2014**, *55*, 5160–5167.
- 5. Yavuzyigitoglu, S.; Drabarek, W.; Smit, K.N.; van Poppelen, N.; Koopmans, A.E.; Vaarwater, J.; Brands, T.; Eussen, B.; Dubbink, H.J.; van Riet, J.; et al. Correlation of Gene Mutation Status with Copy Number Profile in Uveal Melanoma. *Ophthalmology* **2017**, *124*, 573–575.
- 6. Yoshida, K.; Sanada, M.; Shiraishi, Y.; Nowak, D.; Nagata, Y.; Yamamoto, R.; Sato, Y.; Sato-Otsubo, A.; Kon, A.; Nagasaki, M.; et al. Frequent pathway mutations of splicing machinery in myelodysplasia. *Nature* **2011**, *478*, 64–69.
- 7. Tefferi, A.; Mudireddy, M.; Finke, C.M.; Nicolosi, M.; Lasho, T.L.; Hanson, C.A.; Patnaik, M.M.; Pardanani, A.; Gangat, N. *U2AF1* mutation variants in myelodysplastic syndromes and their clinical correlates. *Am. J. Hematol.* **2018**, *93*, E146–E148.
- 8. Wu, S.J.; Kuo, Y.Y.; Hou, H.A.; Li, L.Y.; Tseng, M.H.; Huang, C.F.; Lee, F.Y.; Liu, M.C.; Liu, C.W.; Lin, C.T.; et al. The clinical implication of *SRSF2* mutation in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome and its stability during disease evolution. *Blood* **2012**, *120*, 3106–3111.
- 9. Je, E.M.; Yoo, N.J.; Kim, Y.J.; Kim, M.S.; Lee, S.H. Mutational analysis of splicing machinery genes *SF3B1*, *U2AF1* and *SRSF2* in myelodysplasia and other common tumors. *Int. J. Cancer* **2013**, *133*, 260–265.
- Meggendorfer, M.; Roller, A.; Haferlach, T.; Eder, C.; Dicker, F.; Grossmann, V.; Kohlmann, A.; Alpermann, T.; Yoshida, K.; Ogawa, S.; et al. SRSF2 mutations in 275 cases with chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML). *Blood* **2012**, *120*, 3080–3088.
- Field, M.G.; Durante, M.A.; Anbunathan, H.; Cai, L.Z.; Decatur, C.L.; Bowcock, A.M.; Kurtenbach, S.; Harbour, J.W. Punctuated evolution of canonical genomic aberrations in uveal melanoma. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 116.
- Graubert, T.A.; Shen, D.; Ding, L.; Okeyo-Owuor, T.; Lunn, C.L.; Shao, J.; Krysiak, K.; Harris, C.C.; Koboldt, D.C.; Larson, D.E.; et al. Recurrent mutations in the U2AF1 splicing factor in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Nat. Genet.* 2011, *44*, 53–57.
- Smit, K.N.; Van Poppelen, N.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Verdijk, R.; van Marion, R.; Kalirai, H.; Coupland, S.E.; Thornton, S.; Farquhar, N.; Dubbink, H.J.; et al. Combined mutation and copy-number variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma. *Mod. Pathol.* 2018, *31*, 763–771.
- Koopmans, A.E.; Verdijk, R.M.; Brouwer, R.W.; Van Den Bosch, T.P.; Van Den Berg, M.M.; Vaarwater, J.; Kockx, C.E.; Paridaens, D.; Naus, N.C.; Nellist, M.; et al. Clinical significance of immunohistochemistry for detection of *BAP1* mutations in uveal melanoma. *Mod. Pathol.* 2014, *27*, 1321–1330.
- Yang, J.; Yao, D.M.; Ma, J.C.; Yang, L.; Guo, H.; Wen, X.M.; Xiao, G.F.; Qian, Z.; Lin, J.; Qian, J. The prognostic implication of *SRSF2* mutations in Chinese patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Tumour Biol.* **2016**, *37*, 10107–10114.
- Afshar, A.R.; Damato, B.E.; Stewart, J.M.; Zablotska, L.B.; Roy, R.; Olshen, A.B.; Joseph, N.M.; Bastian, B.C. Next-Generation Sequencing of Uveal Melanoma for Detection of Genetic Alterations Predicting Metastasis. *Transl. Vis. Sci. Technol.* **2019**, *8*, 18.

 Robertson, A.G.; Shih, J.; Yau, C.; Gibb, E.A.; Oba, J.; Mungall, K.L.; Hess, J.M.; Uzunangelov, V.; Walter, V.; Danilova, L.; et al. Integrative Analysis Identifies Four Molecular and Clinical Subsets in Uveal Melanoma. *Cancer Cell* **2017**, *32*, 204–220

Chapter 3

Inheritance of uveal melanoma

Chapter 3.1

Germline *BAP1* mutations in uveal melanoma

One of the genes involved in the development of UM is the BRCA1-associated protein-1 (*BAP1*) gene. Somatic mutations in this gene have been described, but it has also been shown that germline mutations can lead to a variety malignant tumors including UM.¹ Families with this so called *BAP1* tumor predisposition syndrome (*BAP1*-TPDS) are described by Walpole et al.² This worldwide study, including 181 families, gives an overview of all *BAP1* mutations and correlates genotype and phenotype. Mutation type and age of onset was compared in the different tumor groups regarding missense or null variants. It has been shown that the median age of onset in patients with a null variant was at a younger age compared to those with a missense *BAP1* mutation except for UM and renal cell carcinoma. It is interesting to further elucidate the role of muation type on the development of cancer especially in the germline variants.

Chau et al. showed an overview of families with the *BAP1*-TPDS in the Netherlands.³ UM was present in nine germline *BAP1* carriers (out of 72 carriers from 22 families) with a median age at diagnosis of 61 years. Co-existing malignancies in UM patients include renal cel carcinoma, mesothelioma and cutaneous melanoma. Surprisingly, also other ocular melanoma such as conjunctival and iris melanoma are described in this cohort. This emphasizes the importance of awareness in patients with a familial history of cancer and the possibility of an underlying genetic predisponance. When looked to the presence of a germline *BAP1* mutation in a cohort of unselected UM patients (n=432), the prevalence was 1.9%.⁴ However, in the younger patient group (<50 years), the frequency was higher (3.2%) which also suggests that there is a difference in age of onset between patients with a germline mutation compared to those without a germline *BAP1* mutation.

A guideline for genetic testing based on previous recommendations and the findings of the study from Chau et al. was proposed.³ This includes the medical and family history and age of onset. Last mentioned differs for the several types of cancer based on the age of onset of these tumors in the population without a germline mutation and those with germline *BAP1* mutations. A schematic overview of these recommendations are shown in the figure below (Figure 1). This guideline is also in line with the national guideline of the Vereniging van Klinische Genetica Nederland (VKGN).⁵ In this guideline the age criteria is included as well as the medical history of the index patient and family members. The difference between this guideline compared to the guideline proposed by Chau et al. is that meningioma and cholangiocarcinoma are not included as *BAP1*-associated cancers in case of affected family members. Moreover, an extra criteria including 3rd grade relatives is incorporated. When a patient has UM, cutaneous melanoma, malignant mesothelioma or renal cell carcinoma and a 3rd grade relative with UM, malignant mesothelioma or *BAP1*-inactivaded naevus,

there is an indication for germline testing. Germline testing should always be preceded by counselling and referral to a clinical geneticist.

The vast majority of family members with a germline *BAP1* mutation developed at least one tumor.² A difference was noted between the null and missense variant carriers since the null variant carriers were more prone to develop cancer (82.5% vs 60.0%). This indicates the need for proper screening in germline carriers of the *BAP1* gene mutations and the importance to evaluate family history upon patients with a tumor in general but especially one involving in the BAP1-TPDS. It is also interesting to look at the risk to develop UM in patients with a germline mutation. The estimated point prevalence, representing the prevalence of UM in BAP1 germline mutation carriers, is almost 3%.⁶ This underlines the importance of ophthalmic examination in this group. The VKGN advices annual ophthalmic examination by an ophthalmologist from the age of 16 years in pathogenic germline *BAP1* carriers.⁵ Germline testing should be considered carefully in young individuals with a first degree relative who is a carrier, and can be postponed till adulthood given the potential consequences. Meanwhile, they can be examined annually by ophthalmologists without being tested.



Figure 1. Flowchart of proposed referral guidelines for genetic germline testing.

BAP1-TPDS-associated tumors include: uveal melanoma, cutaneous melanoma, malignant mesothelioma, renal cell carcinoma, meningioma, cholangiocarcinoma, BAP1-inactivated nevus. Non-melanoma skin cancer in case of unusually high frequency in a single individual or at unusually young age. In populations with a high incidence of cutaneous melanoma there should be \geq 3 cutaneous melanoma if this is the only tumor type

*uveal melanoma <40 years, cutaneous melanoma <18 years, malignant mesothelioma <50 years, renal cell carcinoma <46 years.

REFERENCES

- 1. Johansson PA, Nathan V, Bourke LM, et al. Evaluation of the contribution of germline variants in BRCA1 and BRCA2 to uveal and cutaneous melanoma. Melanoma Res 2019;29(5):483-90.
- Walpole S, Pritchard AL, Cebulla CM, et al. Comprehensive Study of the Clinical Phenotype of Germline BAP1 Variant-Carrying Families Worldwide. J Natl Cancer Inst 2018;110(12):1328-41.
- 3. Chau C, van Doorn R, van Poppelen NM, et al. Families with BAP1-Tumor Predisposition Syndrome in The Netherlands: Path to Identification and a Proposal for Genetic Screening Guidelines. Cancers (Basel) 2019;11(8).
- 4. Repo P, Jarvinen RS, Jantti JE, et al. Population-based analysis of BAP1 germline variations in patients with uveal melanoma. Hum Mol Genet 2019;28(14):2415-26.
- 5. Guideline *BAP1*-tumorpredispositiesyndroom (BAP1-TPDS) Vereniging Klinisch Genetica Nederland, 2021
- 6. Singh N, Singh R, Bowen RC, Abdel-Rahman MH, Singh AD. Uveal Melanoma in BAP1 Tumor Predisposition Syndrome: Estimation of Risk. Am J Ophthalmol 2021;224:172-7.

Chapter 3.2

The pediatric choroidal and ciliary body melanoma genetical study

A survey by the European Ophthalmic Oncology Group

Natasha M. van Poppelen, Nathalie Cassoux, Joni A. Turunen, N. Naus, Robert M. Verdijk, Jolanda Vaarwater, Victoria Cohen, Vasilios P. Papastefanou, Hayyam Kiratli, Svetlana V. Saakyan, Iwona Rospond-Kubiak, Hardeep S. Mudhar, Sachin Salvi, Jens F, Kiilgaard, Steffen Heegaard, Alexandre P. Moulin, Maria A. Saornil, Maria Fili, Nils A. Eide, Peter Meyer, Tero T. Kivelä, A. de Klein, E. Kilic, Rana'a Al-Jamal

Submitted

ABSTRACT

Purpose

Our primary aim was to elucidate the genetic background among children and young adults with choroidal and ciliary body melanoma, with special focus on the *BAP1* germline variants contribution among this age group.

Design

Retrospective, multicentre observational study.

Participants

Ninety-three patients from thirteen ocular oncology centers were included, children were defined as younger than 18 years of age, while young adults aged 18 to 24 years. All patients had confirmed diagnosis of choroidal or ciliary body melanoma, records of clinical and histopathological data were used.

Methods

Data from medical records were available from a previous large collaborative study, data were filled using a secure website and were reviewed centrally. *BAP1* immunohistochemistry was used to evaluate the status of *BAP1* in the tumor. Next-generation sequencing using Ion Torrent platform (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was used to determine mutation status of the tumor or DNA extracted from blood or saliva of the following genes: *BAP1*, *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1*, *GNAQ* and *GNA11* and chromosome 3 status. Survival was analyzed using Kaplan-Meier survival estimates calculated with IBM SPSS Statistics (version 28.0.1.0).

Main outcome measures

Variables assessed include mutation status, chromosome 3 status, metastatic free survival, overall survival and gender.

Results

Of the Ninety-three patients 45 were children, and 39 were young adults. The mean age at diagnosis was 17.4 years (range 4.96-24.8). A *BAP1* germline pathogenic variant was identified in one patient (aged 18). The absence of a *BAP1* mutation and disomy 3 in the tumor tissue had the most favourable prognosis. Males showed better disease-free survival compared to females.

Conclusions

This study did not show *BAP1* germline predisposition among children and young adults with choroidal and ciliary body melanoma. Males had better survival. These findings confirm our previous results in the published survey of the Pediatric Choroidal and Ciliary Body Melanoma Study.

INTRODUCTION

Uveal melanoma (UM) is the most common primary intra-ocular malignancy among adults¹ with an estimated incidence of 7 per 1.000.000 people in the Western world.² The incidence varies from 2-8 cases per million in whites, depending on latitude.^{3, 4} Congenital UM is relatively rare, with only few cases reported in the literature.⁵⁻⁹ Pediatric UM (PUM), which affects pediatric and young adults age groups (<21 years) is extremely rare, and comprises less than 1-2% of all UM.¹⁰⁻¹⁶

PUM and adult UM harbor different clinical characteristics. Both melanomas are located primarily in the choroid, followed by iris and ciliary body,¹¹⁻¹³ but the incidence of iris melanoma among young adults (<21 years) is higher compared to adult UM.¹⁵ Another difference is the smaller mean tumor diameter in young adults compared to elderly patients >60 years of age.¹⁵ Higher percentage of female to male gender in PUM, was a strong evident, in a large collaborative study of 299 UM among children and young adults,¹⁷. This was in line with the prior meta-analysis by Al-Jamal *et al*,¹⁰ whereas the prevalence of UM in adults is higher in males compared to females.²

Overall, PUM has a better prognosis compared to adult UM due to the lower metastatic rate.^{11, 12, 15, 18} One study did not describe a better prognosis in children and young adults when adjusting for other factors.¹⁶ Male children had a more favorable survival compared with females. However, this difference in prognosis was not observed in young adults (18-24 years of age).¹⁷ Prognosis was not associated with tumor thickness or largest basal diameter (LBD) but the mortality was higher when the ciliary body was involved and when the TNM (tumor node metastasis) stage was higher.^{10, 13, 17} Moreover, extraocular extension and the presence of congenital oculo(dermal) melanocytosis are poor prognostic factors.¹⁷ One study reported that juvenile UM patients who underwent proton beam radiotherapy had a higher risk of metastasis, especially when there was a large retinal detachment six months post treatment.¹³

Genetic factors have been described to predict prognosis of UM patients as well. Loss of alleles at loci on chromosome 2 were already described in UM in 1986.¹⁹ However, later research showed that loss of chromosome 3 is an important prognostic factor. Patients in which the UM showed monosomy 3 has a less favorable prognosis compared to UM with disomy 3.²⁰ Moreover, monosomy 3 if often accompanied by gain of chromosome 8q,^{21, 22} and correlates with poor prognosis.^{23,24} Later research showed that the tumor suppression BRCA1-associated protein 1 (*BAP1*) gene, located on chromosome 3, plays an important role in prognostication of UM patients.²⁵ *BAP1* is a deubiquitinating enzyme (DUB) and plays an important role in the DNA repair mechanism.²⁶ Several

functions of *BAP1* are described as it is involved in cell regulation, metabolism and chromosome stability. ²⁷⁻²⁹ Moreover, it has been shown that loss of *BAP1* in uveal melanoma is correlated with increased transcriptome levels of CD38, HLA-DRA, IDO-1 and LAG-3 which are associated with immune suppressive pathways.³⁰ Despite this knowledge, the exact role of *BAP1* in the development of metastasis is yet unclear because of its many functions and interactions.

Patients with a *BAP1* mutated UM are more likely to develop metastasizing UM compared to UM without a *BAP1* mutation.²⁵ It have been shown that immunohistochemically nuclear loss of *BAP1* was associated with a *BAP1* mutation³¹ and has a significant correlation on patient survival.³² Therefore, immunohistochemistry of *BAP1* could be used to predict patients prognosis in UM.

Not only somatic mutations in *BAP1* are described in patients with UM, germline variants occur as well. The patients carrying a *BAP1* germline pathogenic variants also had other cancers besides UM, such as cutaneous melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and mesothelioma.³³⁻³⁵ This *BAP1* tumor predisposition syndrome is only present in a minority of all UM patients.³³ When looked to the age of onset of UM in patients with a null and missense variant, no significant difference was found.³⁴ However, these studies did not include younger age groups of UM patients, hence making the prevalence of germline variants in this specific group unknown.

Aims of the Study

In our published collaborative study "The Pediatric Choroidal and Ciliary Body Melanoma A Survey by the European Ophthalmic Oncology Group",¹⁷ we found out that cytogenetic monosomy 3 was found in 54% of children (11 to 17 years) and in 24% of young adults (18-24 years). Also one patient in both groups tested positive for somatic *BAP1* mutations. Our study found preliminary evidence that the pathogenesis of PUM may differ in three age groups. Based on these observations, we aim to confirm or exclude that monosomy 3 and disomy 3 predicts higher and lower risk for metastasis respectively among PUM. The aim of this multicenter Ocular Oncology Group (OOG) study is to elucidate the genetic background of PUM, with a special focus on *BAP1* germline variants.

MATERIALS & METHODS

Patient selection

Eligible for this retrospective cohort study were all patients in which choroidal and ciliary body melanoma was diagnosed at an age younger than 25 years, and for whom at least the following data were available: birth date, date of diagnosis, gender, treatment type, presence or absence of local or systemic tumor recurrence, last survival status, date of last known status, and cause of death (UM, second cancer, or nonmalignant cause) determined by reviewing patient charts, registry data, histologic samples, and death certificates. Patients with iris melanomas were ineligible. All treatment methods were eligible. Informed consent of all patients was obtained before processing the samples. This investigation was approved by the institutional review boards of the participating centers as required and adhered to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the local ethics committees.

Data Collection

Data on consecutive eligible patients were collected from members of the European Ophthalmic Oncology Group (OOG). The data additionally acquired included presence of congenital oculo(dermal) melanocytosis or neurofibromatosis; visual acuity and intraocular pressure at diagnosis and at last visit; tumor thickness; largest basal diameter of tumor; ciliary body involvement; extraocular extension; tumor distance from the center of the fovea and the margin of the optic disc; tumor cell type; tumor cytogenetic features; dates of any local tumor recurrence; secondary enucleation, and metastasis; and second primary malignancies. We staged the tumors according to the seventh edition of the TNM system of the American Joint Committee on Cancer. ³⁶ Participating ocular oncology services submitted data anonymously through a secure survey website from patients diagnosed between 1968 and 2018.

Blood was withdrawn or saliva was collected from patients and parents if possible. Germline testing was performed on retinal tissue in case no blood or saliva was available. Tumor material from enucleated eyes or biopsies were used for immunohistochemistry (IHC) and DNA isolation when available.

DNA extraction

Targeted NGS was performed on DNA extracted from blood, saliva, formalin fixed paraffin embedded tissue (FFPE) of retina and tumor. For DNA isolation of blood, the QIAmp DNA Blood kit was used (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturers protocol. DNA isolation from saliva was performed with the Oragene DNA OG-500 kit for collection of human DNA (DNA Genotek Inc., Ottawa, ON, Canada) following manufacturers protocol. FFPE sections were used to isolate normal tissue from the retina and tumor tissue. Depending on the

size of the tumor, 4-9 5 μ m FFPE sections were deparaffinized and hematoxylin stained prior to DNA isolation. DNA extraction was performed as described before with 5% Chelex (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and Proteinase K (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany).³⁷

DNA was stored at -20C° and concentrations were measured using the QuantiT[™] dsDNA Assay Kit, high sensitivity (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) as described by the manufacturer.

Immunohistochemistry

BAP1 immunohistochemistry (IHC) was performed on FFPE tumor tissue. Sections of 4-5 µm were used for IHC and performed as described previously.³¹ All slides were evaluated by an ophthalmic pathologist and one of the authors (RV and NP) for the presence of nuclear *BAP1* expression. Lack of nuclear *BAP1* expression was considered as a mutation in the *BAP1* gene.

Mutation analysis

A *BAP1* mutation was assumed in case of absent nuclear *BAP1* expression of tumor tissue. Subsequently, germline analysis for *BAP1* was performed on blood or normal FFPE tissue obtained from the ophthalmic slides. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) was performed using the Ion Torrent platform (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). A panel covering exon 4 and 5 of *GNAQ* and *GNA11*, exon 1 and 2 of *EIF1AX*, exon 14 of *SF3B1* and all exons of *BAP1* was used as described before.³⁷ The sequencing results were analyzed with Integrative Genomics Viewer (IGV) (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA). A mutation was considered when it occurs in a percentage of at least 10% of the reads with a minimal read count of 50.

Copy number variation

Copy number variation of chromosome 3 was performed with 21 amplicons covering highly polymorphic regions with a minor allele frequency of at least 45% as described previously.³⁷ Scatter plots were used to display the frequency of variant coverage compared to total coverage. This data was extracted from the variant calling files.

Statistical analysis

All analysis were performed with IBM SPPS Statistics Version 28.0.1.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Kaplan-Meier estimates were used to compare survival between groups with the log-rank test accordingly. A P value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Moreover, clinical, histopathological and genetic data was obtained of 28 pediatric UM patient from a participating institute.

RESULTS

Sample collection

A total of 93 patients were included, 67 patients were collected from twelve ocular oncology centers, and analyzed at the Erasmus Medical Center (Rotterdam, the Netherlands) while 26 samples were analyzed at the Curie Institute (Paris, France). The samples that were sent to the Erasmus Medical Center were either blood, FFPE, or saliva. Blood was collected from 18 patients, FFPE materials were available for 41 patients and saliva was used for analysis from nine patients. From one patient blood as well as FFPE was used. A total of 68 samples from 67 patients were analyzed at the Erasmus Medical Center. A fine needle biopsy (FNB) was performed on three patients.

Clinical characteristics

This cohort consisted of 48 (55.8%) females and 38 (44.2%) males with a mean age at diagnosis of 17.4 years (range 4.96-24.8) (Table 1, Figure 1). Median age at diagnosis is only slightly higher with 17.6 years at diagnosis. The female male ratio was not significant different (*P*=0.332, binomial test). There was no significant difference in age at diagnosis between males and females (*P*=0.150, independent t-test). 70% of all patients were still alive at the moment of data collection, 15 patients died (16.1%). The status of 13 patients (14%) was unknown. From eight patients, the cause of death was metastatic disease from the primary UM. However, 12 patients (12.9%) developed metastatic disease. One patient died from another cause and from the rest the cause of death was unknown. Two patients underwent liver surgery for metastatic disease. One patient developed another primary malignancy, namely an intestinal adenocarcinoma.

Characteristic	n=
Sex	
Male	38 (44.2%)
Female	48 (55.8%)
Mean age at diagnosis (years)	17.4 (5.0-24.8)
Treatment	
Surgery	58 (62.3%)
Enucleation	50 (60.2%)
Local resection	6 (7.2%)
Endoresection	2 (2.4%)
Radiotherapy	41 (44.1%)
Ruthenium	12 (14.4%)

Table 1. Clinical and histopathological characteristics of pediatric and young adult patientswith uveal melanoma

Table 1. Continued.

Characteristic	n=
lodine	7 (8.4%)
Brachytherapy	3 (3.6%)
Proton beam	11 (13.2%)
External beam	3 (3.6%)
Cyber knife	3 (3.6%)
Gamma knife	2 (2.4%)
Metastatic disease	
Yes	12 (12.9%)
No	71 (76.3%)
Disease free survival (months)	108.1 (0.1-524.5)
Cell type	
Spindle cell	17 (50.0%)
Epithelioid	6 (17.6%)
Mixed	11 (32.8%)
Ciliary body involvement	
Yes	34 (41.0%)
No	49 (59.0%)
Extra ocular extension	
Yes	7 (8.5%)
No	75 (91.5%)
Mean largest basal tumor diameter (mm)	12.7 (4.0-20.4)
Mean maximum tumor thickness (mm)	8.1 (1.0-20.0)



Figure 1. The histogram shows age at diagnosis (left), and the treatment of patients primary uveal melanoma is shown in the Venn diagram (right).

Mean disease-free survival (DFS) is 108 months (9.0 years) with a range of 0.1 months to 524.5 months. There was no significant difference in mean DFS between males and females (P=0.971, independent t-test). Overall survival (OS) was comparable to DFS with a mean of 9.1 years (range 0.01-43.7 years). However, the DFS between males and females was significantly different, males have a better prognosis compared to females (P=0.018, log-rank test, Figure 2A). However, no significant difference (P=0.058) was found between females and males regarding the presence of metastasis (Fisher's exact test). However, it should be noted that metastasis was present in 21.8% (10/46) in the female group whereas there was metastatic disease in 5.6% (2/36) in the male group. This did not meet statistical significance probably due to the small number of the patients and therefore limited power for this test. The presence of extraocular extension and ciliary body involvement did not reach significance between the different sexes (P=0.954 and P=0.705, Chi-Square). When looking at the age of diagnosis no overall difference between different age groups (0-17 years, 18-20 years, and 21-24 years) was found (Figure 2B). The pairwise correlation did not show any significant difference in DFS between the age groups. When we divided the age groups into younger and older than the age of 18 at diagnosis, no difference in DFS was observed either (P=0.562, log rank test). No difference was found in DFS in patients with or without extraocular extension or ciliary body involvement (Figure 2C,D). The DFS in patients with a BAP1 mutation in the tumor (no BAP1 expression using IHC or mutation detected with sequencing) was lower compared to patients without a mutation in *BAP1* (Figure 2E). Although small numbers, tumors with disomy 3 tend to develop less metastasis compared to tumors with loss of heterozygosity (P=0.027, pairwise comparison). However, log-rank testing of all groups did not show any significant difference (Figure 2F).

Histopathological features

From 34 UM the histopathological cell type was described. Most of these UM showed a spindle cell type (n=17, 50.0%). One-third consisted of mixed cell type (n=11) and six UM (17.6%) showed epithelioid cells. Ciliary body involvement was present in 34/83 (41.0%) and absent in 49/83 (59.0%). The presence of extraocular extension was described in 7 UM (8.5%), and no extraocular extension was present in 75 UM (91.5%) of the 82 UM of which the data was available.

The mean largest tumor diameter was 12.7mm (range 4.0-20.4mm) and the mean tumor thickness was 8.0 (range 1.0-20.0mm). TNM classification (TNM classification 7) was described in 56 cases. The most common TNM stage was T2a (n=15) followed by T3a (n=9) and T1a (n=7). The highest TNM classification was T4d, present in one patient.



Figure 2. Kaplan-Meier estimates of patients with uveal melanoma. Disease free survival in months is displayed and compared between different groups according to **A**) gender, **B**) age at diagnosis, **C**) ciliary body involvement, **D**) extra ocular extension, **E**) *BAP 1* status of the tumor and **F**) chromosome 3 status of the tumor. LOH =loss of heterozygosity.

Treatment

Treatment consisted of surgery, radiotherapy, or a combination of both (Table 2, Figure 1). Of 10 patients (10.8%) no information on treatment was available. Surgery consisted of enucleation, endoresection, local resection, and in one patient iridocyclectomy was performed. Enucleation was performed in 50 patients (60.2%) of which ten patients received adjuvant treatment or enucleation was performed after primary treatment. Two patients were treated with endoresection followed by enucleation. Radiotherapy was performed in 41 patients (44.1%) of which ruthenium brachytherapy was used most followed by proton beam therapy. Fourteen patients (15.1%) were treated with a combination of surgery and radiotherapy. Resection and ruthenium brachytherapy (n=4),

enucleation and external beam radiotherapy (n=3), proton beam therapy and enucleation (n=2), endoresection and proton beam therapy (n=1), enucleation and cyber knife (n=1), enucleation and ruthenium (n=1), and enucleation and iodine (n=1). One patient was treated with local resection (iridocyclectomy), iodine radiotherapy, and enucleation.

BAP1 immunohistochemistry

BAP1 IHC was performed on 33 slides from UM. No nuclear staining was observed in 13 (39.4%) of these UM, considering the presence of a *BAP1* mutation. The other 20 UM showed *BAP1* expression (60.1%). Figure 3 shows UM with and without *BAP1* expression using IHC. Of all UM, a mutation of *BAP1* was considered in 14.0% using IHC.



Figure 3. BAP1 immunohistochemistry of formalin fixed paraffin embedded tissue of uveal melanoma (400x). Absent nuclear *BAP1* expression (**left**), nuclear *BAP1* expression (**right**).

Next-generation sequencing

Next-generation sequencing of the tumor was performed on DNA isolated from FFPE of seven UM. *GNAQ/GNAQ11* mutations were detected in four UM and in one UM an *SF3B1* mutation was found (Table 2). No *EIF1AX* mutations were identified. *BAP1* mutations in the tumor were identified in three UM using NGS.

Reliable results of germline analysis of *BAP1* were obtained from sixteen blood samples, eight saliva samples, and eight FFPE samples. The prevalence of the *BAP1* germline variants was 3.1% (1/32, Cl 95% 0.08 - 16.2) since one germline c.1708C>G, p.(Leu570Val) pathogenic variant was detected in a female patient. This variant results in a frameshift with a stop codon after 40 amino acids. The *BAP1* variant in this patient is described previously.³⁸ Age of onset was 18 years old and she underwent enucleation. No germline variants were detected in *GNAQ, GNA11, SF3B1*, or *EIF1AX* (Table 2).

	Tumor	Germline	
GNAQ	c.626A>T, p.(Gln209Leu); c.548G>A, p. (Arg183Gln)	None	
GNA11	c.626A>T, p.(Gln209Leu); c.626A>C, p.(Gln209Pro)	None	
EIF1AX	None	None	
SF3B1	c.1874G>A, p.(Arg625His)	None	
BAP1	c.122+1G>A,; c.38-1G>C; c.442G>T, p.(Glu148*)	c.1708C>G, p.(Leu570fs*40)	
Chromosome 3 Disomy	n= 9 (50.0%)	n= 32 (100%)	
Chromosome 3 Loss of heterozygosity	n= 6 (33.3%)	n= 0 (0%)	
Chromosome 3 Monosomy	n= 3 (16.7%)	n= 0 (0%)	

Table 2. The findings of GNAQ, GNA11, EIF1AX, SF3B1, BAP1 and chromosome status in the uvealmelanoma tumor tissue and germline

Chromosome analysis of chromosome 3 was performed on 32 germline samples (blood, FFPE, or saliva) all resulting in disomy 3. Disomy 3 of the tumor was shown in 9/18 UM (50.0%), three UM (16.7%) showed loss of chromosome 3 (monosomy 3) and in six UM (33.3%) loss of heterozygosity (LOH) was observed.

DISCUSSION

In this collaborative study, we included 93 children and young adults with UM from thirteen centers. The mean and median age at diagnosis is at early adolescence namely at 17.4 and 17.6 years, respectively. The number of cases in this study is reasonable because this rare tumor is even more infrequent in children compared to adults.¹⁵ UM in children and young adults differ from UM in adults in several characteristics. In adults, most UMs are located in the posterior choroid¹⁵ whereas we observed ciliary body involvement in more than 40% of all patients. Also, other studies identified a larger percentage of iris and ciliary body UM in young patients compared to the adult population.^{11, 15} Another difference is tumor diameter and survival of patients with UM in different age groups. The largest tumor diameter is higher in patients with UM > 60years and children and young adults (<21 years of age at age of onset)¹⁵ have a favorable prognsosis.^{13, 15} Although the metastatic rate in juvenile patients is lower compared to adults, metastasis is still described in 19% of patients with an age at diagnosis of 20 years or younger, 15 years after diagnosis.¹³ Metastasis at 10 years was 8.8% for children versus 25% for all ages, and metastasis at 20 years was 20.2% for children and 36% for all ages.¹¹ In this study it was shown that 12.9% of all patients developed the metastatic disease (12/93) which is

lower compared to previously mentioned studies. However, the follow-up time in our cohort is shorter with a mean DFS of 9 years and a median of 5.5 years. When looking at the metastatic rate in our study compared to metastasis at 10 years after diagnosis in other studies, our study showed only a slightly higher metastatic rate (12.9% vs 8.8%).¹¹

In previous studies, it was shown that females are more affected than males¹⁰, although this was not statistically significant in most studies.^{11, 12, 17} In our study, more females were affected but this did not meet statistical significance. Probably the number of patients in each study is too low to statistically confirm this finding. We observed a higher DFS in male patients compared to females (*P*=0.018) indicating a more favorable prognosis in this group. This is in line with previously published studies in which gender was an independent predictor of survival after correction,^{10, 17} of which one study showed that this was especially in the children with an age under seventeen.¹⁰ Another predictor for survival in our study was chromosome 3 status and the presence of a *BAP1* mutation in the tumor. The prognosis was better when both copies of chromosome 3 were present in the UM. This is in line with the previous reported series in which monosomy 3 was correlated with poor survival.^{20, 23} *BAP1* mutations in the tumor were observed in 41.5% of patients and these patients had a lower disease-free survival (*P*=0.004).

Not only do somatic BAP1 mutations occur in UM, but also germline pathogenic variants in BAP1 are described in UM. In adults, germline BAP1 variants are present only in the minority of patients in unselected patient series.^{39, 40} We did not observe a higher number of children with UM with germline BAP1 pathogenic variants compared to adults. This is in line with the observation that the age of onset in adults is not lower for patients with an BAP1 germline pathogenic variants compared to UM patients with a somatic mutation in the tumour.⁴⁰ When looking at the BAP1 tumor predisposition syndrome, a hereditary tumor syndrome causing mesothelioma, cutaneous melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and UM, there is a difference in age of onset regarding the type of *BAP1* variant. The age of onset was lower in patients harboring a null variant compared to a missense variant. However, this difference was not observed in UM and renal cell carcinoma.³⁴ This suggests that the pathophysiology of *BAP1* mutations in UM is different compared to other cancers. Moreover, this could support our results showing a low amount of germline variants in BAP1 in children with UM, like in adults. The pathophysiology of the development of UM in children and young adults remains unclear and further research is necessary to elucidate underlying genetic predisposing factors.

REFERENCES

- 1. Spaeth EB. Ocular tumors; a study of incidence of the various types and their mortality rates. AMA Arch Ophthalmol 1951;46(4):421-3.
- 2. Isager P, Osterlind A, Engholm G, et al. Uveal and conjunctival malignant melanoma in Denmark, 1943-97: incidence and validation study. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2005;12(4):223-32.
- 3. Singh AD, Bergman L, Seregard S. Uveal melanoma: epidemiologic aspects. Ophthalmol Clin North Am 2005;18(1):75-84, viii.
- 4. Kivelä T. Incidence, prevalence and epidemiology of ocular melanoma. Ocular Melanoma: Advances in Diagnostic and Therapeutic Strategies 1st ed London: Future Medicine 2014:20-38.
- Pukrushpan P, Tulvatana W, Pittayapongpat R. Congenital uveal malignant melanoma. J AAPOS 2014;18(2):199-201.
- 6. Greer CH. Congenital melanoma of the anterior uvea. Arch Ophthalmol 1966;76(1):77-8.
- 7. Broadway D, Lang S, Harper J, et al. Congenital malignant melanoma of the eye. Cancer 1991;67(10):2642-52.
- 8. Posnick JC, Chen P, Zuker R, Greenberg ML, Becker LE, Phillips J. Extensive malignant melanoma of the uvea in childhood: resection and immediate reconstruction with microsurgical and craniofacial techniques. Ann Plast Surg 1993;31(3):265-70.
- 9. Palazzi MA, Ober MD, Abreu HF, et al. Congenital uveal malignant melanoma: a case report. Can J Ophthalmol 2005;40(5):611-5.
- 10. Al-Jamal RT, Kivela T. Uveal melanoma among Finnish children and young adults. J AAPOS 2014;18(1):61-6.
- 11. Shields CL, Kaliki S, Arepalli S, et al. Uveal melanoma in children and teenagers. Saudi J Ophthalmol 2013;27(3):197-201.
- 12. Vavvas D, Kim I, Lane AM, Chaglassian A, Mukai S, Gragoudas E. Posterior uveal melanoma in young patients treated with proton beam therapy. Retina 2010;30(8):1267-71.
- 13. Petrovic A, Bergin C, Schalenbourg A, Goitein G, Zografos L. Proton therapy for uveal melanoma in 43 juvenile patients: long-term results. Ophthalmology 2014;121(4):898-904.
- 14. Fry MV, Augsburger JJ, Correa ZM. Clinical Features, Metastasis, and Survival in Patients Younger Than 21 Years With Posterior Uveal Melanoma. JAMA Ophthalmol 2018.
- 15. Shields CL, Kaliki S, Furuta M, Mashayekhi A, Shields JA. Clinical spectrum and prognosis of uveal melanoma based on age at presentation in 8,033 cases. Retina 2012;32(7):1363-72.
- 16. Liu YM, Li Y, Wei WB, Xu X, Jonas JB. Clinical Characteristics of 582 Patients with Uveal Melanoma in China. PLoS One 2015;10(12):e0144562.
- 17. Al-Jamal RT, Cassoux N, Desjardins L, et al. The Pediatric Choroidal and Ciliary Body Melanoma Study: A Survey by the European Ophthalmic Oncology Group. Ophthalmology 2016;123(4):898-907.
- Kaliki S, Shields CL, Mashayekhi A, Ganesh A, Furuta M, Shields JA. Influence of age on prognosis of young patients with uveal melanoma: a matched retrospective cohort study. Eur J Ophthalmol 2013;23(2):208-16.
- 19. Mukai S, Dryja TP. Loss of alleles at polymorphic loci on chromosome 2 in uveal melanoma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1986;22(1):45-53.
- 20. Prescher G, Bornfeld N, Hirche H, Horsthemke B, Jockel KH, Becher R. Prognostic implications of monosomy 3 in uveal melanoma. Lancet 1996;347(9010):1222-5.
- 21. Prescher G, Bornfeld N, Becher R. Nonrandom chromosomal abnormalities in primary uveal melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 1990;82(22):1765-9.
- 22. Horsman DE, Sroka H, Rootman J, White VA. Monosomy 3 and isochromosome 8q in a uveal melanoma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1990;45(2):249-53.
- 23. Sisley K, Rennie IG, Parsons MA, et al. Abnormalities of chromosomes 3 and 8 in posterior uveal melanoma correlate with prognosis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1997;19(1):22-8.

- 24. Abdel-Rahman MH, Cebulla CM, Verma V, et al. Monosomy 3 status of uveal melanoma metastases is associated with rapidly progressive tumors and short survival. Exp Eye Res 2012;100:26-31.
- 25. Harbour JW, Onken MD, Roberson ED, et al. Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. Science 2010;330(6009):1410-3.
- 26. Yu H, Pak H, Hammond-Martel I, et al. Tumor suppressor and deubiquitinase BAP1 promotes DNA double-strand break repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014;111(1):285-90.
- 27. Daou S, Hammond-Martel I, Mashtalir N, et al. The BAP1/ASXL2 Histone H2A Deubiquitinase Complex Regulates Cell Proliferation and Is Disrupted in Cancer. J Biol Chem 2015;290(48):28643-63.
- 28. Baughman JM, Rose CM, Kolumam G, et al. NeuCode Proteomics Reveals Bap1 Regulation of Metabolism. Cell Rep 2016;16(2):583-95.
- 29. Zarrizi R, Menard JA, Belting M, Massoumi R. Deubiquitination of gamma-tubulin by BAP1 prevents chromosome instability in breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 2014;74(22):6499-508.
- 30. Figueiredo CR, Kalirai H, Sacco JJ, et al. Loss of BAP1 expression is associated with an immunosuppressive microenvironment in uveal melanoma, with implications for immunotherapy development. J Pathol 2020;250(4):420-39.
- 31. Koopmans AE, Verdijk RM, Brouwer RW, et al. Clinical significance of immunohistochemistry for detection of BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma. Mod Pathol 2014;27(10):1321-30.
- 32. Shah AA, Bourne TD, Murali R. BAP1 protein loss by immunohistochemistry: a potentially useful tool for prognostic prediction in patients with uveal melanoma. Pathology 2013;45(7):651-6.
- 33. Repo P, Jarvinen RS, Jantti JE, et al. Population-based analysis of BAP1 germline variations in patients with uveal melanoma. Hum Mol Genet 2019.
- Walpole S, Pritchard AL, Cebulla CM, et al. Comprehensive Study of the Clinical Phenotype of Germline BAP1 Variant-Carrying Families Worldwide. J Natl Cancer Inst 2018;110(12):1328-41.
- 35. Abdel-Rahman MH, Pilarski R, Cebulla CM, et al. Germline BAP1 mutation predisposes to uveal melanoma, lung adenocarcinoma, meningioma, and other cancers. J Med Genet 2011;48(12):856-9.
- 36. Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A. Malignant melanoma of the uvea. AJCC cancer staging manual 2010:547-59.
- 37. Smit KN, van Poppelen NM, Vaarwater J, et al. Combined mutation and copy-number variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma. Mod Pathol 2018;31(5):763-71.
- 38. Wadt K, Choi J, Chung JY, et al. A cryptic BAP1 splice mutation in a family with uveal and cutaneous melanoma, and paraganglioma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 2012;25(6):815-8.
- 39. Repo P, Jarvinen RS, Jantti JE, et al. Population-based analysis of BAP1 germline variations in patients with uveal melanoma. Hum Mol Genet 2019;28(14):2415-26.
- 40. Ewens KG, Lalonde E, Richards-Yutz J, Shields CL, Ganguly A. Comparison of Germline versus Somatic BAP1 Mutations for Risk of Metastasis in Uveal Melanoma. BMC Cancer 2018;18(1):1172.

Chapter 4

Testing of uveal melanoma

Chapter 4

Combined mutation and copynumber variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma

Kyra N Smit, Natasha M van Poppelen, Jolanda Vaarwater, Robert Verdijk, Ronald van Marion, Helen Kalirai, Sarah E Coupland, Sophie Thornton, Neil Farquhar, Hendrikus-Jan Dubbink, Dion Paridaens, Annelies de Klein and Emine Kiliç

Mod Pathol. 2018 May;31(5):763-771. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2017.187

ABSTRACT

Uveal melanoma is a highly aggressive cancer of the eye, in which nearly 50% of the patients die from metastasis. It is the most common type of primary eve cancer in adults. Chromosome and mutation status have been shown to correlate with the disease-free survival. Loss of chromosome 3 and inactivating mutations in BAP1, which is located on chromosome 3, are strongly associated with 'high-risk' tumors that metastasize early. Other genes often involved in uveal melanoma are SF3B1 and EIF1AX, which are found to be mutated in intermediate- and low-risk tumors, respectively. To obtain genetic information of all genes in one test, we developed a targeted sequencing method that can detect mutations in uveal melanoma genes and chromosomal anomalies in chromosome 1, 3, and 8. With as little as 10 ng DNA, we obtained enough coverage on all genes to detect mutations, such as substitutions, deletions, and insertions. These results were validated with Sanger sequencing in 28 samples. In 49.0% of the cases, the BAP1 mutation status corresponded to the BAP1 immunohistochemistry. The results obtained in the Ion Torrent singlenucleotide polymorphism assay were confirmed with several other techniques, such as fluorescence in situ hybridization, multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification, and Illumina SNP array. By validating our assay in 27 formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded and 43 fresh uveal melanomas, we show that mutations and chromosome status can reliably be obtained using targeted next-generation sequencing. Implementing this technique as a diagnostic pathology application for uveal melanoma will allow prediction of the patients' metastatic risk and potentially assess eligibility for new therapies.

INTRODUCTION

Uveal melanoma is the most common primary intraocular malignancy in adults with a worldwide annual incidence in Caucasians of 5–7 per million per year.¹ Despite successful treatment of the primary tumor, nearly 50% of the patients develop liver metastasis within 5 years. Once metastatic disease is diagnosed, survival is between 2 and 9 months.² Approximately 40% of uveal melanoma patients developed metastases within 4 years, but dissemination can occur even up to 4 decades after diagnosis.³ This demonstrates that the prognosis for uveal melanoma patients can strongly vary between patients, and is dependent on a number of factors, including clinical and histological parameters, as well as the underlying genetic 'make up' of the tumor cells.⁴ Chromosomal anomalies are often found in solid tumors, but previous work has shown that most of the chromosomal anomalies in uveal melanoma are limited to chromosome 1, 3, 6, and 8. Some of these chromosomal variations correlated with metastasis, such as loss of chromosome 3.⁵ Monosomy 3 is observed in half of the patients and is strongly associated with poor survival. Loss of chromosome 3 is thought to be an early event, since it is present in the majority of the cells and often accompanies other chromosomal anomalies, such as gain of chromosome 8g.⁶⁻⁸ Another common anomaly in metastasizing uveal melanoma with monosomy 3 is loss of chromosome 1p.9 Chromosome 6 shows frequent rearrangements in both p- and q-arm in uveal melanoma; yet, deletion of 6q or gain of 6p are not associated with metastatic disease.¹⁰ Uveal melanoma are genetically wellcharacterized tumors. Recent research using genome-wide sequencing led to the discovery of several genetic alterations, which correlate to a distinct survival pattern. Activating mutations in guanine-nucleotide-binding protein-Q (GNAQ) and -alpha 11 (GNA11) were found in the majority of uveal melanoma patients (83–93%), and are therefore thought to be initiating mutations.^{11–13} Inactivating mutations in the BRCA-associated protein 1 (BAP1), located on chromosome 3p, were found in the early metastasizing patients.¹⁴ Recently, two other genes have been reported that have a role in uveal melanoma biogenesis. Mutations in the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1A (EIF1AX) were observed in nonmetastasizing tumors15 and a hotspot mutation in the splicing factor 3 subunit 1 (SF3B1)-gene was detected in late metastasizing tumors.^{16,17} Both of these genes are known to be mutually exclusive.

Current clinical diagnostics for uveal melanoma include several techniques, such as expression profiling,¹⁸ copy-number analysis by Illumina single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)-array,¹⁹ multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification²⁰ or fluorescence in situ hybridization,²¹ immunohistochemistry of the BAP1 protein,^{22,23} and Sanger sequencing of *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1*, and *BAP1*. In some cases, whole genome sequencing or whole-exome sequencing is used to identify the somatic mutations present in the tumor.^{15,24} In this study, we performed Ion Torrent next-generation sequencing with a custom-made panel on 70 uveal melanomas to determine if targeted sequencing can be implemented in the routine uveal melanoma diagnostics. This panel has been designed specifically for uveal melanoma, covering all major hotspot mutations in the five relevant genes and several single-nucleotide polymorphisms on chromosome 1, 3, and 8 to allow analysis of clinically relevant chromosomal anomalies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Uveal Melanoma Samples

Sixty-five uveal melanoma samples were selected from our Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma Study Group database and 5 were external samples from patients who underwent enucleation, received for diagnostics from the Liverpool Ocular Oncology Research Group. Samples included in this study were diagnosed as uveal melanoma, collected between 1988 and 2016, and include formalinfixed paraffin embedded and fresh specimens. A written informed consent was obtained before treatment, the study was performed according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki, and was approved by the local ethics committee.

DNA Extraction

Targeted next-generation sequencing was performed on DNA extracted from fresh- and formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded samples. For all tumor samples, an ophthalmic pathologist reviewed and selected tumor areas with an estimated minimal tumor cell percentage of 85%. DNA isolation from fresh tissue was carried out using the QIAmp DNA mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions. For formalin-fixed paraffin embedded samples, depending on the size of the tumor, 2–6 5 µm sections were deparaffinized and haematoxylin-stained prior to isolation of the DNA. Formalinfixed paraffin-embedded tumor tissue was micro-dissected by scraping the cells manually from haematoxylin-stained sections. DNA was then extracted by incubation of the tissues overnight at 56 °C in lysis buffer (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), containing 5% Chelex (Bio-Rad, Berkley, CA, USA) and Proteinase K (Qiagen). Proteinase K was inactivated by incubating the sample for 10 min at 95 °C and cell debris was pelleted down together with the Chelex by centrifugation in a micro centrifuge at maximum speed. DNA concentrations were measured with the Quant-iT Picogreen assay kit (Thermofisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY, USA), as described by the manufacturer. All DNA samples were stored at -20 °C. The DNAs provided by the Liverpool Ocular Oncology Research Group had been extracted as previously described using the Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue kit.²⁵

Targeted Next-Generation Sequencing

A custom primer panel covering the five uveal melanoma genes and several SNPs located on chromosomes 1, 3, and 8, was designed using Ion Ampliseq Designer 2.0 (ThermoFisher Scientific). This resulted in an 11.5 kb amplicon panel, containing 98 amplicons. Amplicons designed for GNAO, GNA11, EIF1AX, and SF3B1 covered only the exons containing the known mutation hotspots. All exons of the BAP1 gene were covered by amplicons. On chromosome 1 and 8, 17 amplicons were designed to cover highly polymorphic regions in the entire chromosome (Supplementary Table 1). These highly polymorphic regions with a global minor allele frequency of at least 45% were selected based on data found in the NCBI SNP database.²⁶ For chromosome 3, 21 amplicons were designed, due to the clinical relevance. The DNA input varied between 3 and 10 ng, depending on the amount of DNA available per sample. Library construction was performed using the AmpliSeq Library Kit 2.0. Next-Generation amplicon sequencing of the libraries was performed by semiconductor sequencing with the Ion Torrent Personal Genome Machine (Thermofisher Scientific) on an Ion Chip, according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Mutation Analysis

Adapter trimming and filtering of poor quality reads was performed on raw lon Torrent sequence data by using the platform specific Torrent Suite Software V4.4.3 (Thermofisher Scientific). The generated sequence reads were analyzed with Coverage Analysis and Variant Caller v3.6 plugins to perform sequence coverage analysis and identify variants, respectively. Variants identified as a common polymorphism in the 1000 Genomes-database and variants that were present in 490% of the samples were excluded. If variants were present in a frequency higher than 15% and if they had a minimum read depth of 100 reads, they were called as mutations. Analysis of the detected mutations was done by visualizing the reads in Integrative Genomics Viewer software (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA) and comparing them to the Ensemble genome database (NM_002072; NM_002067; NM_004656; NM_012433; NM_001412).

Sanger Sequencing

DNA from 28 tumor samples was sequenced using the Sanger method to confirm results found by next generation sequencing. Selected regions of the genes of interest were amplified by PCR. Subsequently, sequencing of the PCR products and mutation analysis of *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *BAP1*, and *SF3B1* and *EIF1AX* was done as reported previously.^{13,16,22} Alignment of the sequence reads was done with reference sequence Hg19 from the Ensemble genome database.

Immunohistochemical Staining

To detect loss of the BAP1 protein in tumors, immunohistochemical staining of BAP1 was performed on 4 µm formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded sections of tumors. Staining was done by an automated immunohistochemistry staining system (Ventana Medical Systems, Tucson, AZ, USA) as described before.²² BAP1 protein expression data were also available for the cases received from Liverpool Ocular Oncology Research Group, which were stained as previously described.²⁷ Sections were evaluated by the ophthalmic pathologists in Rotterdam and Liverpool (RV and SEC, respectively).

Copy-Number Variation Analysis

Validation of the copy-number status of the chromosomes was performed by SNP array, multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification, and fluorescence in situ hybridization analysis. Two hundred nanograms of fresh tumor DNA was used for the Illuminia 610Q SNP array. Results were analyzed with Nexus Software (BioDiscovery, El Segundo, CA, USA). One hundred nanograms of DNA from each formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded uveal melanoma was used for multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification analysis of chromosomes 1p, 3, 6 and 8 as previously described.²⁰ Fluorescence in situ hybridization analysis was performed on directly fixed tumor material, with probes for chromosome 1, 3, and 8 as reported previously.²¹

RESULTS

Coverage of uveal melanoma genes

To detect mutations in the *GNAQ-*, *GNA11-*, *EIF1AX-*, *SF3B1-*, and *BAP1* gene, 43 amplicons were used to sequence these genes reliably. Samples with a minimum total read count of 40.000 were analysed. for mutations in the five uveal melanoma genes. The total amount of read counts for fresh samples was on average slightly higher than those of formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded samples (Figure 1a). Most of the amplicons covering the five uveal melanoma genes consisted of 1–2% of the total read count, which corresponds to a minimum of 400 reads (Figure 1b). The median read count of all amplicons was 1.1%. Several amplicons obtained a coverage of <1% of the total read count, such as *EIF1AX* exon 1 and *BAP1* exon 1 and 3. By adding extra amplicons in the primer mix for these areas, we compensated for these lower read counts.



Figure 1. Sequencing efficiency of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE), and fresh uveal melanoma specimens. **A)** Boxplots showing the total read count for all fresh- (**top plot**) and FFPE samples (**bottom plot**). **B**) Percentages of total reads visualized for all amplicons covering the five uveal melanoma genes. Solid line indicates median for all amplicons, and light gray area shows second- and third quartile.

Mutation Analysis

Seventy uveal melanoma samples were sequenced with our targeted panel. DNA was isolated from fresh specimens (n = 43) and from formalin-fixed paraffin embedded material (n = 27). From all 70 samples, sufficient DNA was extracted for sequencing. Forty-one percent of the samples harbored a *GNAQ* exon 5c.626A4C or c.626A4T mutation, 3% a *GNAQ* exon 4c.548G4A mutation, 41% a *GNA11* exon 5c.626A4T mutation, 1% a *GNA11* exon 4c.547C4T mutation, and in the remaining samples no mutations in either of these two genes were detected (Table 1). Mutations in the *BAP1* gene were found in 41% of the cases, mutations

in *SF3B1* in 16%, and *EIF1AX* in 20% of the samples (Supplementary Table 2). From 28 samples, we extracted enough DNA from fresh tissue to perform Sanger sequencing as well. All the mutations found by next-generation sequencing in these samples were validated by Sanger sequencing and no new mutations were identified.

Gene	Chromosome	Exons	Codons	Mutation rate (%)
GNA11	19	4, 5	183, 209	42
GNAQ	9	4, 5	183, 209	44
EIF1AX	Х	1, 2	4-44	20
SF3B1	2	14	1873, 1874	16
BAP1	3	1-17	1-730	41

Table 1. Amplicon location and mutation rate for the five genes relevant in uveal melanoma

Detection of Loss of BAP1 Protein Expression

Absence of the BAP1 protein is often associated with monosomy 3 uveal melanoma. The loss of nuclear BAP1 expression can be immunohistochemically assessed, which is routinely performed in a diagnostic setting. Uveal melanoma samples were sequenced and analyzed for BAP1 mutations. Half of all the samples showed loss of chromosome 3. Seventy-four percent of these monosomy 3 samples harbored a BAP1 mutation and 26% did not. BAP1 immunohistochemistry was carried out for 59 samples, since we did not have tissue available for immunohistochemistry in all samples. In the BAP1- mutated samples of which we obtained BAP1 immunohistochemistry data, 80% showed a negative BAP1 immunohistochemistry (-), 5% showed a mixture of positive and negative BAP1 cells in the tumor (+/-), and 15% showed a positive BAP1 immunohistochemistry (+) (Figure 2 and Supplementary Table 2). The results obtained from three samples are depicted in Figure 3. Haematoxylin and eosin staining indicated a high presence of tumor cells in all three samples (Figure 3a). BAP1 staining was positive for the upper sample and negative for both the middle and lower samples (Figure 3b). Ion Torrent sequencing of the BAP1 gene revealed no mutations in the top sample but did show a mutation in the other two samples (Figure 3c), confirming the presence of BAP1 mutations in the immunohistochemistry BAP1-negative tumors.



Figure 2. An overview of the overlap between the chromosome 3 status, *BAP1* mutation status and BAP1 expression. A doughnut chart visualizing the chromosome 3 status (outer ring), *BAP1* mutation status (middle ring), and BAP1 immunohistochemistry (IHC) (inner ring) for all 70 uveal melanoma samples.

Copy-Number Analysis SNP array, multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification, and fluorescence in situ hybridization analyses are commonly used to identify chromosomal changes in tissues. To determine whether the Ion Torrent uveal melanoma custom panel allows a reliable detection of allelic imbalances caused by (partial) losses and gains of chromosome 1, 3 and 8, we compared results obtained by fluorescence in situ hybridization and SNP array with the copy-number variation results from our custom panel. Single nucleotide polymorphism covering amplicons were evenly distributed over the entire chromosome (Figure 4a), which allowed us to observe partial aberrations as well. Fluorescence in situ hybridization results showed disomy 3 for the top sample and monosomy 3 for the lower sample (Figure 4b). This was confirmed with the SNP array, where the log R Ratio and B-allele frequency shows no loss of heterozygosity for chromosome 3 in the upper sample and monosomy 3 for the lower sample (Figure 4c). The same pattern of allelic distribution was seen with the Ion Torrent single-nucleotide polymorphism analysis of chromosome 3 (Figure 4d). The B-allele frequencies for chromosome 1 and 8 were confirmed as well, as shown in Supplementary Figure 1. Across all samples, we found that 50% showed monosomy 3, 30% loss of chromosome 1p, and 57% gain of chromosome 8q. These percentages overlapped with the percentages found by other copy-number variation techniques. Thirty-four samples were validated with only an Illumina SNP array, 15 with SNP array, and fluorescence in situ hybridization, 7 with only fluorescence in situ hybridization, and 5 samples with multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (Supplementary Table 3).





Exon 14

200x

∢

U

BAP1 IHC

В

뽀


Figure 4. Copy-number analysis of chromosome 3. **A)** Visualization of the evenly spread amplicons covering highly polymorphic single-nucleotide polymorphisms on chromosome 1, 3, and 8. **B)** Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) of chromosome 5 (red) and chromosome 3 (green) shows no loss for chromosome 3 in the top sample and loss of chromosome 3 in the bottom sample. **C)** Top SNP array visualizes chromosome status for chromosome 1–8. Both log R Ratio and B-allele frequency indicate disomy 3, whereas the SNP array for the bottom panel shows loss of chromosome 3. **D)** Single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) analysis performed by the targeted uveal melanoma panel visualizes the B-allele frequency for chromosome 3. Top single-nucleotide polymorphism shows heterozygosity for the single-nucleotide polymorphisms, indicating disomy 3, while bottom sample shows no heterozygous variants indicating loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 3.

DISCUSSION

Uveal melanoma is characterized by recurrent mutated genes and chromosomal anomalies. In this study, we present a novel custom-designed next generation sequencing assay for uveal melanoma, which can be used to predict uveal melanoma patients' prognoses based on mutation status and chromosome status of chromosome 1, 3, and 8. The assay can be conducted with using either freshly isolated DNA or DNA obtained from formalin-fixed paraffinembedded material. This is the first study that establishes a method that can be used for uveal melanoma diagnostics on both formalin-fixed paraffinembedded and fresh material. Our assay is cost-effective, since one method can replace techniques, such as fluorescence in situ hybridization, SNP array, and Sanger sequencing and it can be considered as a good alternative for BAP1 immunohistochemistry. Other important advantages are the low amount of DNA (10 ng) necessary for sequencing, which makes the technique suitable for transvitreal fine needle aspirations biopsies and the small amplicon size, allows sequencing of partially degraded DNA from formalin-fixed paraffin embedded tissue. Our assay could be performed on other next-generation sequencing platforms than lon Torrent sequencing as well, if these two characteristics are taken into account. Furthermore, compared to other technique sthat only identify the high-risk patients that metastasize early, this technique also allows us to identify the potentially late metastasizing patients that often harbor a *SF3B1* mutation.

Prognostication of uveal melanoma patients can be achieved by analyzing mutation status. Currently, this is usually performed by Sanger sequencing. Mutations in GNAO, GNA11, and SF3B1, all gain of function mutations, occur almost exclusively in hotspot locations, therefore only these locations have to be sequenced. Since mutations can occur throughout the entire BAP1 gene, large amounts of DNA are needed for the sequencing of multiple exons. Wholeexome sequencing is a reliable and easy method to obtain mutation status as well. However, since only a few genes are involved in the oncogenesis of uveal melanoma, many irrelevant reads will be produced. Whole-exome sequencing is less cost-effective for the diagnostic setting, compared to targeted Ion Torrent sequencing. Several regions of the human genome are difficult to cover with next-generation sequencing. As shown in Figure 1b, a few exons, such as BAP1 exon 1 and the first two exons of EIF1AX, show a relatively low read count. Due to this low read count, it is more difficult to detect mutations in this particular exon. These findings are not only observed in our targeted uveal melanoma panel, but also in whole-genome sequencing data of uveal melanoma.^{17,28} Since exon 1 of the BAP1 gene is located in the non-translated region, the effect of a mutation in this UTR region is not always clear. Another region, which is sensitive for sequencing errors is exon 1 of *EIF1AX*, caused by a pseudogene on chromosome 1. Amplicons covering only exon 1 may also produce reads derived from chromosome 1. By adding a second set of reads generated by a different amplicon for EIF1AX, we now cover not only exon 1 but also a part of the 3'UTR, which will obtain longer reads that can only be derived from EIF1AX exon 1. In our cohort, we observed mutations in all of the major uveal melanoma genes. Eighty-six percent of the samples showed a mutation in GNAQ or GNA11. Mutations in EIF1AX were found in 20%, mutations in SF3B1 in 16%, and mutations in BAP1 were detected in 41% of the cases.

The obtained results do not exactly overlap with the mutation rates for uveal melanoma that we previously reported,¹⁶ but those differences can be explained by the bias in our sample population. Samples selected for this study were not randomly chosen, but rather selected based on follow-up length and tissue availability. Figure 2 shows that only 74% of the monosomy samples harbor a BAP1 mutation, which can be explained by studies showing that BAP1 mutations arise after loss of chromosome 3.²⁹ Most of the BAP1-mutated samples showed a negative BAP1 immunohistochemistry, but some had positive and negative BAP1 immunohistochemistry cells, which possibly indicates that not all of the cells in the tumor have acquired the mutation yet. However, we also observed BAP1-mutated samples that showed a positive BAP1 immunohistochemistry. For the disomy 3 samples, this can be explained by the presence of a BAP1 wild-type gene, but this is not the case for the monosomy 3 samples. In these samples, we hypothesize that the mutated mRNA is not degraded by nonsense mediated decay and could thereby still be translated into a partially functional or non-functional protein. If the antibody binds at a different location as where the mutation is found, it will show a positive immunohistochemistry. However, for the majority (91.6%) of the samples the uveal melanoma panel can correctly detect mutations corresponding to the observed loss of BAP1 expression.

Our Ion Torrent uveal melanoma panel is in the current state already suitable for implementation in uveal melanoma prognostication, with the advantage that it can easily be expanded by adding the more recently discovered genes into our panel. Recently, it has been reported that a small percentage of the uveal melanoma samples contain mutations in other spliceosome components, *SR2F2* and *U2AF1*. It is thought that these tumors act in the same way as *SF3B1*-mutated tumors.³² Other rare alterations in uveal melanoma are mutations in *PCLB4* and *CYSLTR2*, which are downstream targets of *GNA11* and *GNAQ* and are thereby thought to be less suitable for prognostication.³³

In summary, we present a next-generation sequencing-based assay that can readily be implemented as a diagnostic pathology application for uveal melanoma. Mutation and copy-number variation data can be obtained by one technique, which can reliably predict the patients' outcome and potentially assess eligibility for new therapies. At present, there is no successful treatment for metastasized uveal melanoma; however, with the development of new therapies, identification of high-risk patients will be very important, particularly in adjuvant therapy trials. Our custom-designed uveal melanoma panel will make a valuable contribution to the rapid stratification of uveal melanoma patients.

REFERENCES

- 1. Singh A, Turell M, Topham A. Uveal melanoma: trends in incidence, treatment and survival. Ophthalmology 2011;118:1881–1885.
- Woodman S. Metastatic uveal melanoma: biology and emerging treatments. Cancer J 2012;18:148–152.
- 3. Coupland S, Sidiki S, Clark B. Metastatic choroidal melanoma to the contralateral orbit 40 years after enucleation. Arch Ophthalmol 1996;114:751–756.
- 4. Damato B, Eleuteri A, Taktak A, et al. Estimating prognosis for survival after treatment of choroidal melanoma. Prog Retin Eye Res 2011;30:285–295.
- 5. Prescher G, Bornfeld N, Becher R. Nonrandom chromosomal abnormalities in primary uveal melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 1990;82:1765–1769.
- 6. van den Bosch T, van Beek J, Vaarwater J, et al. Higher percentage of FISH-determined monosomy 3 and 8q amplification in uveal melanoma cells relate to poor patient prognosis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2012;15: 2668–2674.
- 7. de Lange M, van Pelt S, Versluis M, et al. Heterogeneity revealed by integrated genomic analysis uncovers a molecular switch in malignant uveal melanoma. Oncotarget 2015;6:37824–37835.
- 8. Dogrusöz M, Bagger M, van Duinen S, et al. The prognostic value of AJCC staging in uveal melanoma is enhanced by adding chromosome 3 and 8q status. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2017;58:833–842.
- 9. Kilic E, Naus N, van Gils W, et al. Concurrent loss of chromosome arm 1p and chromosome 3 predicts a decreased disease-free survival in uveal melanoma patients. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005;46:2253–2257.
- 10. White V, Chambers J, Courtright P, et al. Correlation of cytogenetic abnormalities with the outcome of patients with uveal melanoma. Cancer 1998;83:354–359.
- 11. van Raamsdonk C, Bezrookove V, Green G, et al. Frequent somatic mutations of GNAQ in uveal melanoma and blue naevi. Nature 2009;457:599–602.
- 12. van Raamsdonk C, Griewank K, Crosby M, et al. Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. N Engl J Med 2010;363:2191–2199.
- 13. Koopmans A, Vaarwater J, Paridaens D, et al. Patient survival in uveal melanoma is not affected by oncogenic mutations in GNAQ and GNA11. Br J Cancer 2013;109:493–496.
- 14. Harbour J, Onken M, Roberson E, et al. Frequent mutations of BAP1 in metastasising uveal melanomas. Science 2006;330:1410–1413.
- Martin M, Masshöfer L, Temming P, et al. Exosome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic mutations in EIF1AX and SF3B1 in uveal melanoma with disomy 3. Nat Genet 2013;45:933– 936.
- Yavuzyigitoglu S, Koopmans A, Verdijk R, et al. Uveal melanomas with SF3B1 mutations: a distinct subclass associated with late-onset metastases. Ophthalmology 2016;123:1118– 1128.
- 17. Furney S, Pedersen M, Gentien D, et al. SF3B1 mutations are associated with alternative splicing in uveal melanoma. Cancer Discov 2013;3:1122–1129.
- Onken M, Worley L, Ehlers J, et al. Gene expression profiling in uveal melanoma reveals two molecular classes and predicts metastatic death. Cancer Res 2004;64:7205–7209.
- 19. Ewens K, Kanetsky P, Richards-Yutz J, et al. Genomic profile of 320 uveal melanoma cases: chromosome 8ploss and metastatic outcome. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2013;54:5721–5729.
- 20. Damato B, Dopierala J, Coupland S. Genotypic profiling of 452 choroidal melanomas with multiplex ligationdependent probe amplification. Clin Cancer Res 2010;16:6083–6092.
- 21. Vaarwater J, van den Bosch T, Mensink H, et al. Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification Modern Pathology (2018) 31, 763–771 Genetic analyses in uveal melanoma 770 KN Smit et al equals fluorescence in-situ hybridization for the identification of patients at risk for metastasic disease in uveal melanoma. Melanoma Res 2012;22:30–37.

- 22. Koopmans A, Verdijk R, Brouwer R, et al. Clinical Significance of immunohistochemistry for detection of BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma. Mod Pathol 2014;27:1321–1330.
- 23. van den Nes J, Nelles J, Kreis S, et al. Comparing the prognostic value of BAP1 mutation pattern, chromosome 3 status and BAP1 immunohistochemistry in uveal melanoma. Am J Surg Pathol 2016;40:796–805.
- 24. Royer-Bertrand B, Torsello M, Rimoldi D, et al. Comprehensive genetic landscape of uveal melanoma by whole-genome sequencing. Am J Hum Genet 2016;99:1190–1198.
- 25. Lake S, Kalirai H, Dopierala J, et al. Comparison of formalin-fixed and snap-frozen samples analysed by multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification for prognostic testing in uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2012;53:2647–2652.
- Dubbink HJ, Atmodimedjo P, van Marion R, et al. Diagnostic detection of allelic losses and imbalances by next-generation sequencing 1p/19q co-deletion analysis of gliomas. J Mol Diagn 2016;18:775–786.
- 27. Kalirai H, Dodson A, Faqir S, et al. Lack of BAP1 protein expression in uveal melanoma is associated with increased metastatic risk and has utility in routine prognostic testing. Br J Cancer 2014;111: 1373–1380.
- 28. Johansson P, Aoude L, Wadt K, et al. Deep sequencing of uveal melanoma identifies a recurrent mutation in PLCB4. Oncotarget 2016;7:4624–4631.
- 29. Robertson A, Shih J, Yau C, et al. Integrative analysis identifies four molecular and clinical subsets in uveal melanoma. Cancer Cell 2017;32:204–220.
- 30. Mensink HW, Vaarwater J, Kilic, E, et al. Chromosome 3 intratumor heterogeneity in uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009;50:500–504.
- 31. Yavuzyigitoglu S, Mensink H, Smit K, et al. Metastatic disease in polyploid uveal melanoma is associated with BAP1 mutations. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2016;27: 2232–2239.
- 32. Ilagan J, Ramakrishnan A, Hayes B, et al. U2AF1 mutations alter splice site recognition in hematological malignancies. Genome Res 2015;25:14–26.
- 33. Moore A, Ceraudo E, Sher J, et al. Recurrent activating mutations of G-protein-coupled receptor CYSLTR2 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 2016;48:675–680.

Supplementary Table 1. List of the highly polymorphic single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) covered by the uveal melanoma panel

	SNP-number	Position (bp)
Chromosome 1	rs7418256	4,084,304
	rs7412149	9,579,964
	rs12048851	16,382,718
	rs10907287	18,497,478
	rs6425861	34,372,503
	rs639298	42,001,530
	rs11209106	68,001,206
	rs480304	82,123,485
	rs10493903	98,900,818
	rs17258467	120,323,058
	rs1752380	151,347,746
	rs3856201	163,736,341
	rs10753786	169,288,770
	rs2072040	175,096,333
	rs138685314	188,228,295
	rs6681013	215,154,797
	rs592197	234,817,283
Chromosome 3	rs1601368	10,829,535
	rs1549356	21,528,837
	rs7612272	28,816,226
	rs7648156	34,497,918
	rs1274960	39,192,542
	rs267218	45,633,834
	rs9311387	46,115,590
	rs295449	47,375,955
	rs3821659	54,987,923
	rs2702143	55,738,509
	rs9868630	56,012,096
	rs62259027	57,747,389
	rs9310190	70,420,837
	rs12497448	86,741,603
	rs1151334	102,257,506
	rs3749299	111,673,147
	rs4045771	121,962,478

Supplementary Table 1. Continued.

	SNP-number	Position (bp)
	rs975149	134,666,475
	rs1004009	152,754,481
	rs9866779	175,021,665
	rs11717776	197,569,559
Chromosome 8	rs2405488	2,141,263
	rs4498602	10,180,242
	rs17577614	15,470,729
	rs13275706	19,327,151
	rs6557699	23,602,610
	rs1882928	31,023,822
	rs10095600	36,911,156
	rs4147426	47,909,945
	rs10107875	60,526,565
	rs6995640	68,904,187
	rs2120410	79,844,006
	rs13261311	87,705,504
	rs4735258	94,935,937
	rs4734993	108,686,209
	rs2142250	117,093,062
	rs6415522	131,905,690
	rs7008457	145,536,593

	Tissue	GNAQ ex 4	GNAQ ex 5	GNA11 ex 4	<i>GNA11</i> ex 5	<i>EIF1AX</i> ex 1/2	<i>SF3B1</i> ex 14	BAP1	BAP1 IHC	Monosomy 3
UM-1	FFPE		•*			•*			+	
UM-2	FFPE		•					•	-	•
UM-3	FFPE		•					•	+/-	
UM-4	FFPE				•			•	ne	•
UM-5	FFPE		•					•	ne	•
UM-6	FFPE		•					•	ne	•
UM-7	FFPE				•		•		ne	
UM-8	FFPE		•			•			ne	
UM-9	FFPE								+	•
UM-10	FFPE				•				+	•
UM-11	FFPE				•		•		+	
UM-12	FFPE				•		•		+	
UM-13	FFPE				•		•		+	
UM-14	FFPE				•				+	
UM-15	FFPE				•				+	
UM-16	FFPE				•				+	
UM-17	FFPE				•			•	-	•
UM-18	FFPE		•			•			+	
UM-19	FFPE				•			•	+	•
UM-20	FFPE							•	-	•
UM-21	FFPE				•		•		+	
UM-22	FFPE				•		•		+	
UM-23	FFPE		•					•	-	•
UM-24	FFPE				•		•		+	
UM-25	FFPE				•*			•*	+/-	•
UM-26	FFPE		•*						+	
UM-27	FFPE				•*			•*	-	•
UM-28	Fresh								ne	
UM-29	Fresh		•*					•*	+	•
UM-30	Fresh					•			+	
UM-31	Fresh				•	•			+	
UM-32	Fresh								+/-	
UM-33	Fresh		•			•			+	•
UM-34	Fresh								+	
UM-35	Fresh				•*	•*			+	
UM-36	Fresh		•					•	-	•
UM-37	Fresh		•					•	ne	•

Supplementary Table 2. Mutation status, BAP1 immunohistochemistry and chromosome 3 status of all 70 samples

	Tissue	GNAQ ex 4	GNAQ ex 5	GNA11 ex 4	GNA11 ex 5	<i>EIF1AX</i> ex 1/2	<i>SF3B1</i> ex 14	BAP1	BAP1 IHC	Monosomy 3
UM-38	Fresh				•*				ne	•
UM-39	Fresh				•*			•*	+	•
UM-40	Fresh		•*			•*			+	
UM-41	Fresh								+	
UM-42	Fresh				•*	•*			+	
UM-43	Fresh				•	•			+	
UM-44	Fresh		•*					•*	ne	•
UM-45	Fresh		•			•			+	
UM-46	Fresh				•				ne	•
UM-47	Fresh	•						•	+	
UM-48	Fresh			•*				•*	-	•
UM-49	Fresh	•						•	-	•
UM-50	Fresh		•*						-	•
UM-51	Fresh				•*			•*	-	•
UM-52	Fresh				•*			•*	+	
UM-53	Fresh		•*				•*		+	
UM-54	Fresh		•*			•*			+	•
UM-55	Fresh								+	•
UM-56	Fresh		•*					•*	-	•
UM-57	Fresh				•*			•*	-	•
UM-58	Fresh		•					•	-	•
UM-59	Fresh		•*					•*	-	•
UM-60	Fresh		•*						-	•
UM-61	Fresh		•*			•*			+	
UM-62	Fresh				•*		•*		+	
UM-63	Fresh		•*			•*			+	
UM-64	Fresh		•*				•*		+	
UM-65	Fresh		•*					•*	-	•
UM-66	Fresh		•					•	ne	•
UM-67	Fresh		•*					•*	-	•
UM-68	Fresh				•*		•*		+	
UM-69	Fresh								+	
UM-70	Fresh				•			•	-	

Supplementary Table 2. Continued.

Mutation status

•: mutation observed; •*: mutation validated by sanger sequencing

BAP1 immunohistochemistry

+: positive BAP1 staining; +/-: mixed positive and negative BAP1 staining; -: negative BAP1 staining; ne: not evaluated

Copy number status

•: monosomy 3 observed



Supplementary Figure 1. Copy number analysis of chromosome 1 and 8. **A)** Single nucleotide polymorphism analysis indicates no loss of the entire chromosome 1. **B)** The absence of heterozygous variants in the B-allele frequency in the 1p arm of chromosome 1, indicates loss of 1p and normal 1q. **C)** Single nucleotide polymorphism analysis shows two copies of chromosome 8. **D)** Loss of the p-arm of chromosome 8 and ellelic imbalance of the 8q arm.

Supplementary Table 3. Chromosome status of chromosome 1p, 3 and 8q determined by lontorrent single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) assay or other copy number variation analysis techniques

	Loss of chromosome 1 p	Loss of chromosome 3	Gain of chromosome 8q
IonTorrent SNP assay	30% (19/63)	52% (33/63)	57% (36/63)
Other*	33% (20/61)	48% (29/61)	61% (37/61)

*SNP-array, multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification and/or fluorescence in situ hybridisation analysis

Chapter 5

General discussion and summary



Chapter 5.1

General discussion

Melanoma of the conjunctiva, iris and posterior uvea behave differently regarding prognosis, metastatic sites and genetic background. With the studies described in this thesis I have set the first step to unravel the genetic changes that play a role in the development of these different types of ocular melanoma. Some of these have a strong hereditary component and investigations of the role of germline BAP1 mutations in children and adults are described. To conclude this thesis, the use of non-invasive testing in UM and future prospects are discussed.

SIMILARITIES AND DIFFERENCES OF OCULAR MELANOMA SUBTYPES

Uveal melanoma

In general, ocular melanoma is divided in uveal melanoma (iris, ciliary body and choroidal melanoma) and non-uveal melanoma (conjunctival melanoma) in clinical practice and research. Further sub classifications are made based on clinical behaviour and genetic differences. The prognosis of patients with iris melanoma, with a 10 years mortality of 5%,¹ is favourable compared to patients with posterior UM in which the 5-years mortality is about 40%.² When looking into the genetic background of iris melanoma, it is remarkable that mutations observed in iris melanoma are different from those in posterior UM since both tumours arise from melanocytes in the uveal tract. However, there are some overlapping genes which are involved in both iris and posterior melanoma such as GNAQ, GNA11 and EIF1AX.^{3,4} The more recently identified genes CYSLTR2 and PLCB4 that play a role in posterior UM are not yet extensively tested in iris melanoma. Scholz et al. included CYSLTR2 in their next-generation sequencing panel for iris melanoma but no mutations were identified in contrast to the cohort of Johansson et al. in which two of the eight iris melanoma harboured a CYSLTR2 mutation.⁵ So far, no mutations in PLCB4 were detected in iris melanoma thus additional testing of PLCB4 and CYSLTR2 in larger iris melanoma cohorts could be of interest.

Mutations in *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *PLCB4* and *CYSLTR2* occur mainly in a mutually exclusive way in UM indicating that these four genes are involved in the same pathway.^{6,7} Since cases are described in which more than one gene is affected,^{5,7} it could be of benefit to test all UM for all these genes independent of their *GNAQ/GNA11* status. Johansson et al. showed that most cases in which *PLCB4* and *GNAQ/GNA11* co-occurred, residue R183 is affected instead of the more often affected residue Q209 in *GNAQ/GNA11*.⁵ This suggests that the driver effect of different mutations is dependent on their position on the gene. So R183H mutations in *GNAQ/GNA11* might need an additional event, a *PLCB4* mutation for instance, to develop into a carcinogenic state.

An interesting finding is the recent identification of an Arg625Cys mutation in *SF3B1* in one iris melanoma case since this residue is affected in posterior UM as well.⁴ No mutations in *SF3B1* were identified in a previous study,³ possibly due to the low mutation rate of this gene in iris melanoma. However, in addition to our study in which two mutations in *SF3B1* were detected in iris melanoma, Johansson et al. also showed the presence of *SF3B1* mutations in iris melanoma.⁵ The detection of *EIF1AX* mutations in iris melanoma and loss of BAP1 expression provide further support for an overlapping aetiology between iris and posterior melanoma.^{3,4}

So there are some similarities between iris and posterior melanoma. Both are malignancies arising from the uveal tract and some of the genetic characteristics overlap. Remarkably, iris melanoma harbour mutations in a variety of genes that are also involved in other melanoma subtypes. Mutations in BRAF, NRAS, PTEN, c-KIT and TP53 were detected in iris melanoma, mutations that are rarely involved in posterior UM.⁴ Mutation in these genes are typically found in skin and conjunctival melanoma. This highlights the difference between iris melanoma and melanoma of the posterior segment. It could be suggested that the difference in structure or the location of the iris compared to the posterior segment might play a role. For example, a lighter iris colour and dark choroidal pigmentation was associated with posterior UM.⁸ Moreover, an association between choroidal pigmentation and the number of choroidal melanocytes has been shown. So probably the composition of the different parts of the uveal tract could contribute to the development of UM since the amount of melanocytes differs between the anterior and posterior part. It seems unlikely that this difference is based already at the developmental status of the eye and that embryonic development contributes to differences in behaviour since the ciliary body (posterior UM) share the same embryonic origin as the iris.⁹

The role of ultraviolet light exposure could support the finding of overlapping gene mutations in cutaneous and iris melanoma. It could be suggested that the location of iris melanoma is correlated with sun-exposure since the lower hemisphere of the iris is more exposed to sunlight compared to the upper part and most iris melanoma occur in the inferior part of the iris.^{1,10} In our study we did not detect an ultraviolet induced mutation signature and primary tumour locations were in different quadrants of the eye. When there would be a large effect of light damage one would expect that the tumours were mainly located in the lower half of the iris. The relation to ultraviolet damage is also not supported by studies in mucosal melanoma which harbour *SF3B1* mutations as in posterior UM, but also *BRAF*, *NRAS* and *c-KIT* mutations.¹¹ These melanoma have, like iris melanoma, genes involved which are known in posterior melanoma as well as cutaneous melanoma. Therefore, the role of ultraviolet damage based on the genetic profile of these melanoma subtypes can be argued since these

melanomas have no sun exposure. In contrast there are studies indicating that there is a higher tumour burden and features associated with UV-damage in iris melanoma. This was not seen in the more posteriorly located melanoma of the uveal tract.⁵

Regarding the location of *BRAF* mutations in iris melanoma and cutaneous melanoma, it is interesting that they share the same residues. In a small cohort of iris melanoma, V600 mutations were detected¹² which occur in cutaneous melanoma quite often.¹³ A less common involved residue in skin melanoma, D594 which correlates with good prognosis¹⁴ was affected in one iris melanoma.⁴ This case is interesting since the tumour harbour a *GNA11* mutation as well, resulting in a genetic profile overlapping with both posterior UM and cutaneous UM.

Conjunctival melanoma

Conjunctival melanoma comprises only a small percentage of all ocular melanoma and has an incidence of 0.2-0.8 per million in the Western World.¹⁵ It can arise from primary acquired melanosis (PAM), a nevus or de novo and can have a recurrent character.^{16,17} Metastatic disease develop in less than one third of all patients, mostly to regional lymph nodes but distant metastases have also been described.^{15,16} This is in contrast with uveal melanoma, which metastasizes haematogenous and mainly to the liver.¹⁸ Extraocular extension is associated with poor survival as is incisional biopsy prior to treatment.¹⁷ It has been shown that greater tumour thickness, a higher mitotic figure count, ulceration are also predictors of metastatic disease.¹⁹ A correlation between metastasis free survival and the presence of a *TERT* mutations was evident in our study.¹⁶ It should be noted that our cohort concerned relatively large lesions and also the location of the tumours could explain the inferior prognosis. The occurrence of BRAF mutations in the tumour did not correlate with prognosis which is congruent with previous studies in conjunctival melanoma.^{20,21} The presence of BRAF mutations is interesting since this corresponds with the mutation signature of cutaneous melanoma in which BRAF mutations are frequently present at the same residue (V600).^{17,22} Other mutations identified in conjunctival melanoma comprises mutations in NRAS, PTEN and c-KIT,^{16,23} indicating that there are overlapping molecular features with cutaneous melanoma in which activators of the RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK pathway are also present.²⁴ In addition, the copy number variations found in conjunctival melanoma are more similar to cutaneous and mucosal melanoma than UM.²³ These findings suggest that the genetics of conjunctival melanoma are quite distinct from UM. Interestingly, mutations in BAP1 with loss of BAP1 expression and even an SF3B1 (p.Arg625His) mutation¹⁶ were identified which are related to the genetic make-up of posterior UM.²⁵ However, to our knowledge no other conjunctival melanoma case harbouring an SF3B1 mutation or EIF1AX¹⁶ has been reported. In addition, no mutations in *GNAQ/GNA11*^{16,23} have been observed, suggesting a different molecular origin and tumour development of conjunctival melanoma compared to UM. It is interesting that an *SF3B1* mutation was found not co-existing with a *GNAQ/GNA11* mutation because these driver genes are mutated in UM and subsequently followed by mutations in *EIF1AX*, *SF3B1* and *BAP1*. This suggest that another driver gene is involved in conjunctival melanoma.

HEREDITY OF POSTERIOR UVEAL MELANOMA

UM is a rare disease and in the vast majority not of familial origin. However, UM families have been described and the underlying genetic predisposition is clear in some cases. Germline BAP1 mutations are known to predispose for different types of cancer including UM. Most common tumours associated with the BAP1-tumour predisposition syndrome (BAP1-TPDS) are UM, mesothelioma, cutaneous melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, non-melanoma skin cancer, meningioma and cholangiocarcinoma.²⁶ The age of onset in patients with other tumours associated with the BAP1-TPDS is lower in tumours with a loss of function variant compared to a missense mutation except for UM and renal cell carcinoma. However, it should be noted that the age of onset was lower in all groups with germline BAP1 mutations compared to the general population with these types of tumours and except for UM and renal cell carcinoma, the age of onset in patients with tumours associated with the BAP1-TPDS is lower in tumours with a loss of function variant compared to a missense mutation.²⁶ A possible explanation for the younger age of onset could be the role that BAP1 plays in cell cycle regulation. It has been shown that BAP1 has tumour suppression functions due to the involvement in cell death.²⁷ Since aging is accompanied by accumulative DNA damage,²⁸ it is possible that if tumour suppressor genes are affected, DNA damage occurs at a younger age. This might play a role in the younger age of onset of specific types of cancer in the BAP1-TPDS.

As the age of onset of *BAP1*-TPDS associated tumours is at a younger age it is interesting to study the role of germline *BAP1* mutations in children. Genomic instability and the accumulation of DNA damage are hallmarks of both aging and development of cancer which are intrinsic related to each other.²⁹ One could speculate on the genetic make-up of children that develop cancer that this might be prone to DNA damage since aging is not present. The paediatric uveal melanoma (PUM) study focussed on the *BAP1* gene, a gene which correlates with survival in UM and is known to play a role in familial cancer. In this study, children and young adults were included with uveal melanoma and *BAP1* testing was performed on tumour material. Germline testing for *BAP1* was performed when the UM harboured a *BAP1* mutation or in case no tumour material was

available. A germline BAP1 mutation was only found in one patient (out of 93) which has been described previously as member of a large *BAP1*-TPDS family.³⁰ This suggest that germline BAP1 mutations does not play a substantial role in the development of UM in children and young adults. However, we applied only targeted sequencing of the known UM genes so we cannot exclude the presence of germline mutations in other genes. A gene of interest is the p53 gene which can be mutated in cancer patients including children. A cohort of 268 children witch cancer showed a germline p53 mutation in 6.3% of cases (soft tissue sarcoma, osteosarcoma, brain tumour, adrenocortical carcinoma and neuroblastoma).³¹ This percentage is clearly higher compared to BAP1 germline mutations. However, in this study patients were selected based on the presence of cancer in combination with a positive family history for cancer, whereas the cohort of the PUM study was not adjusted for this criteria. It is a logical consequence that the amount of germline mutations is higher in a cohort in which family members are affected as well. If it is hypothesized that cancer at a young age occurs as a consequence of a genetic predisposition, the aim of future studies should be to unravel and identify sporadic genes that are involved as well as germline mutations. One strategy could be to perform whole exome or whole genome sequencing in order to identify genes that contribute to the development of cancer. UM specific genes could be identified to perform germline testing in patients in which familial aggregation of UM is present. When looking in a broader perspective in the light of cancer related syndromes such as the BAP1-TPDS, patients with a family history of cancer or a young age of onset should be tested. The first step in this process is to test only patients with UM and a first or second degree relative with a history of cancer to reduce the effects of noise in data acquisition since cancer is more common nowadays. There must be an indication of an underlying cause, so the rate of affected relatives should be higher than would be expected based on chance. Stricter criteria such as a young age of onset or more than one affected relative should be applied in case of cancers with a relatively high incidence. Testing in patients could be extended to a broader group when certain candidate genes are identified.

NON-INVASIVE TESTING AND PROGNOSTICATION MODELS

Clinical and histopathological parameters are used for prognostication of UM patients. Somatic mutations and chromosome aberrations correlate with patient prognosis, for example loss of chromosome 3 and *BAP1* mutated UM are known to be associated with poor survival. Several techniques have been described to evaluate the chromosomal status of the tumour in UM patients such as karyotyping, fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH), single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array and next-generation sequencing.³² These techniques

all require tumour tissue which is in general not available in patients who undergo eye persevering treatment. Exploring methods in which blood can be used to identify the chromosomal status of the primary UM is important since this can be used to predict a prognosis for patients. Both, circulating tumour DNA or cell free DNA (cfDNA) and circulating tumour cells (CTC's), has been used to predict prognosis of cancer patients and reflect the genetics of the primary tumour. It has been shown that ctDNA (circulating tumour DNA) can detect relapsing disease in breast cancer before this could be detected by conventional imaging.³³ This faces some difficulties in the light of UM since these are relatively small tumours with a significant lower tumour load compared to breast or prostate cancer.

Cell free DNA

For the usefulness of cfDNA as a biological marker in UM it is necessary to make use of a specific mutation to discriminate the tumour DNA from the normal DNA. Mutations in BAP1 display a large variety from point mutations to large deletions which makes it difficult to use as a target, especially when the genetic profile of the primary tumour is not known. Probably SF3B1 mutations, which are hotspot mutations, as well as GNAO/GNA11 mutations could be used for detection/analysis. The advantage of these hotspot mutations is that a specific target region can be analysed as these mutations have a high prevalence among UM. One of the drawbacks of this method is that the mutation profile of the metastases can differ from the primary tumour. This discrepancy between mutations is only rarely observed in UM whereas it is more common in other cancer types.³⁴ Harbour et al showed that UM harbour genetic alterations during their metastatic development and additional mutations occur during this process⁷ but mutations from the primary tumour have also been detected in the metastatic tissue.³⁵ Thus, if a targeted digital PCR (dPCR) is developed for the detection of specific mutations in the blood of UM patients, this could be used as a diagnostic biomarker and probably as a tool for the detection of early metastatic disease when sensitive enough to detect these micro-metastasis. It has already been shown that ctDNA could be detected in patients with UM.³⁶ ctDNA levels were significantly higher in patients with metastatic UM compared to local disease, which makes this method suitable for the detection and follow-up of metastatic disease. Moreover, mutations in GNAQ and GNA11 were detected in the ctDNA which demonstrates that this method is tumour specific.

CfDNA can also be used to detect genomic alterations in patients and healthy individuals. One of the methods is shallow sequencing, a spin-off of the non-invasive prenatal testing (NIPT) in pregnant women. Here blood of a UM patient will be used for screening for aneuploidy in the tumour. The genetic profile of UM is correlated with survival as described previously so the detection of loss of chromosome 3 in UM patients can be of prognostic value. This method could

be used at the time of diagnosis especially when eye preserving treatment is performed to gain some insight in the tumour characteristics based on genetic information. In a later stage this could be used as a follow-up method in patient who underwent surgery as well as patients treated with radiotherapy. We were able to detect copy number variations including loss of chromosome 3 in a patient with metastatic disease (unpublished data) using the NIPT test. The detection of copy number alterations in CTC's and cfDNA was also shown by Beasley et al. in metastatic UM.³⁶ If it is possible to detect copy number variations in patients with metastatic disease it could also be used at time at diagnosis. However, the tumour load is presumably lower at time at diagnosis compared to metastatic disease it is necessary to optimize this technique for UM patients first.

In patients who underwent eye persevering treatment the genetic profile of cfDNA and circulating tumour cells could be very useful to predict patients' prognosis. It has been shown that GNAO and GNA11 mutations can be detected in cfDNA of patients with metastatic or extraocular uveal melanoma using ultradeep sequencing.³⁷ Since GNAQ and GNA11 have hotspot mutations in UM,³⁸ these genes are suitable for mutation analysis in cfDNA or ctDNA. SF3B1 mutated UM are probably appropriate for this method as well because of their hotspot character whereas the detection of *BAP1* mutations in cfDNA will probably face many difficulties in the implementation of this method in daily practice. Many different mutations are described in BAP1 as well as large deletions which makes it more difficult to detect these variants compared to hotspot mutations. However, a recent study shows the implementation of WGS in primary tumour material and blood samples in patients with metastatic disease.³⁹ Different tumour types were included showing that these methods are not tumour specific but can be used in a broader way. Both single nucleotide variants (SNV'S) as indels but also microsatellite instability and fusion genes were detected using this panel because of the use of tumour material and blood.

Despite the fact that the use of cfDNA might be more suitable for genes harbouring a hotspot mutation, it can be useful in different ways. When a systemic treatment for metastatic disease is developed these biomarkers could be used to evaluate therapeutic response. A big advantage relative to conventional imaging is the detection of micro-metastatic cells, which could not be detected on MRI or ultrasound. This will give more information in an early stage of the disease and probably lead to earlier treatment when a lower tumour burden is present. The correlation of ctDNA and prognosis is shown in patients with upper tract urothelial carcinoma as well as postoperative minimal residual disease.⁴⁰ This could be of clinical relevance in UM patients although no adjuvant treatment is available yet. Regarding future prospects when targeted treatment is available, this could be more specified to a patients' unique genetic tumour profile. This could lead to an earlier and more effective treatment of metastatic disease.

Circulating tumour cells

The use of circulating tumour cells in UM has also been described in several studies. Anand et al. showed a correlation between the presence of CTCs and the development of metastasis in UM patients.⁴¹ Moreover, CTCs were detected in patients with early stage UM and poor prognostic characteristics such as monosomy 3. Since CTCs were detected in almost one third of UM patients in this cohort, the absence of these cells in the blood could not be used as a predictor for a favourable prognosis yet. In patients who are at high risk for the development of metastatic disease, based on primary tumour characteristics, this method could be used to detect residual disease or the development of metastatic disease although the sensitivity is low.

Exosomes

Knowledge about the role of exosomes, nanosized extracellular vesicles present in body fluids, in cancer development has increased during the past decades. It has been shown that patients with metastatic UM have a higher amount of circulating exosomes in their blood compared to healthy controls.⁴² mi-RNA profiles derived from exosomes demonstrated pathways involved in signalling and metabolisms which probably reflect the characteristics from the melanoma cells.¹¹ Moreover, a correlation between inflammation-related proteins in exosomes and metastatic disease in UM patients has been found.⁴³ This gives rise to the idea that different components of exosomes derived from blood of UM patients could be used in the prognostication of these patients. Since exosomes are present in many body fluids not only blood could be used for this purpose. The corpus vitreous which is anatomically close to posterior UM could be a target for biopsy, however a vitreous puncture which is performed with a needle through the sclera is not considered as a non-invasive technique. More approachable methods are the use of tears or anterior chamber fluid of which last mentioned is less invasive compared to the vitreous biopsy. All ocular fluids that could be used will face the same problem which is the limited amount of material that will be harvested for further research. The amount of fluid derived from the eye is only a fraction compared to blood or urine. This will make the isolation of exosomes more difficult especially when specific tumour derived exosomes are needed for further analysis. Besides these considerations it should be noted that the mi-RNA profile found in the vitreous is not necessarily the same as detected in exosomes isolated from the vitreous.⁴⁴

All these genetic information from tumour tissue and when validated the noninvasive techniques could be used for prognostication of UM patients in clinical practice. One of the tools developed for this purpose is the Liverpool Uveal Melanoma Prognosticator Online V3 (LUMPO3) which was validated in 2020.⁴⁵ In this model different covariates are included such as chromosome 3 and 8q status, tumour diameter, anterior margin, tumour thickness, extraocular extension, epithelioid cells, closed-loops and mitotic count.⁴⁶ It has also been shown that copy number variation profile correlated with mutation status. With the addition of clinicopathological data a multi-modality regression model was suitable for patients' survival prediction.⁴⁷ The use of these prognostication models could be relevant for clinical follow-up of patients. Surveillance protocols include blood tests for liver function and imaging such as ultrasound, MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) or CT (computed tomography). Drawbacks are the costs for the national health care system and in case of particular imaging the ionizing radiation. Screening frequency can be limited and therefore improve cost effectiveness and reduce risks such as radiation load with the implementation of risk calculation for metastatic disease.

To conclude, new approaches and methods in diagnostic and testing are promising for future prospects. The use of non-invasive testing techniques can be helpful in patients receiving eye preserving treatment in different types of ocular melanoma. Genetic characteristics of the primary tumour can be evaluated and used for prognostication and ctDNA levels can be used to detect the presence of minimal residual disease. Since the different types of ocular melanoma harbour their unique combination of genetic alternations and clinical characteristics it is possible to perform a more targeted diagnostic approach or use different genetic panels to make it more cost effective. When a non-invasive approach is added to prognosticate patients' prognosis, this would be a great step of improving patient care.

REFERENCES

- 1. Shields CL, Shields JA, Materin M, Gershenbaum E, Singh AD, Smith A. Iris melanoma: risk factors for metastasis in 169 consecutive patients. Ophthalmology 2001;108(1):172-8.
- 2. Kujala E, Makitie T, Kivela T. Very long-term prognosis of patients with malignant uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003;44(11):4651-9.
- 3. Scholz SL, Moller I, Reis H, et al. Frequent GNAQ, GNA11, and EIF1AX Mutations in Iris Melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2017;58(9):3464-70.
- 4. van Poppelen NM, Vaarwater J, Mudhar HS, et al. Genetic Background of Iris Melanomas and Iris Melanocytic Tumors of Uncertain Malignant Potential. Ophthalmology 2018;125(6):904-12.
- 5. Johansson PA, Brooks K, Newell F, et al. Whole genome landscapes of uveal melanoma show an ultraviolet radiation signature in iris tumours. Nat Commun 2020;11(1):2408.
- 6. Moore AR, Ceraudo E, Sher JJ, et al. Recurrent activating mutations of G-protein-coupled receptor CYSLTR2 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 2016;48(6):675-80.
- 7. Field MG, Durante MA, Anbunathan H, et al. Punctuated evolution of canonical genomic aberrations in uveal melanoma. Nat Commun 2018;9(1):116.
- 8. Harbour JW, Brantley MA, Jr., Hollingsworth H, Gordon M. Association between choroidal pigmentation and posterior uveal melanoma in a white population. Br J Ophthalmol 2004;88(1):39-43.
- 9. Davis-Silberman N, Ashery-Padan R. Iris development in vertebrates; genetic and molecular considerations. Brain Res 2008;1192:17-28.
- 10. Krohn J, Sundal KV, Froystein T. Topography and clinical features of iris melanoma. BMC Ophthalmol 2022;22(1):6.
- 11. Quek C, Rawson RV, Ferguson PM, et al. Recurrent hotspot SF3B1 mutations at codon 625 in vulvovaginal mucosal melanoma identified in a study of 27 Australian mucosal melanomas. Oncotarget 2019;10(9):930-41.
- 12. Henriquez F, Janssen C, Kemp EG, Roberts F. The T1799A BRAF mutation is present in iris melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007;48(11):4897-900.
- 13. Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV, et al. A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 2012;150(2):251-63.
- 14. Wu X, Yan J, Dai J, et al. Mutations in BRAF codons 594 and 596 predict good prognosis in melanoma. Oncol Lett 2017;14(3):3601-5.
- Kastelan S, Gverovic Antunica A, Beketic Oreskovic L, Salopek Rabatic J, Kasun B, Bakija I. Conjunctival Melanoma - Epidemiological Trends and Features. Pathol Oncol Res 2018;24(4):787-96.
- van Poppelen NM, van Ipenburg JA, van den Bosch Q, et al. Molecular Genetics of Conjunctival Melanoma and Prognostic Value of TERT Promoter Mutation Analysis. Int J Mol Sci 2021;22(11).
- 17. Larsen AC, Dahmcke CM, Dahl C, et al. A Retrospective Review of Conjunctival Melanoma Presentation, Treatment, and Outcome and an Investigation of Features Associated With BRAF Mutations. JAMA Ophthalmol 2015;133(11):1295-303.
- Diener-West M, Reynolds SM, Agugliaro DJ, et al. Development of metastatic disease after enrollment in the COMS trials for treatment of choroidal melanoma: Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study Group Report No. 26. Arch Ophthalmol 2005;123(12):1639-43.
- 19. Esmaeli B, Rubin ML, Xu S, et al. Greater Tumor Thickness, Ulceration, and Positive Sentinel Lymph Node Are Associated With Worse Prognosis in Patients With Conjunctival Melanoma: Implications for Future AJCC Classifications. Am J Surg Pathol 2019;43(12):1701-10.
- 20. Sheng X, Li S, Chi Z, et al. Prognostic factors for conjunctival melanoma: a study in ethnic Chinese patients. Br J Ophthalmol 2015;99(7):990-6.
- 21. Mor JM, Heindl LM. Systemic BRAF/MEK Inhibitors as a Potential Treatment Option in Metastatic Conjunctival Melanoma. Ocul Oncol Pathol 2017;3(2):133-41.

- 22. Greaves WO, Verma S, Patel KP, et al. Frequency and spectrum of BRAF mutations in a retrospective, single-institution study of 1112 cases of melanoma. J Mol Diagn 2013;15(2):220-6.
- 23. Griewank KG, Westekemper H, Murali R, et al. Conjunctival melanomas harbor BRAF and NRAS mutations and copy number changes similar to cutaneous and mucosal melanomas. Clin Cancer Res 2013;19(12):3143-52.
- 24. Glitza IC, Davies MA. Genotyping of cutaneous melanoma. Chin Clin Oncol 2014;3(3):27.
- 25. Yavuzyigitoglu S, Koopmans AE, Verdijk RM, et al. Uveal Melanomas with SF3B1 Mutations: A Distinct Subclass Associated with Late-Onset Metastases. Ophthalmology 2016;123(5):1118-28.
- 26. Walpole S, Pritchard AL, Cebulla CM, et al. Comprehensive Study of the Clinical Phenotype of Germline BAP1 Variant-Carrying Families Worldwide. J Natl Cancer Inst 2018;110(12):1328-41.
- 27. Ventii KH, Devi NS, Friedrich KL, et al. BRCA1-associated protein-1 is a tumor suppressor that requires deubiquitinating activity and nuclear localization. Cancer Res 2008;68(17):6953-62.
- 28. McNeely T, Leone M, Yanai H, Beerman I. DNA damage in aging, the stem cell perspective. Hum Genet 2020;139(3):309-31.
- 29. Aunan JR, Cho WC, Soreide K. The Biology of Aging and Cancer: A Brief Overview of Shared and Divergent Molecular Hallmarks. Aging Dis 2017;8(5):628-42.
- 30. Wadt K, Choi J, Chung JY, et al. A cryptic BAP1 splice mutation in a family with uveal and cutaneous melanoma, and paraganglioma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 2012;25(6):815-8.
- 31. Chompret A, Brugieres L, Ronsin M, et al. P53 germline mutations in childhood cancers and cancer risk for carrier individuals. Br J Cancer 2000;82(12):1932-7.
- 32. Smit KN, van Poppelen NM, Vaarwater J, et al. Combined mutation and copy-number variation detection by targeted next-generation sequencing in uveal melanoma. Mod Pathol 2018;31(5):763-71.
- 33. Coombes RC, Page K, Salari R, et al. Personalized Detection of Circulating Tumor DNA Antedates Breast Cancer Metastatic Recurrence. Clin Cancer Res 2019;25(14):4255-63.
- 34. Watanabe F, Suzuki K, Tamaki S, et al. Longitudinal monitoring of KRAS-mutated circulating tumor DNA enables the prediction of prognosis and therapeutic responses in patients with pancreatic cancer. PLoS One 2019;14(12):e0227366.
- 35. Shain AH, Bagger MM, Yu R, et al. The genetic evolution of metastatic uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 2019;51(7):1123-30.
- 36. Beasley A, Isaacs T, Khattak MA, et al. Clinical Application of Circulating Tumor Cells and Circulating Tumor DNA in Uveal Melanoma. JCO Precis Oncol 2018;2.
- Metz CH, Scheulen M, Bornfeld N, Lohmann D, Zeschnigk M. Ultradeep sequencing detects GNAQ and GNA11 mutations in cell-free DNA from plasma of patients with uveal melanoma. Cancer Med 2013;2(2):208-15.
- 38. Koopmans AE, Vaarwater J, Paridaens D, et al. Patient survival in uveal melanoma is not affected by oncogenic mutations in GNAQ and GNA11. Br J Cancer 2013;109(2):493-6.
- 39. Roepman P, de Bruijn E, van Lieshout S, et al. Clinical Validation of Whole Genome Sequencing for Cancer Diagnostics. J Mol Diagn 2021;23(7):816-33.
- 40. Nakano K, Koh Y, Yamamichi G, et al. Perioperative circulating tumor DNA enables the identification of patients with poor prognosis in upper tract urothelial carcinoma. Cancer Sci 2022;113(5):1830-42.
- 41. Anand K, Roszik J, Gombos D, et al. Pilot Study of Circulating Tumor Cells in Early-Stage and Metastatic Uveal Melanoma. Cancers (Basel) 2019;11(6).
- 42. Eldh M, Olofsson Bagge R, Lasser C, et al. MicroRNA in exosomes isolated directly from the liver circulation in patients with metastatic uveal melanoma. BMC Cancer 2014;14:962.
- 43. Wroblewska JP, Lach MS, Kulcenty K, et al. The Analysis of Inflammation-Related Proteins in a Cargo of Exosomes Derived from the Serum of Uveal Melanoma Patients Reveals Potential Biomarkers of Disease Progression. Cancers (Basel) 2021;13(13).
- 44. Ragusa M, Barbagallo C, Statello L, et al. miRNA profiling in vitreous humor, vitreal exosomes and serum from uveal melanoma patients: Pathological and diagnostic implications. Cancer Biol Ther 2015;16(9):1387-96.

- 45. Cunha Rola A, Taktak A, Eleuteri A, et al. Multicenter External Validation of the Liverpool Uveal Melanoma Prognosticator Online: An OOG Collaborative Study. Cancers (Basel) 2020;12(2).
- Eleuteri A, Taktak AFG, Coupland SE, Heimann H, Kalirai H, Damato B. Prognostication of metastatic death in uveal melanoma patients: A Markov multi-state model. Comput Biol Med 2018;102:151-6.
- 47. Drabarek W, Yavuzyigitoglu S, Obulkasim A, et al. Multi-Modality Analysis Improves Survival Prediction in Enucleated Uveal Melanoma Patients. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2019;60(10):3595-605.

Chapter 5.2

Summary

Ocular melanoma comprises an entity of melanoma of which all have their specific clinical, histopathlogical and genomic characteristics. In this thesis, several aspects of the different types of ocular melanoma are described.

In **chapter 1**, a general introduction on the different types of ocular melanoma (uveal melanoma and conjunctival melanoma) and their genetics are explained. Uveal melanoma (UM) is the most common form of ocular melanoma and can be divided into anterior (iris) and posterior (ciliary body and choroidal melanoma). Iris melanoma is less common and has a favorable prognosis compared to posterior melanoma. The genetic profile of posterior melanoma is correlated with survival, patients with posterior UM and monosomy 3 or loss of BAP1 expression in their tumour are most likely to develop metastatic disease, mainly to the liver. Metastases in patients with an *SF3B1* mutated tumour can develop even after 10 years from identification of the primary tumour.

Metastatic disease in conjunctival melanoma is detected mainly in lymphnodes and correlated with another genetic profile compared to UM. *TERT* and *BRAF* mutations, occuring in cutaneous melanoma as well, play a role in de development of conjunctival melanoma.

Not only somatic mutations occur in UM since families with an underlying germline mutation in *BAP1* are described. In these families with the *BAP1* tumour predisposition syndrome, several forms of cancer occur including UM. Germline testing in families with a high prevalence of specific tumours can be of additional value.

Chapter 2 comprises several paragraphs concerning different types of ocular melanoma and genetic backgrounds of these tumour types. In **chapter 2.1** iris melanoma and iris nevi are described in more detail. Not only mutations that occur in posterior UM were detected, but mutations that are found in cutaneous melanoma were identified with next-generation sequencing. One *SF3B1* mutation (Arg625Cys) was detected and mutations in *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *PTEN*, *c-KIT* and *TP53* were present. No significant correlation between BAP1 expression and survival was found. Interestingly, mutations in iris nevi were detected in *GNAQ*, *GNA11* and *BAP1* without loss of expression of BAP1. Since these borderline malignant nevi harbour potential malignant characteristics these nevi could be considered as iris melanocytic tumours of uncertain malignant potential.

The genetic background of conjunctival melanoma is highlighted in **chapter 2.2**. These melanoma harbour characteristics of posterior UM and cutaneous melanoma in which *BRAF* is frequently mutated. A correlation between *TERT* promotor mutation status and survival was identified. Patients with a conjunctival melanoma harbouring a mutation in this gene were more likely to develop metastatic disease compared to patients with a *TERT* wildtype melanoma. A mutation in *SF3B1*, the same residue as affected in UM, was detected. To our knowledge this is the first case described with this mutation.

An interesting phenomenon called chromothripsis is described in **chapter 2.3**. Parts of chromosomes are rearranged and this was found in almost 3% of our ROMS cohort of UM. Different chromosomes were affected by chromotripsis as well as specific co-concurrent driver mutations occurring in UM. In one tumour chromothripsis in two chromosomes was identified. Since chromothripsis is rare, further statistical analysis regarding survival was precluded.

The focus of **chapter 2.4** are spliceosome genes that were interesting to analyse in UM. Mutations in *SF3B1*, a gene involved in splicing, is not only affected in UM but occurs in myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) as well. Tumours with an *SF3B1*-like chromosomal profile were selected and tested for mutations in *SRSF2* and *U2AF1*, genes involved in splicing and MDS. *SRSF2* mutations were detected in 2 UM (out of 42), all being in-frame deletions, whereas the mutations in MDS are missense mutations.

Chapter 3 outlines the heredity of UM. A general overview of germline mutations in *BAP1* is described in **chapter 3.1.** Germline mutations in *BAP1* are described in the *BAP1* tumour predisposition syndrome (*BAP1*-TPDS) underlying different types of cancer such as UM, malignant mesothelioma, renal cell carcinoma and basal cell carcinoma. Family history is therefore important in clinical practice and guidelines for germline screening are proposed. These guidelines included not only specific cancer types occurring in the family but also age of onset. In **chapter 3.2** an international collaborative study from the Ocular Oncology Group (OOG) is presented. In this study children and young adults with UM were tested for germline mutations in *BAP1*. Moreover, clinical data was collected and it was found that boys have a favorable prognosis compared to girls. Metastatic disease was present in 13% of the 93 patients included in this study. Only one germline mutation in *BAP1* was detected which was previously described. This suggests that germline mutations in *BAP1* are not the predisposing factor of development of UM in children and young adults.

Chapter 4 describes a technique to identify mutations in UM using nextgeneration sequencing (NGS). A panel was developed and tested in fresh and formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tumour material derived from UM. The genes included in this panel were *GNAQ*, *GNA11*, *BAP1*, *SF3B1* and *EIF1AX*. Moreover, SNPs covering highly polymorphic regions of chromosome 1, 3 and 8 were included to perform copy number variation analysis. This technique was validated using Sanger sequencing and SNP-array analysis. Moreover, BAP1 immunohistochemistry was used for *BAP1* analysis. This NGS technique is an alternative for Sanger sequencing and an advantage is the possibility to use DNA obtained from FFPE material which is often fragmented and therefore facing difficulties in other types of sequencing. The main findings of this thesis are discussed in **chapter 5**. The differences and similarities of the individual types of ocular melanoma are elucidated and the role of germline mutations in UM is discussed. Finally, the role and possibilities of non-invasive testing and future prospects are described.

Chapter 5.3

Samenvatting

Oculair melanoom is de verzamelnaam voor een aantal verschillende vormen van oogmelanoom welke elk hun eigen specifieke klinische, histopathologische en genomische eigenschappen hebben. In dit proefschrift worden verschillende aspecten van de afzonderlijke vormen van het oculaire melanoom beschreven.

Hoofdstuk 1 geeft een algemene introductie over het oculaire melanoom. De verschillende vormen (uveamelanoom en conjunctiva melanoom) en hun genetische achtergrond worden uitgelegd. Het uveamelanoom (UM) is de meest voorkomende vorm van oculair melanoom en wordt verdeeld in anterieur (iris) en posterieur (corpus cilaire en choroideamelanoom). Het iris melanoom is minder voorkomend en heeft een betere prognose ten opzichte van het posterieure melanoom. Het genetische profiel van de posterieure melanomen is gecorreleerd met overleving, patiënten met posterior UM en monosomie 3 of verlies van BAP1 expressie in hun tumor hebben de hoogste kans op het ontwikkelen van metastasen, voornamelijk in de lever. Metastasen in patiënten met een *SF3B1* gemuteerde tumor kunnen zelfs 10 jaar na het vaststellen van de primaire tumor nog ontwikkelen.

Gemetastaseerde ziekte van conjunctiva melanomen wordt meestal als eerst vastgesteld in drainerende lymfklieren en zijn gecorreleerd met een ander genetisch profiel in vergelijking met UM. *TERT* en *BRAF* mutaties, die voorkomen in cutane melanomen, spelen een rol in de ontwikkeling van conjunctiva melanomen.

Niet alleen somatische mutaties komen voor in UM aangezien er ook families beschreven zijn met een onderliggende kiembaan mutatie in *BAP1*. In deze families met het *BAP1* tumor predispositie syndroom komen verschillende vormen van kanker voor, waaronder het uveamelanoom. Het kan daarom zinvol zijn om te testen of er kiembaanmutaties aanwezig zijn in families met een hoge prevalentie van specifieke tumoren.

Hoofdstuk 2 omvat een beschrijving van verschillende typen van het oculaire melanoom en de genetische achtergrond van deze tumoren. In **hoofdstuk 2.1** worden iris melanomen en iris nevi in meer detail beschreven. Niet alleen mutaties die voorkomen in posterieure UM werden gedetecteerd, maar ook mutaties die gevonden worden in huidmelanomen werden vastgesteld middels next-generation sequencing. Een *SF3B1* mutatie (Arg625Cys) werd gevonden en daarnaast waren mutaties in *NRAS, BRAF, PTEN, c-KIT* en *TP53* aanwezig. Er werd geen significante correlatie tussen BAP1 expressie en overleving gevonden. Interessant genoeg werden er mutaties gedetecteerd in *GNAQ, GNA11* en *BAP1* zonder verlies van BAP1 expressie in iris nevi. Aangezien deze borderline malignant nevi potentieel maligne kenmerken bevatten zouden deze als iris melanocytaire tumoren met onzeker maligne potentieel beschouwd kunnen worden The genetische achtergrond van conjunctiva melanomen wordt toegelicht in **hoofdstuk 2.2**. Deze melanomen bevatten eigenschappen van zowel posterieure UM als huidmelanomen en bevatten vaak *BRAF* mutaties. Een correlatie tussen *TERT* promotor status en overleving werd vastgesteld. De conjunctiva melanoom patiënten met een mutatie in dit gen ontwikkelden vaker metastasen vergeleken met patiënten met een *TERT* wildtype melanoom. Een mutatie in *SF3B1*, hetzelfde aangedane residu als bij UM, werd gevonden. Voor zover bekend is dit de eerste casus waarbij deze mutatie beschreven wordt. Een interessant fenomeen genaamd chromothripsis is beschreven in **hoofdstuk**

2.3. Door een onbekende oorzaak valt een chromosoom uiteen en deze stukken chromosoom worden opnieuw gerangschikt. Dit werd in bijna 3% van ons ROMS UM cohort gevonden. Verschillende chromosomen waren aangedaan evenals verschillende primaire en secundaire driver mutaties die voorkomen in UM. In één tumor was chromothripsis aanwezig in twee chromosomen. Omdat chromothripsis zeldzaam is kon er geen verdere statistische analyse betreffende overleving verricht worden.

De focus van **hoofdstuk 2.4** ligt op andere genen die interessant waren te analyseren in UM. Mutaties in *SF3B1*, een gen wat betrokken is bij *splicing*, is niet alleen aangedaan in UM maar komt ook voor bij met myelodysplastische syndroom (MDS). Tumoren met een *SF3B1* geassocieerd chromosoom profiel werden geselecteerd en getest op mutaties in *SRSF2* en *U2AF1*, genen betrokken in *splicing* en MDS. *SRSF2* mutaties werden in 2 UM (van de 42) gevonden, allen *in-frame* deleties terwijl *missense* mutaties in MDS gevonden worden.

Hoofdstuk 3 beschrijft de erfelijkheid van UM. Een overzicht van kiembaan mutaties in *BAP1* is beschreven in **hoofdstuk 3.1**. Kiembaan mutaties in *BAP1* zijn beschreven in het *BAP1* tumor predispositie syndroom (*BAP1*-TPDS), onderliggend aan verschillende typen kanker zoals UM, maligne mesothelioom, renaal cel carcinoom en basaal cel carcinoom. Een familieanamnese is daarom belangrijk in de praktijk, en een voorstel voor richtlijnen voor het screenen van kiembaan mutaties werd gedaan. In deze richtlijn worden de soorten kanker die voorkomen in de familie meegenomen maar ook de leeftijd waarbij kanker ontstaat.

In **hoofdstuk 3.2** wordt een internationale studie van de Ocular Oncology Group (OOG) beschreven. In deze studie worden kinderen en jongvolwassenen met UM getest op kiembaan mutaties in *BAP1*. Daarnaast werden klinische gegevens verzameld en werd gevonden dat jongens een betere prognose hadden ten opzichte van meisjes. Gemetastaseerde ziekte was aanwezig in 13% van de 93 patiënten die werden geïncludeerd in deze studie. Enkel één kiembaan mutatie in *BAP1* werd vastgesteld welke al eerder beschreven is. Dit suggereert dat kiembaan mutaties in *BAP1* niet de predisponerende factor zijn in de ontwikkeling van UM in kinderen en jongvolwassenen. **Hoofdstuk 4** beschrijft een techniek om mutaties in UM te identificeren met de hulp van next-generation sequencing (NGS). Een panel werd ontworpen en getest in vers en *formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded* (FFPE) tumor materiaal afkomstig van UM. De genen die in dit panel geïncludeerd werden zijn *GNAQ*, *GNA11, BAP1, SF3B1* en *EIF1AX*. Daarnaast werden SNPs op chromosoom 1, 3 en 8, die gebieden dekken die hoog polymorf zijn, geïncludeerd om *copy nummer variatie* analyses uit te kunnen voeren. Deze techniek werd gevalideerd door het gebruik van Sanger sequencing en SNP-array analyse. Daarnaast werd BAP1 immunohistochemie gebruikt voor de analyse van *BAP1*.

Deze NGS-techniek is een alternatief voor Sanger sequencing en heeft als voordeel dat het mogelijk is DNA verkregen uit FFPE te gebruiken. Dit DNA is vaak gefragmenteerd is en levert daarom vaak problemen op bij andere vormen van sequencing.

De voornaamste bevindingen van dit proefschrift worden bediscussieerd in **hoofdstuk 5**. Verschillen en overeenkomsten van de afzonderlijke typen oculair melanoom worden opgehelderd en de rol van kiembaan mutaties in UM besproken. Tot slot wordt de rol en mogelijkheden van niet-invasieve testen en toekomstperspectieven beschreven.

Chapter 6 Epilogue
List of abbreviations

AJCC	American Joint Committee on Cancer
BAP1	BRCA1-associated protein 1
BAP1-TPDS	BAP1 tumour predisposition syndrome
bp	base pair
BRAF	v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1
BRCA1	breast cancer 1
cDNA	copy deoxyribonucleic acid
cfDNA	cell-free DNA
CNV	copy number variation
CM	conjunctival melanoma
СТ	computed tomography
CTC	circulating tumor cell
ctDNA	circulating tumor DNA
CYSLTR2	cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 2
DFS	disease-free survival
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EIF1AX	eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1A,X-linked
FFPE	formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded
FISH	fluorescence in situ hybridization
GNAQ	guanine nucleotide-binding protein G subunit alpha Q
GNA11	guanine nucleotide-binding protein G subunit alpha 11
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
H&E	haematoxylin and eosin
IHC	immunohistochemistry
LOH	loss of heterozygosity
MAPK	mitogen-activated kinase
mb	megabase
MDS	myelodysplastic syndrome
MEK	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
miRNA	micro ribonucleic acid
MLPA	multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification
MFS	metastasis-free survival
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
n.a.	not available
NGS	next-generation sequencing
N/A	not available
OOG	Ocular Oncology group
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PCLB4	phospholipase C beta 4
PUM	pediatric uveal melanoma
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RFS	recurrence-free survival

RNA	ribonucleic acid
ROMS	Rotterdam Ocular Melanoma Studygroup
SF3B1	splicing factor 3B subunit1
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
snRNP	small nuclear ribonucleoprotein
SNV	single nucleotide variations
SRSF2	splicing factor, arginine/serine-rich 2
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TNM	Tumor Node Metastases
U2AF1	U2 small nuclear RNA auxiliary factor 1
UM	uveal melanoma
WGS	whole genome sequencing
wt	wildtype

List of publications

van Poppelen NM*, van Ipenburg JA*, van den Bosch Q, Vaarwater J, Brands T, Eussen B, Magielsen F, Dubbink HJ, Paridaens D, Brosens E, Naus N, de Klein A, Kiliç E, Verdijk RM. Molecular Genetics of Conjunctival Melanoma and Prognostic Value of *TERT* Promoter Mutation Analysis. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2021 May 28;22(11):5784

van Poppelen NM, de Bruyn DP, Bicer T, Verdijk R, Naus N, Mensink H, Paridaens D, de Klein A, Brosens E, Kiliç E. Genetics of Ocular Melanoma: Insights into Genetics, Inheritance and Testing. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2020 Dec 30;22(1):336

van Poppelen NM, Drabarek W, Smit KN, Vaarwater J, Brands T, Paridaens D, Kiliç E, de Klein A. *SRSF2* Mutations in Uveal Melanoma: A Preference for In-Frame Deletions? *Cancers (Basel)*. 2019 Aug 17;11(8):1200

van Poppelen NM, Yavuzyigitoglu S, Smit KN, Vaarwater J, Eussen B, Brands T, Paridaens D, Kiliç E, de Klein A. Chromosomal rearrangements in uveal melanoma: Chromothripsis. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*. 2018 Sep;57(9):452-458

Van Poppelen NM, Vaarwater J, Mudhar HS, Sisley K, Rennie IG, Rundle P, Brands T, van den Bosch QCC, Mensink HW, de Klein A, Kiliç E, Verdijk RM. Genetic Background of Iris Melanomas and Iris Melanocytic Tumors of Uncertain Malignant Potential. *Ophthalmology*. 2018 Jun;125(6):904-912

Smit KN, **van Poppelen NM**, Vaarwater J, Verdijk R, van Marion R, Kalirai H, Coupland SE, Thornton S, Farquhar N, Dubbink HJ, Paridaens D, de Klein A, Kiliç E. Combined Mutation and Copy-number Variation Detection by Targeted Nextgeneration Sequencing in Uveal Melanoma. *Mod Pathol*. 2018 May;31(5):763-77

Chau C, van Doorn R, **van Poppelen NM**, van der Stoep N, Mensenkamp AR, Sijmons RH, van Paassen BW, van den Ouweland AMW, Naus NC, van der Hout AH, Potjer TP, Bleeker FE, Wevers MR, van Hest LP, Jongmans MCJ, Marinkovic M, Bleeker JC, Jager MJ, Luyten GPM, Nielsen M. Families with BAP1-Tumor Predisposition Syndrome in The Netherlands: Path to Identification and a Proposal for Genetic Screening Guidelines. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2019 Aug 4;11(8):1114

Szalai E, Jiang Y, **van Poppelen NM**, Jager MJ, de Klein A, Kilic E, Grossniklaus HE. Association of Uveal Melanoma Metastatic Rate With Stochastic Mutation Rate and Type of Mutation. *JAMA Ophthalmol*. 2018 Oct 1;136(10):1115-1120

de Bruyn DP, Beasley AB, Verdijk RM, **van Poppelen NM**, Paridaens D, de Keizer ROB, Naus NC, Gray ES, de Klein A, Brosens E, Kiliç E. Is Tissue Still the Issue? The Promise of Liquid Biopsy in Uveal Melanoma. *Biomedicines*. 2022 Feb 21;10(2):506.

Yavuzyigitoglu S, Drabarek W, Smit KN, **van Poppelen NM**, Koopmans AE, Vaarwater J, Brands T, Eussen B, Dubbink HJ, van Riet J, van de Werken HJ, Beverloo B, Verdijk RM, Naus N, Paridaens D, Kilic E, de Klein A. *Ophthalmology*. 2017 Apr;124(4):573-575

Drabarek W, van Riet J, Nguyen JQN, Smit KN, **van Poppelen NM**, Jansen R, Medico-Salsench E, Vaarwater J, Magielsen FJ, Brands T, Eussen B, Bosch TPPVD, Verdijk RM, Naus NC, Paridaens D, de Klein A, Brosens E, van de Werken HJG, Kilic E. Identification of Early-Onset Metastasis in SF3B1 Mutated Uveal Melanoma. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2022 Feb 8;14(3):846

Drabarek W, Yavuzyigitoglu S, Obulkasim A, van Riet J, Smit KN, **van Poppelen NM**, Vaarwater J, Brands T, Eussen B, Verdijk RM, Naus NC, Mensink HW, Paridaens D, Boersma E, van de Werken HJG, Kilic E, de Klein A. Multi-Modality Analysis Improves Survival Prediction in Enucleated Uveal Melanoma Patients. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2019 Aug 1;60(10):3595-3605

Cunha Rola A, Taktak A, Eleuteri A, Kalirai H, Heimann H, Hussain R, Bonnett LJ, Hill CJ, Traynor M, Jager MJ, Marinkovic M, Luyten GPM, Dogrusöz M, Kilic E, de Klein A, Smit K, **van Poppelen NM**, Damato BE, Afshar A, Guthoff RF, Scheef BO, Kakkassery V, Saakyan S, Tsygankov A, Mosci C, Ligorio P, Viaggi S, Le Guin CHD, Bornfeld N, Bechrakis NE, Coupland SE. Multicenter External Validation of the Liverpool Uveal Melanoma Prognosticator Online: An OOG Collaborative Study. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2020 Feb 18;12(2):477

Walpole S, Pritchard AL, Cebulla CM, Pilarski R, Stautberg M, Davidorf FH, de la Fouchardière A, Cabaret O, Golmard L, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Garfield E, Njauw CN, Cheung M, Turunen JA, Repo P, Järvinen RS, van Doorn R, Jager MJ, Luyten GPM, Marinkovic M, Chau C, Potrony M, Höiom V, Helgadottir H, Pastorino L, Bruno W, Andreotti V, Dalmasso B, Ciccarese G, Queirolo P, Mastracci L, Wadt K, Kiilgaard JF, Speicher MR, **van Poppelen NM**, Kilic E, Al-Jamal RT, Dianzani I, Betti M, Bergmann C, Santagata S, Dahiya S, Taibjee S, Burke J, Poplawski N, O'Shea SJ, Newton-Bishop J, Adlard J, Adams DJ, Lane AM, Kim I, Klebe S, Racher H, Harbour JW, Nickerson ML, Murali R, Palmer JM, Howlie M, Symmons J, Hamilton H, Warrier S, Glasson W, Johansson P, Robles-Espinoza CD, Ossio R, de Klein A, Puig S, Ghiorzo P, Nielsen M, Kivelä TT, Tsao H, Testa JR, Gerami P, Stern MH, Paillerets BB, Abdel-Rahman MH, Hayward NK. Comprehensive Study of the Clinical Phenotype of Germline BAP1 Variant-Carrying Families Worldwide. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2018 Dec 1;110(12):1328-1341

About the author

Natasha Maria van Poppelen was born on October 4th 1988 in Woerden, The Netherlands. She graduated from secondary school in 2006 at Het Schoonhovens College in Schoonhoven. In 2006 she started medical school at the Erasmus Medical Center in Rotterdam. During medical school she went to Jakarta Indonesia under the supervision of Prof. Dr. P.M. van Hagen and Dr. R. La Distia Nora, and studied different types of uveitis and scleritis at the department of Ophthalmology at the Medical Faculty University of Indonesia. She spent 5 months in Tanzania during an internship in tropical medicine at St. Carolus Hospital. After obtaining her medical in degree in 2013 she worked almost two years at the department of Internal Medicine at the Vlietland Hospital in Schiedam. In September 2015, she was given the opportunity to start a PhD at the department of Clinical Genetics and Ophthalmology under the daily supervision of Dr. A. de Klein and Dr. E. Kilic at the Erasmus Medical Center. During her PhD she focussed on the genetics of ocular melanoma, non-invasive testing and inheritance. This work is described in her thesis. In February 2019 she started as a resident in Ophthalmology at the department of Ophthalmology at Erasmus Medical Center headed by Prof. Dr. J.R. Vingerling.

Phd Portfolio

PHD PORTFOLIO

Summary of PhD training and teaching

Na Er & Re	ame PhD candidate: N.M. van Poppelen asmus MC Department: Ophthalmology Clinical Genetics esearch School: Medical Genetics Centre outh-West Netherlands (MGC)	van Poppelen PhD period: September 2015 – phthalmology February 2019 (2022) Promotor: Dr. J.E.M.M. de Klein Supervisor: Dr. E. Kilic, Dr. N.C Nau GC)		15 – Klein N.C Naus
Pł	D training		Year	Workload (ECTS)
- -	Modern Cancer Pathology Course, Octobe Utrecht. Utrecht	er 13 - 15, UMC	2015	1.5
-	SNPs and Human Diseases (MolMed), Nov Erasmus MC, Rotterdam	vember 16 – 20,	2015	2.0
-	Biomedical Research Techniques XIV (Mol 2-6 November, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam	Med), November	2015	1.5
-	Research Integrity, February 25, Erasmus	MC, Rotterdam	2016	0.3
-	Basic and Translational Oncology (MolMer Erasmus MC, Rotterdam	d), October 10-14,	2016	1.8
-	English for Academic purposes C1.1 Cours 2017, Erasmus University, Rotterdam	se, April 5 – June 6	2017	2.5
-	Biostatistical Methods I: Basic Principles (18 – October 13, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam	Nihes), September	2017	5.7
Sp -	ecific courses (e.g. Research school, Medical T Special topic course Chromatin (MGC), De MC. Rotterdam	Training) ecember 3, Erasmus	2015	1.0
-	Special topic course Signalling (MGC), Mar Rotterdam	rch 3, Erasmus MC,	2016	1.0
-	Genetics course (MGC), April 6 – May 31, E Rotterdam	Frasmus MC,	2016	3.0
-	Safely working in the Laboratory, August Special topic course Optogenetics (MGC),	30, LUMC, Leiden April 11 – May 23,	2017	0.3
	Erasmus MC, Rotterdam	, , ,	2018	2.0

Seminars and workshops

-	CLC Workbench / Ingenuity Variant Analysis Workshop, 20	2016	0.5
_	MGC PhD workshop June 14 - 17 Dortmund Germany	2016	1
-	MGC PhD workshop, May 30 - June 2, Leuven, Belgium, "Cell-free DNA as a non-invasive biomarker in uveal melanoma patients" (poster presentation)	2017	1.5
-	Microsoft Excel 2010: Basic workshop (MolMed), September 4, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2017	0.3
-	EndNote (Medische bibliotheek), November 10, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam	2017	0.15
-	Photoshop and Illustrator CC 2018 workshop (MolMed), November 27, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2018	0.3
-	Photoshop and Illustrator CC 2018 follow-up workshop (MolMed), November 28, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2018	0.3
-	InDesign CC 2018 workshop (MolMed), December 21, Erasmus MC	2018	0.15
Pr	esentations		
-	Bayer Ophthalmology Research Awards 2017, March 28, Maastricht, the Netherlands, " <i>Classifying UM patients bases on</i> <i>exosomal tumor DNA</i> ". First prize winner €25.000	2017	0.3
-	Clinical Genetics Research Meeting, May 9, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, " <i>Non-invasive techniques to</i> <i>classify uveal melanoma patients</i> "	2017	0.3
-	Lunch meeting department of Ophthalmology, May 26, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, "Classification of uveal melanoma patients using non-invasive techniques"	2017	0.3
-	Meeting department of Clinical Genetics & Ophthalmology, June 16, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, <i>"Classification of uveal melanoma patients using</i>	2018	0.3
-	Melanoom Infodag, Stichting Melanoom, April 7, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, <i>"Prognostication of uveal melanoma patients"</i>	2018	0.3
-	Clinical Genetics Research Meeting, May 22, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, <i>"Chromothripsis in uveal melanoma"</i>	2018	0.3

(Inter)national conferences

-	49 th Ophthalmic Oncology group (OOG) Meeting, April 7-9,	2016	1
	Athens, Greece		
-	26 th Genetics Retreat – Nederlandse Vereniging voor	2016	0.5
	Humane Genetica (NVHG) graduate meeting, April 21-22,		
	Kerkrade, the Netherlands	2016	4 5
-	Genome informatics conference, September 19-22, Hinxton,	2016	1.5
	United Kingdom, "Chromosomal aberrations predict uveal		
	Cancer Conomics of (CCC of) annual mosting. Conomic	2016	O E
-	Lastability in Cancer Nevember 17.18. Amsterdam, the	2016	0.5
	Netherlands		
	F1% Ophthalmic Opcology Croup (OOC) Monting February	2017	1 5
-	16.18 Pottordam the Netherlands "CPCE2 mutations in uvad	2017	1.5
	malanoma" (oral presentation)		
_	International Society of Ocular Oncology (ISOO) Riennial	2017	15
	Conference March 24-28 Sydney Australia "The genetic	2017	1.5
	hackground of irismelanoma" (oral presentation)		
_	211 ^e Jaarvergadering Nederlands Oogheelkundig Gezelschan	2017	15
	(NOG). March 29-31. Maastricht, the Netherlands. "PRAME	2017	
	expression in uveal melanoma" (oral presentation)		
-	27 th MGC-Symposium, September 14, Rotterdam, the		
	Netherlands	2017	0.3
-	Cancer GenomiCs.nl (CGC.nl) annual meeting, New Horizons		
	in Cancer Research, November 16-17, Amsterdam, the	2017	0.5
	Netherlands		
-	212 ^e Jaarvergadering Nederlands Oogheelkundig Gezelschap		
	(NOG), March 21-23, Groningen, the Netherlands, "The	2018	1.5
	occurrence of chromothripsis in uveal melanoma" (oral		
	presentation)		
-	28 th Genetics Retreat – Nederlandse Vereniging voor		
	Humane Genetica (NVHG) graduate meeting, May 17-18,	2018	1
	Kerkrade, the Netherlands, "Are iris melanomas a different		
	subgroup in uveal melanomas based on their genetic makeup?"		
	(oral presentation)		
-	Keystone Symposium, Exosomes/Microvesicles:		
	Heterogeneity, Biogenesis, Function and Therapeutic	2018	1.5
	Developments, June 4-8, Breckenridge, United States, "Is		
	exosomal DNA useful for prognostication in uveal melanoma		
	patients?" (poster presentation)		

-	European Human Genetics Conference (European Society of Human Genetics (ESHG) 52 nd Meeting), June 16-19, Milan,	2018	1
-	Italy 15 th International Congress of the Society for Melanoma Research (SMR), October 24-27, Manchester, United Kingdom	2018	1
-	NLSEV-2018 (Netherlands Society for Extracellular Vesicles),		
	November 9, Amsterdam, the Netherlands	2018	0.3
-	7 th Ocular Oncology Day – Basic Course of Ocular Oncology,		
	December 6-7, Siena, Italy, "Epigenetics & Non-invasive testing in uveal melanoma" (oral presentation)	2018	0.5
-	213e Jaarvergadering Nederlands Oogheelkundig		
	Gezelschap (NOG), March 27-29, Maastricht, The	2019	1.5
	Netherlands, "SRSF2 mutations in uveal melanoma" (oral		
	presentation)		
-	55 th Ophthalmic Oncology Group (OOG) Meeting, April 11-13,		
	London, United Kingdom, "Pediatric Uveal Melanoma Study"	2019	1.5
	(oral presentation)		
-	215 ^e Jaarvergadering Nederlands Oogheelkundig Gezelschap		
	(NOG), March 24-26, virtual conference, The Netherlands,	2021	1.5
	"Germline BAP1 mutations in uveal melanoma" (oral		
	presentation)		
-	20th congress of the International Society of Ocular		
	Oncology (ISOO), June 17-21, Leiden, The Netherlands,	2022	1.5
	"Genetics and prognostic value of TERT promoter mutations in		
	conjunctival melanoma" (oral presentation)		
-	216e Jaarvergadering Nederlands Oogneelkundig	2022	4 5
	Gezelschap (NOG), june/july 29-1, Groningen, the	2022	1.5
	Netherlands, "Proton therapy in uveal melanoma patients		
	procentation)		
	Eth Ophthalmic Operatory Croup (OOC) Manting October		
-	19-22 Tel Aviv Israel "Non-invasive testing in LIM natients	2022	15
	using circulating tumor DNA and shallow whole genome	2022	1.5
	sequencing" (oral presentation)		
_	10 th Ocular Oncology Day, December 1-3, Siena, Italy <i>"Family</i>		
	with mesothelioma and variant of unknown significance in the	2022	1.0
	BAP1 gene" (oral presentation)	-	

Other

-	Clinical Genetics Research Meeting, weekly, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2017- 2019	1
-	Lunch meeting department of Ophthalmology, weekly, Erasmus MC. Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2018- 2019	1
-	Clinical Genetics Journal Club, monthly, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2018- 2019	1
1.	Teaching		
-	Supervising student Merel van Dijk, Hogeschool Rotterdam, Biologie en Medisch Laboratoriumonderzoek, August 29 – January 20	2016- 2017	1
-	Supervising student Shirin Mostert, Avans Hogeschool, Biologie en Medisch Laboratoriumonderzoek, February 6 – July 6	2017	1
-	Supervising student Shirin Mostert, Avans Hogeschool, Biologie en Medisch Laboratoriumonderzoek, July 7 – December 28, afstudeerstage	2017	1
-	Supervising student Luis Sanchez, Hogeschool Rotterdam February 5 – August 31	2018	1
2.	Other activities		
-	Local organizing committee 51 st Ocular Oncology Group (OOG) Meeting, Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2017	0.5
-	Committee MGC PhD Workshop 2018, secretary, Texel, the Netherlands	2017- 2018	1.5
-	Committee Young Investigators Network Meeting (YIN) 55 th Ocular Oncology Group (OOG) Meeting, London, United Kingdom	2019	0.5
-	Committee Young Investigators Network Meeting (YIN) 56 th Ocular Oncology Group (OOG) Meeting, Tel Aviv, Israel	2022	0.5
3. -	Awards Bayer Ophthalmology Research Awards 2017, First prize winner €25,000	2017	
То	tal ECTS		64.2